SMITH A O CORP

FORM 10-K

(Annual Report)

Filed 02/25/09 for the Period Ending 12/31/08

Address P O BOX 245009
MILWAUKEE, WI 53224-9509
Telephone 4143594000
CIK 0000091142
Symbol AOS
SIC Code 3621 - Motors and Generators
Industry  Electronic Instr. & Controls
Sector Technology
Fiscal Year 12/31

http://www.edgar-online.com
© Copyright 2009, EDGAR Online, Inc. All Rights Reserved.
Distribution and use of this document restricted under EDGAR Online, Inc. Terms of Use.




Table of Contents

UNITED STATES
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Washington, D.C. 20549
FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission File Number 1-475
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to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. M Yes O No.

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquitlerrs pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§2®% of this chapter) is not contained
herein, and will not be contained, to the bestgistrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or infoation statements incorporated by reference
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PART 1

ITEM 1 - BUSINESS

We are a leading manufacturer of water heatingpenent and electric motors, serving a diverse miresfdential, commercial and indust
end markets principally in the United States witreawing international presence. Our company ismiged of two reporting segments: Wi
Products and Electrical Products. Our Water Pradbasiness manufactures and markets a comprehdimavef residential gas and elec
water heaters, standard and specialty commercitdrvieeating equipment, high-efficiency coppeloe boilers, and water systems tanks.
Electrical Products business manufactures and rnisagkeomprehensive line of hermetic motors, fragidorsepower alternating current (#
and direct current (DC) motors. In 2008, we had sadés of approximately $2.3 billion, with 63 percattributable to our Water Produ
business and 37 percent attributable to our EtdtRroducts business.

The following table summarizes our sales by repgrsegment. This segment summary and all othernrd#tion presented in this sect
should be read in conjunction with the Consolidat@thancial Statements and Notes to Consolidatedri€ial Statements, which appea
Item 8 in this document.

Years Ended December 31 (dollars in millions
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Water Products $1,451.7 $1,423.0 $1,260.{ $ 833.F $ 792«
Electrical Products 858.1 894.( 905.¢ 861.( 860.
Inter -segment sale (4.5 (5.0 (5.9 (5.2) -
Total Sales $2,304.¢  $2,312.0 $2,161.0 $1,689.. $1,653.
WATER PRODUCTS

In our Water Products business, sales increasest@im or $28 million in 2008 over the prior yeAr27 percent increase in sales of w
heaters in China and increased pricing that psrtiaivered higher raw material costs helped offggnificantly lower residential volumes.

We serve residential, commercial and industrial exadkets with a broad range of products, including:

Residential gas and electric water heat. Our residential water heaters come in sizes ngnffom two-gallon (point-of-use) models to 120-
gallon appliances with varying efficiency rangese \bffer electric, natural gas and liquid propanalaie as well as solar booster tanks ant
tankless units for todag’energy efficient homes. North American residémt@er heater sales in 2008 were approximatehb38@dlion or 6£
percent of segment revenues.

Commercial (standard and specialty) water heat€usr gas, oil and electric water heaters come iraciéips ranging from 6 gallons to €
gallons and are used by customers who require sistent, economical source of hot water. Typicalliaptions include restaurants, hotels
motels, laundries, car washes and small businesses.

A significant portion of our Water Products busiés derived from the replacement of existing patdand it is believed that the sale
product to the North American residential new hogsconstruction market represents approximatelyp&tcent of the segmest'tota
residential water heater sales. Our Water Produtifess also manufactures copipdre boilers and expansion tanks and related ptedua
parts.

We are the largest manufacturer and marketer oémiaaters in North America, and we have a leadhmye in both the residential :
commercial segments of the market. In the commlermerket segment, we believe our comprehensive ymiotine, as well as our high-
efficiency products, give us a competitive advaatagthis highemargin segment of the water heating industry. Asl#ader in the resident
water heating market segment, we offer an extersieeof high-efficiency gas and electric models.

Our Water Products wholesale distribution channellides more than 1,100 independent wholesale phgnbstributors with more than 4,6
selling locations serving residential, commerciad industrial markets. We also sell our residential
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water heaters through the retail channel. In thisnoel, our customers include five of the sevegédstr national hardware and home ce
chains, including long-standing private label rielaships with both Lowes and Sears, Roebuck and Co.

We entered the Chinese water heater market thrayght venture in 1995, buying out our partneethyears later. Since that time, we t
been aggressively expanding our presence whilelibgilbrand recognition in the Chinese residentral aommercial markets. In 2008,
company generated sales of $187 million in Chimajrerease of 27 percent, compared with 2007. Wieslewe are one of the top t
suppliers of water heaters to the residential ntark€hina.

In 2008, we entered the India market by importingsuspecifically designed for India from our Nangjj China facility. We established a s
office and started the land acquisition processafaranufacturing plant near Bangalore, India. Wgeekto begin manufacturing water hee
in India in the second quarter of 2010.

We sell our water heating products in highly contjwet markets. We compete in each of our targetacket segments based on product de
quality of products and services, performance andep Our principal domestic water heating compeditinclude Rheem Manufactur
Company, Inc., BradfordlVhite Corporation and Lochinvar Corporation. Ouimary competitor in China is Haier Appliances, air@ise
company, but we also compete with Ariston, Siemand Midea in the electric water heater market amth& and Noritz in the g
instantaneous water heater market. Additionally, cmmpete with numerous other Chinese private aatdstvned water heater and bo
manufacturing companies.

ELECTRICAL PRODUCTS

In our Electrical Products business, volume deslim®ore than offset higher prices related to highear material costs. Sales in the segr
declined four percent in 2008, or approximately $#6ion, to $858 million compared with 2007. Uniblume sales were negatively impac
by the weak housing market and customer inventdyctions at the end of the year.

We are one of the four largest manufacturers aftetemotors in North America. We offer a compresigr line of hermetic motors, fractiol
horsepower AC and DC motors, and integral horsepom@ors, ranging in size from sub-fractional @ame ventilation motors up to 1,3
horsepower hermetic and 400 horsepower integrabreoiVWe believe our extensive product offeringsegilss an advantage in our targt
markets, allowing us to serve a wide range of astamer’s electric motor needs.

Our motors are used in a wide range of targetadeesal and commercial applications, includingrrhetic motors that are sold worldwide
manufacturers of air conditioning and commerci&iigeration compressors; fractional horsepowerrfastors used in furnaces, air conditiot
and blowers; fractional horsepower motors for pufigpdiome water systems, swimming pools, hot tulthspas; fractional horsepower mo
used in other consumer products (such as garageagpmmers); and integral horsepower AC and DC msotor industrial and commerc
applications. Sales to the North American OrigiBguipment Manufacturers (OEM) heating, ventilatiag, conditioning and refrigeratis
market account for approximately 33 percent of sagnsales. Approximately 80 percent of our 2008vs=g sales were to OEMs in a dive
mix of industries, with the remainder of sales sthicbugh aftermarket or distribution channels. Vééidve that at least 25 percent of our 1
segment sales were attributable to products ustsideuof the United States. A significant portidroar Electrical Products business is der
from the replacement of existing product, and édieved that the sale of product to the residgemgw housing construction market in N
America represents approximately 25 percent osdggment’s total sales.

To remain a leader in this highly competitive inslyswe are committed to being a lavest supplier of electric motors. Since 2001, wee
undertaken initiatives to accelerate cosduction in our motor operations to enhance ounptitive position. These initiatives included
closure of nine U.S. facilities as well as our @pens in Budapest, Hungary; Bray, Ireland; andzfiau, China, transferring the majority
related production to our lower cost operationsigxico and China.

At the end of the third quarter of 2007, we annashthat we would close our operations in ScotsyHlY, and Mebane, NC, and consolic
our hermetic motor assembly operations in Acunaxitteand Suzhou, China. We transferred the woitkosih hermetic motor facilities in t
fourth quarter of 2008. In addition we also annaththe closing of our motor manufacturing facilityBudapest, Hungary, and transfer of
remaining production to China. For all of 2007, thstructuring expense at Electrical Products ¢ot&22.8 million before taxes or $8.9 mill
after taxes, equivalent to $.29 per share. Inclidegbe 2007 after tax amount was a $9.9 millionltenefit associated with the writéf of the
investment in our Hungarian subsidiary. In 2008,reeorded an additional pretax restructuring chafggpproximately $8.7 million associa
with the three plant closings mentioned above apwsitioning at Juarez, Mexico equivalent to $5ilian after taxes, or approximately $.
per share.
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In November of 2005, we completed our fourth madoquisition in China with the purchase of Yueyango@gmin Special Electric
Machinery Co., Ltd. (Yueyang). Located in Hunanwmnoe, Yueyang manufactures large hermetic moteesiin commercial air conditioni
applications.

We sell our electric motor products in highly corifpee markets. We compete in each of our targetedket segments based on pro
design, quality of products and services, performeaand price. Our principal competitors in the gleanotor industry are Emerson Elec
Co., Regal Beloit Corporation and Baldor Electrizn@pany.

RAW MATERIAL

Raw materials for our manufacturing operations,alvhionsist primarily of steel, copper and aluminame generally available from sewe
sources in adequate quantities. We typically hedgertion of our annual copper and aluminum puretds protect against price volatility.
addition a portion of Electrical Products customemes contractually obligated to accept price charggesed on fluctuations in certain of our
material prices. Global demand pressures haveredsoted in significant volatility in steel, coppand aluminum costs.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

In order to improve competitiveness by generatiegv mproducts and processes, we conduct researctdewelopment at our Corpor.
Technology Center in Milwaukee, Wisconsin and at operating units. Total expenditures for reseaotl development in 2008, 2007
2006 were $48.5, $47.8 and $42.3 million, respebtiv

PATENTS AND TRADEMARKS

We own and use in our businesses various tradefsaakie hnames, patents, trade secrets and licaW$gie. a number of these are importar
us, we do not believe that our business as a whaoaterially dependent upon any such trademaalietname, patent, trade secret or license.

EMPLOYEES

Our company and its subsidiaries employed appraeind 5,350 employees as of December 31, 2008.
BACKLOG

Due to the short-cycle nature of our businessese 1w our operations sustain significant backlogs.
ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS

Our operations are governed by a variety of fedestdte and local laws intended to protect the renwmient. While environmen
considerations are a part of all significant cdpteenditures, compliance with the environmerdald has not had and is not expected to h
material effect upon the capital expenditures, iegs) or competitive position of our company. Seenl 3.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

We maintain a website with the address www.aosoith. The information contained on our website i$ imzluded as a part of,
incorporated by reference into, this Annual Report-orm 10-K. Other than an investopwn internet access charges, we make availadx
of charge through our website our Annual ReporfForm 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, curneports on Form & and amendmer
to these reports as soon as reasonably practiealvaé have electronically filed such material wibh furnished such material to, the Secur
and Exchange Commission.
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The company is committed to sound corporate govemand has documented its corporate governancéges by adopting the A. O. Sir
Corporate Governance Guidelines. The Corporate Banee Guidelines, Criteria for Selection of Digest Financial Code of Ethics, -
A. O. Smith Guiding Principles, as well as the tber for the Audit, Personnel and Compensation, iNating and Governance and

Investment Policy Committees and other corporateegwance materials may be viewed on the compamyebsite. Any waiver of

amendments to the Financial Code of Conduct oAth®. Smith Guiding Principles also would be postedthis website; to date there h
been none. Copies of these documents will be sestibckholders free of charge upon written reqoéshe corporate secretary at the adc
shown on the cover page of this Form 10-K.

ITEM 1A —RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the risk factorsfeeth below and all other information containedhirs Annual Report on Form 1K including
the documents incorporated by reference, befordmgadn investment decision regarding our commoaokstts any of the events contempla
by the following risks actually occurs, then ousimess, financial condition, or results of openagicould be materially adversely affected. .
result, the trading price of our common stock calgdline, and you may lose all or part of your stegent. The risks and uncertainties be
are not the only risks facing our company.

. The effects of the global economic downturn coalkha material adverse effect on our busir

The U.S. economy is currently in a recession amast now spread to other geographic areas in whéchperate. The global credit and ca|
markets troubles threaten to extend the depth aratidn of the recession. A continuation or deepgmif the global economic downturn ca
adversely affect consumer confidence and spendaitenms which could result in decreased demandherproducts we sell, a delay
purchases, increased price competition, and sladeption of energy efficient products which couatively impact our profitability andi
cash flow. In addition, the current economic codi, including the credit market conditions couldgatively impact our vendors ¢
customers, which could result in an increase indegdat expense, customer and vendor bankruptciesruption or delay in supply of materi
and increased material prices, which could negigtivepact our ability to distribute, market andls&lir products and our financial conditi
results of operations and cash flows.

. A portion of our business could be adversely affétty a decline in new residential or commerciaistauction

We sell a portion of our products for new residairtind commercial construction. The strength of¢hmarkets depends on new housing ¢
and business investment, which are a function afyrfactors beyond our control, including interesties, employment levels, availability
credit and consumer confidence. Further downtumshe new construction markets we serve could resulower revenues and low
profitability. New housing starts declined in 208i@d 2008 and may continue at the lower levels galirke further. Commercial constructi
activity, which has been high in recent years, daantinue the decline that began in the seconfdoi@008. We believe that approximately
percent of our Water Products and 25 percent ofElactrical Products businesses, respectively,affiexted by changes in the resider
housing construction markets. Furthermore, thoughbelieve that the majority of the commercial bas;iwe serve is for replacement,
could also be affected by changes in the commeroiastruction market.

. A portion of our business could be affected byoaiglg Chinese econon

We have experienced above average growth in sal€hina for both our Water Products and ElectrRadducts segments. If the Chin
economy were to experience a significant slowdaveould adversely affect our financial conditioasults of operations and cash flows.

. A material loss, cancellation, reduction, or delaypurchases by one or more of our largest custsnseuld harm our busine:

Net sales to our four largest customers represesmppdoximately 26 percent of 2008 net sales. Weeeixthat customer concentration !
continue for the foreseeable future in light of glebal economic downturn. Our dependence on dates a relatively small number
customers makes our relationship with each of tloeséomers important to our business. We cannatr@ashat we will be able to retain «
largest customers. Some of our customers may ifuthee shift their



Table of Contents

purchases of products to our competitors or toratbarces. The loss of one or more of our largestarners, any material reduction or dele
sales to these customers, our inability to sucadgsflevelop relationships with additional custosieor our inability to execute on prici
actions could have a material adverse effect orfinancial position, results of operations and ciaivs.

. Because we participate in markets that are higloiyjpetitive, our revenues could decline as we redporcompetitior

We sell all of our products in highly competitivearkets. We compete in each of our targeted matka@$ed on product design, quality
products and services, product performance, maantsn costs and price. We compete against manuéastiacated in the United States
throughout the world. We also face potential contipet from some OEMs to whom we sell our electripedducts and from our customers
the end users of our products, who continually sss@y costs that could be reduced by verticatlgirating or using alternate sources fol
products we manufacture. Some of our competitorg have greater financial, marketing, manufacturisgg distribution resources than
have. We cannot assure that our products and serwiil continue to compete successfully with thoseur competitors or that we will be a
to retain our customer base or improve or maintain profit margins on sales to our customers, flvbich could materially and advers
affect our financial condition, results of operascand cash flows.

. We increasingly manufacture our products outsigelinited States, which may present additional risksur busines

A significant portion of our 2008 net sales wergilatitable to products manufactured outside of Wmited States, principally in Mexico a
China. Approximately 5,700 of our 15,350 total eaygles and 14 of our 35 manufacturing facilities lamated in Mexico. Approximate
4,500 employees and five manufacturing facilitiess lacated in China. International operations galheare subject to various risks, includ
political, religious, and economic instability, Edclabor market conditions, the imposition of fgitariffs and other trade restrictions,
impact of foreign government regulations, and tffecées of income and withholding tax, governmergapropriation, and differences
business practices. We may incur increased costegperience delays or disruptions in product @eies and payments in connection \
international manufacturing and sales that coulasedoss of revenue. Unfavorable changes in thigigad) regulatory, and business clim
could have a material adverse effect on our firgrndition, results of operations and cash flows.

. In serving U.S. customers of our electric motorsibess, we manufacture a significant portion of prwducts in Mexico and Chir
which exposes us to the risk of increased labotscdse to both wage inflation in Mexico and staypitir increases in the value of
Mexican peso and Chinese RMB relative to the Wbfard

Almost all of our electric motor manufacturing pustive labor hours are incurred in Mexico and Chifiae peso based costs we ir
manufacturing these products are directly relatedhianges in labor costs in Mexico and fluctuatisnexchange rates of the Mexican [
relative to the U.S. dollar. The labor costs waimare measured in U.S. dollars and based on tteofdabor in Mexican pesos. Historica
Mexico has had higher wage inflation than the UhiBates. That inflation does not adversely aféestcosts when there is a correspon
decrease in the value of the Mexican peso relatithe U.S. dollar. However, during periods in whibe value of the Mexican peso increi
or remains stable relative to the U.S. dollar, biglvage inflation in Mexico results in an incre&seur labor costs. Manufacturing and matt
costs we incur in China are principally incurreddhinese RMB. If the RMB continues to strengtheniast the U.S. dollar, our costs wao
increase.

. Our operations could be adversely impacted by ntprice volatility and supplier concentratic

The market price for certain key materials we pasgh(e.g., steel, copper, aluminum, diesel fuelrextdral gas) have been very volatile in
recent past. While our company periodically eniets futures contracts to fix the cost of certaamrmaterial purchases, principally copper
aluminum, significant increases in the cost of afifhe key materials we purchase could increasecost of doing business and ultima
could lead to lower operating earnings if we areafude to recover these cost increases througle mitreases to our customers. Historic
there has been a lag in any customer recoverycoé@ased material costs which could negatively ihpac profitability. As of December &
2008 the company had entered into commodity aneidorexchange contracts that totaled losses ofdillibn. Even though a portion of the
losses can contractually be passed on to custahmeremaining amount could lead to lower operagiamings if we are unable to recover tl
costs from customers or because of reduced salemravanable to use the materials or foreign cugrehrt addition, in some cases we
dependent on a single or limited number of supplier some of the raw materials and
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components required in the manufacture of our prbdd significant disruption or termination of tisepply from one of these suppliers cc
delay sales or increase cost which could reswdtrimaterial adverse effect on our financial conditi@sults of operations and cash flows.

. Our underfunded pension plans require future pemsiantributions which could limit our flexibilityimanaging our compar

Due to the negative investment returns in 2008 ptiogected benefit obligations of our defined béngénsion plans exceeded the fair valu
the plan assets by $264 million at December 3182B@ginning in 2008, the minimum required conttibn equals the target normal cost |
a seven year amortization of any funding shortfafiset by any ERISA credit balance. As the compaayld utilize its credit balance, t
required contribution in 2009 is approximately $t#lion, however the company is forecasting conitibns of between $18 to $35 million ¢
$40 to $50 million in 2009 and 2010, respectivélgnong the key assumptions inherent in the actuprialculated pension plan obligation
pension plan expense are the discount rate anexhected rate of return on plan assets. If inteasts and actual rates of return on inve
plan assets were to decrease significantly, oursipanplan obligations could increase materially.e Téize of future required pens
contributions could result in us dedicating a sabsél portion of our cash flow from operations rtaking the contributions which col
negatively impact our flexibility in managing theropany.

. We have significant goodwill and an impairment @f goodwill could cause a decline in our net wc

Our total assets include significant goodwill. Tdmodwill results from our acquisitions, represegtthe excess of the purchase price we
over the fair value of the tangible and intangib$sets we acquired. We assess whether there hagiqgsrment in the value of our goody
during the fourth quarter of each calendar yeasammer if triggering events warrant. If future cgtérg performance at one or more of
businesses does not meet expectations, we maybieae to reflect, under current applicable accmgntules, a norcash charge to operat
results for goodwill impairment. The recognition af impairment of a significant portion of goodwilbuld negatively affect our results
operations and total capitalization, the effectwdfich could be material. A significant reduction daur stockholders’equity due to &
impairment of goodwill may affect our ability to iméain the required debt-toapital ratio existing under our debt arrangemewts. hav:
identified the valuation of goodwill and indefiniliwed intangible assets as a critical accountinicy. See “Managemerd’Discussion ar
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Gytiems — Critical Accounting Policies—Goodwill amadefinite-lived Intangible Assets”
included in Item 7 of this Annual Report on FormK0

. A substantial contribution to our financial resultas come through acquisitions, and we may notthe @ identify or complete futt
acquisitions, which could adversely affect our fatgrowth

Acquisitions we have made since 1997 have hadrdfisignt impact on our results of operations. While will continue to evaluate poten
acquisitions, we may not be able to identify andcsssfully negotiate suitable acquisitions, obtéirancing for future acquisitions

satisfactory terms, utilize cash flow from operaipobtain regulatory approval for certain acqigeg, or otherwise complete acquisition
the future. If we complete any future acquisitiotiten we may not be able to successfully integttaeacquired businesses or operate

profitably or accomplish our strategic objectives those acquisitions. Our level of indebtednesy imarease in the future if we finar
acquisitions with debt, which would cause us toumadditional interest expense and could increagevalnerability to general advel
economic and industry conditions and limit our ipito service our debt or obtain additional finengt We cannot assure you that fu
acquisitions will not have a material adverse afecour financial condition, results of operati@ml cash flows.

. Our results of operations may be negatively impadte product liability lawsuits and clain

Our water heater and electric motor products expsge potential product liability risks that ardérent in the design, manufacture, and st
our products. While we currently maintain what vedidve to be suitable product liability insurane& cannot assure you that we will be |
to maintain this insurance on acceptable termg, tthia insurance will provide adequate protecti@aiast potential liabilities or that ¢
insurance providers will successfully weather therent economic downturn. In addition, we selure a portion of product liability claims.
series of successful claims against us could naditeand adversely affect our reputation and onafficial condition, results of operations
cash flows.
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. Our credit facility expires in February 2011 andetkerms of its replacement will be based on préwvgilending conditions when it
replaced

In addition to issuing commercial paper and utiligshort term credit lines, we rely on our $425liomil revolving credit facility to support o
daily operations. The global credit markets tigktronsiderably in 2008. If these conditions remaiohanged or worsen, our replacer
credit facility may have less favorable terms ttt@an facility we have now. In particular, the newifidy could have higher borrowing costs
more restrictive covenants. And, depending on bamilingness to lend, the facility could be smalier size. A credit facility with les
favorable terms could have a material adverse tefieour liquidity, financial condition, results operations and cash flow.

. Changes in regulations or standards could adveraéflgct our busines

Our products are subject to a wide variety of stafy regulatory and industry standards and requers. These include energy efficier
climate emissions, labeling and safet®yated requirements. While we believe our prodactscurrently some of the most efficient, safest
environmentriendly products available, a significant changehese regulatory requirements, whether fedetate ©r local, or otherwise
industry standards could substantially increase ufeeturing costs, impact the size and timing of dechfor our products, or put us ¢
competitive disadvantage, any of which could hamum business and have a material adverse effectuorfimancial condition, results
operations and cash flow.

. Currently, one stockholder has voting control af tompan:

We have two classes of common equity: our CommarckSand our Class A Common Stock. The holders ah@on Stock currently a
entitled, as a class, to elect only 25 percentunfbmard of directors. The holders of Class A ComrStock are entitled, as a class, to elec
remaining directors. As of December 31, 2008, Snhittestment Company (Smith Investment) effectiventrolled the right to elect
percent of our board of directors (7 of 10) becaidmeneficially owned approximately 98 percentafr Class A Common Stock. As
December 31, 2008, Smith Investment beneficiallnesvapproximately 32 percent of the total numbeowittanding shares of our Comr
Stock and Class A Common Stock. Due to the diffegsrin the voting rights between shares of our Com@tock and shares of our Clas
Common Stock, Smith Investment is in a positiomdatrol to a large extent the outcome of mattegsireng a stockholder vote, including
adoption of amendments to our certificate of inocogtion or bylaws or approval of transactions imired a change of control. S
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan@aindition and Results of Operations — Other MatteiSmith Investment Compa
Transaction"for a description of a proposed merger pursuawhah Smith Investment would become our subsideang a description
certain proposed amendments to our certificate@drporation that stockholders will consider anat tBmith Investment has committed to
to approve. However, assuming such merger is cdeghleertain members of the founding family of campany and trusts for their ben
(Smith Family) are likely to have the ability toflirence all matters requiring stockholder approasidescribed in more detail below.
differences in the voting rights between shareswf Common Stock and our Class A Common Stock cbalk the effect of delayir
deterring, or preventing a change of control.

. Certain members of the founding family of our conypand trusts for their benefit are likely to hathe ability to influence all matte
requiring stockholder approv:

The merger agreement pursuant to which Smith Invest would become our subsidiary contemplates deeiin members of the found
family of our company and trusts for their benéditmith Family) may enter into a voting trust agreetrfollowing the completion of the mer:
with respect to shares of our Class A Common Stouk shares of our Common Stock they receive imtheger. After giving effect to tl
merger, these members of the Smith Family are eegeo own approximately 41.4% of the total votpgwver of our outstanding shares
Class A Common Stock and Common Stock, taken tegeth a single class, and approximately 51.6% ef/tting power of the outstand
shares of our Class A Common Stock, as a sepdeast® dhis ownership position may increase if othembers of the Smith Family enter i
the voting trust agreement, and the voting powktirgy to this ownership position may increasehiies of our Class A Common Stock |
by stockholders who are not parties to the votingttagreement are converted into shares of oum@onttock. Accordingly, after the mer¢
the Smith Family members who enter into the votimgt agreement would collectively have the abilityinfluence the election of our Clas
directors and other matters requiring stockholggrraval in the same manner that Smith Investmemtcecarently influence such matters.
voting trust agreement provides that in the eveet o
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of the parties to the voting trust agreement wamtithdraw from the trust or transfer any of iteages of our Class A Common Stock, ¢
shares of our Class A Common Stock are automatieaithanged for shares of our Common Stock heltheytrust to the extent available
the trust. In addition, the trust will have thehido purchase the shares of our Class A Commock&tod our Common Stock proposed ti
withdrawn or transferred from the trust. As a reghle Smith Family members that are parties tovtiteng trust agreement may have the at
to maintain their collective voting rights in owrmpany even if certain members of the Smith Fanhégide to transfer their shares.

10
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ITEM 1B - UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2 - PROPERTIES

Properties utilized by the company at Decembe2808 were as follows:

Water Products

This segment has 15 manufacturing plants locatésistates and 5 nddSA countries, of which 11 are owned directly bg tompany or
subsidiaries and 4 are leased from outside paitessse terms generally provide for minimum termsié to ten years and have one or t
renewal options. The term of leases in effect atdb@ber 31, 2008 expire between 2009 and 2015.

Electrical Products
This segment has 20 manufacturing plants located state and 3 nodSA countries, of which 11 are owned directly bg tompany or

more renewal options. The term of leases in etie€ecember 31, 2008, expire between 2009 and 2015.

Corporate and General

The company considers its plants and other phygioaperties to be suitable, adequate, and of seifficoroductive capacity to meet
requirements of its business. The manufacturingtplaperate at varying levels of utilization dedagdon the type of operation and ma
conditions. The executive offices of the companiiclv are leased, are located in Milwaukee, Wisauonsi

ITEM 3 - LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are involved in various unresolved legal acti@administrative proceedings and claims in theradi course of our business involv
product liability, property damage, insurance cager, exposure to ashestos and other substancestspand environmental matters, incluc
the disposal of hazardous waste. Although it ispustsible to predict with certainty the outcomelhafse unresolved legal actions or the ran
possible loss or recovery, we believe, based oheamerience, adequate reserves and insurancealailityl that these unresolved legal acti
will not have a material effect on our financialsiiion or results of operations. A more detailescdssion of these matters appears in No
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

ITEM 4 - SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of the sechdtgders during the fourth quarter of 20

11
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

Pursuant to General Instruction of G(3) of FormKl,Ghe following is a list of the executive offieewhich is included as an unnumbered

in Part | of this report in lieu of being includedthe company’s Proxy Statement for its 2009 Ariieeting of Stockholders.

Name (Age)

Positions Held

Period Position Was Helt

Randall S. Bednar (5¢

Michael J. Cole (64

Paul W. Jones (6(

John J. Kita (53

Christopher L. Mapes (4

Senior Vice Presidel- Chief Information Officel

Senior Vice Presidel- Information Technolog'

Vice Presiden- Information Technolog'

Vice President and Chief Information Offi— Gates Corporatio

President and General Mana- A. O. Smith (China) Investment C¢
Ltd.

Senior Vice Presidel- Asia

Vice Presiden- Asia

Vice Presider-Emerging Market- Donnelly Corporatiot
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

Presiden

Chief Operating Office

Chairman and Chief Executive Offic- U.S. Can Compan
President and Chief Executive Offic— Greenfield Industries, In
Presiden- Greenfield Industries, In

Senior Vice President, Corporate Finance and Chieiti

Vice President, Treasurer and Contro

Treasurer and Controlli

Assistant Treasur¢

Executive Vice Presidel

Presiden— A. O. Smith Electrical Products Compa

Senior Vice Presidel

Presider-Motor Sales and Marketir- Regal Beloit Corporatio

President, Global OEM Business Grc- Superior Telecom, Inc
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Name (Age)

Positions Held

Period Position Was Helt

Terry M. Murphy (60)

Mark A. Petrarca (4t

Ajita G. Rajendra (57

Steve W. Rettler (54

James F. Stern (4

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi- Quanex Corporatic

Vice Presider-Finance and Chief Financial Offic— Quanex
Corporation

Senior Vice Presider Human Resources and Public Affa
Vice Presiden- Human Resources and Public Affa

Vice President — Human Resources — A. O. Smith Wateducts
Company

Executive Vice Presidel

Presiden— A. O. Smith Water Products Compa

Senior Vice Presidel

Senior Vice Presidel- Industrial Products Group, Kennametal |
Senior Vice Presidel- Corporate Developmel

Vice Presiden- Business Developme

Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Sewn

Partnel- Foley & Lardner LLF
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PART Il

ITEM5 - MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

(@) Market Information Our Common Stock is listed on the New York Stéoichange under the symbol AOS. The Class A Con
Stock of A. O. Smith Corporation is not listed. l8dFargo Shareowner Services, N.A., P.O. Box 64&4Paul, Minnesota, 55164-
0854 serves as the registrar, stock transfer agmhthe dividend reinvestment agent for the comgm@pmmon Stock and Clas:
Common Stock

Quarterly Common Stock Price Range

2008 1st Qtr 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr 4th Qtr
High $39.0: $36.7: $51.0¢ $39.4:
Low 29.2¢ 30.0¢ 30.7(C 23.0¢

2007 1st Qtr 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr 4th Qtr
High $40.7¢ $41.3¢ $52.4¢ $47.5:
Low 35.5( 37.5¢ 40.0¢ 32.0¢

(b) Holders. As of January 31, 2009, the approximate numbeshafeholders of record of Common Stock and Cla€ofmmon Stoc
were 900 and 300, respective

(c) Dividends. Dividends declared on the common stock are shiowiote 15 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Stegets appearir
elsewhere hereil

(d) Stock RepurchasesOn December 14, 2007, the companpbard of directors approved a stock repurchasgrgm authorizing tt
purchase of up to one million shares of the compampmmon stock. This stock repurchase authorizagomains effective un
terminated by the compa’s board of directors. As of December 31, 2008,havess were repurchase

(e) Performance Grap. The following information in this ltem 5 of thi&nnual Report on form -K is not deemed to b*soliciting
material: or to be “filed"with the SEC or subject to Regulation 14A or 14Q@emthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or tc
liabilities of Section 18 of the Securities Exchanct of 1934, and will not be deemed to be inceeyed by reference into any fili
under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securiirshange Act of 1934, except to the extent we $igally incorporate it by referen
into such a filing

14
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The graph below shows a five-year comparison of cbmulative shareholder return on the Compang@ommon Stock with tl
cumulative total return of the S&P Small cap 608dx and the S&P 600 Electrical Equipment Indexpgilhich are published indices.

Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Return
From December 31, 2003 to December 31, 2008
Assumes $100 invested with Reinvestment of Dividend

™ R . \
; ____..-_'i"_'-'-.-...:n._._
100 —F‘?A/A\h\_m

0
| T . : ' .
1231203 1203101 123105 123106 123107 1231 208
| = THLAD) CORP ===LP FNALICGAP ST IND EX ZEPET ELECTRCALEIUPMENT
Base
Period INDEXED RETURNS
Company/Inde; 12/31/0: 12/31/0¢ 12/31/0¢ 12/31/0¢ 12/31/07 12/31/0¢
A O SMITH CORP 100.0(¢ 87.2 104.k 113.¢ 107.¢ 92.¢
S&P SMALLCAP 600 INDEX 100.0(¢ 122.% 132.1 152.C 151.¢ 104.t
S&P 600 ELECTRICAL EQUIPMENT 100.0(¢ 120.% 134.C 181.¢ 200.¢ 133.2
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ITEM 6 —SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

(dollars in millions, except per share amoui

Years ended December

2008 2007 2006M 2005@ 2004

Net sales $2,304.¢ $2,312.: $2,161.! $1,689.: $1,653.:
Earnings

Continuing operation 81.¢ 88.2 76.2 46.5 35.4

Discontinued operatior - - 0.3 - -
Net earning: $ 81c¢ $ 88.2 $ 76.L $ 46. $ 35.
Basic earnings per share of common si

Continuing operation $ 272 $ 2.8¢ $ 251 $ 157 $ 1.21

Discontinued operatior - - 0.01 - -
Net earning: $ 272 $ 2.8¢ $ 252 $ 157 $ 1.21
Diluted earnings per share of common st

Continuing operation $ 2.7C $ 2.8t $ 2.4¢ $ 1.5¢ $ 1.1¢

Discontinued operatior - - 0.01 - -
Net earning: $ 2.7C $ 2.8t $ 247 $ 15¢ $ 1.1¢
Cash dividends per common sh $ .74 $ .7C $ .6€ $ .64 $ .62

December 3:
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Total asset $1,883.¢ $1,854. $1,839.¢ $1,292.° $1,314.(
Long-term debf® 317.: 379.¢ 432.1 162.¢ 272.
Total stockholder equity 641.1 757.¢ 684.¢ 612.¢ 590.¢

@ In April 2006, the company acquired GSW Inc., (GS&Vpublicly traded Canadian based manufacturer atemheaters and buildi
products. In December 2006, the company sold thiklibg products segment of this business which waated as a discontint
operation. See Note 2 of Notes to Consolidatedri€iiah Statements included elsewhere herein.

@ In November 2005, the company acquired Yueyang gimom Special Electrical Machinery Co., Ltd.

@ Excludes the current portion of long-term debt.
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ITEM 7 - MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We achieved net earnings of $81.9 million or $2@0share in 2008, compared with $88.2 million 2:8% per share in 2007 and $76.5 mil
or $2.47 per share in 2006. Net earnings recorde2DD8 were lower than 2007 due to lower sales .08 Uresidential product, higher r
material costs only partially offset by price inases, higher product warranty costs at our Watsduits segment primarily as a result of hi
steel costs and a higher tax rate. These factors partially offset by lower restructuring costsdar Electrical Products segment, anc
strong year for our China water heater business,l@aner product liability costs in our water heakersiness. Net earnings recorded in :
were higher than 2006 due to a full year of the GlaWiness acquired in April 2006, higher salesashimercial product, solid growth at «
China water heater operation and a lower effectase rate. These improvements were partially offsgthigher SG&A expenses &
restructuring charges in 2007 compared with 2006.i@dividual segment performance will be discusiseer in this section.

Our working capital was $276.3 million at DecemBg&r 2008 compared with $295.0 million and $322.Miom at December 31, 2007 ¢
December 31, 2006, respectively. The $18.7 milfiehuction in our working capital in 2008 compareithv2007 resulted from the recognit
of a noneash $73.0 million liability for derivative contigcand lower accounts receivable balances at bosinésses related to volu
declines, which were partially offset by higher émories and lower accounts payable balances aElegtrical Products segment and ¢
deposits of $22.5 million associated with derivatoontracts. The $27.7 million reduction in our king capital in 2007 compared with 2(
was a result of lower inventories in our Electri@abducts segment. Higher accounts payable balandesth businesses were offset by
increase in our Water Products segment’s accoentsvable balances.

Cash provided by operating activities during 20085v106.6 million compared with $190.5 million ehgi2007 and $128.8 million duri
2006. Lower net earnings in 2008 compared with 288d the changes in castlated working capital accounts described aboy#a@x the
majority of the decline. Higher net earnings in 2@@mpared with 2006 combined with higher deprémiaand amortization and the work
capital decrease described above explain the $6illidn year over year improvement in our cash flale expect cash provided by opera
activities to be between $140 and $160 million 002

Our capital expenditures were $66.1 million in 20@8ver than the $71.4 million spent in 2007. Oapital spending in 2006 was $6
million. We are projecting 2009 capital expenditicé between $75 and $85 million and 2009 deprieciatnd amortization of approximat
$70 million. 2009 capital spending includes thestarction of the water heater manufacturing plagrrBangalore, India and the completio
the expansion of our Nanjing, China water heateratons.

In February 2006, we completed a $425 million maltirency five year revolving credit facility withgroup of eight banks. The facility has
accordion provision which allows it to be increasgdto $500 million if certain conditions (includjdender approval) are satisfied. Borrow
rates under the facility are determined by ourage ratio. The facility requires us to maintairtiinancial covenants, a leverage ratio test
an interest coverage test, and we were in comm@igith the covenants during all of calendar yed)&0

The facility backs up commercial paper and cradi borrowings, and it expires on February 17, 2084 a result of the lonterm nature ¢
this facility, the commercial paper and credit liherrowings, as well as drawings under the facidtg classified as longrm debt. A
December 31, 2008, we had available borrowing dapat $246.9 million under this facility. We belie that the combination of availa
borrowing capacity and operating cash flow willyide sufficient funds to finance our existing ogamas for the foreseeable future.

At this point in time, our liquidity has not beeratarially impacted by the current credit environtpemd we do not expect that it will
materially impacted in the near future. There camb assurance however, that the cost of futureotyargs on our credit facilities will not
impacted by the ongoing capital market disruptions.

Our total debt was $334.8 million at the end of ®&aber 2008 compared with $395.2 million at the @h®#007. Our leverage, as measure
the ratio of total debt to total capitalization,s\@4 percent at the end of 2008 the same as anthef 2007.
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Aggregate Contractual Obligations

A summary of our contractual obligations as of Deber 31, 2008, is as follows:

(dollars in millions) Payments due by peric
Less Tha More thal
1-3 3-5
Contractual Obligation Total 1 year Years Year: 5 years
Long-term Debit $334.¢ $ 17.t $217.¢ $43.7 $ 55.¢
Fixed Rate Interes 36.2 8.3 13.C 8.4 6.€
Operating Lease 48.t 14.C 17.1 6.7 10.7
Purchase Obligatior 87.7 87.7 - - -
Other Liabilities:
Commodity futures contrac 52.1 48.¢ 3.2 - -
Foreign currency forward contrac 19.1 18.¢ 0.3 - -
Total $578.5 $ 195.C $251.¢ $58.¢ $ 73.1

As of December 31, 2008, the liability for uncentéilcome tax positions was $5.5 million. Due to ttigh degree of uncertainty regarc
timing of potential future cash flows associatedhvihese liabilities, we are unable to make a neally reliable estimate of the amount
period in which these liabilities might be paid.

We utilize blanket purchase orders to communicajgeeted annual requirements to many of our suppliBequirements under blan
purchase orders generally do not become committeidl several weeks prior to the compasyscheduled unit production. The purct
obligation amount presented above represents thie wd commitments considered firm. The amountthi table above for commodity &
foreign currency contracts represent the costigtadate the contracts as of December 31, 2008.

GSW operated a captive insurance company to prgwideéuct liability and general liability insuranteits subsidiary, American Water He:
Company (American). We decided to cover Amerisaligbility exposures with our existing insurana®grams and operate the captiv:
runoff effective July 1, 2006. The reinsurance camp restricts the amount of capital which must baintained by the captive.
December 31, 2008, the restricted amount was $26li8n compared with $38.9 million at the end @@ and is included in other n@oHren
assets. The restricted assets are invested in nmagket securities.

In February 2007, our board of directors approvetbak repurchase program in the amount of onéamiihares of our common stock. Dui
2007, we completed the repurchase of all one milBbares at an average cost of $36.62 per shareb@ud approved an additional
million shares to be repurchased under this progatiits December 2007 meeting. As of December 8082we have not repurchased
shares under the authorization approved in Dece @0&f.

Our pension plan continues to meet all funding iregients under ERISA regulations. While we wereraquired to make a contribution to
plan in 2008, we elected to make a contributio®1f.3 million. We are required to make a contributdf approximately $18 million in 20(
The company is forecasting contributions to thespEmplan to be between $18 and $35 million in 2866 between $40 and $50 millior
2010. For further information on our pension plsee Note 11 of the Notes to Consolidated FinarStetements.

We have paid dividends for 69 consecutive yeark pétyments increasing each of the last 17 yearspaMetotal dividends of $.74 per shar
2008 compared with $.70 per share in 2007.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Our sales in 2008 were $2.3 billion, about equaddl®s in 2007 as a $28.2 million increase in salesir Water Products segment was r
than offset by a $35.9 million decline in sale®ur Electrical Products segment. The higher Watedicts sales were due mostly to incre
sales in China and material related price increagish were partially offset by significantly lowesgsidential volume. The decline at Electr
Products resulted primarily from lower unit voluneessociated with the weak housing market. Sal@9@y were $2.31 billion, an increast
$150.8 million or 7.0 percent from sales of $2.16dm in 2006. The sales increase occurred in\Water Products segment and was due
full year of the GSW business acquired in April 80@hich added $128 million of sales in the firaater of 2007 as well as increased sales
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of commercial water heaters and higher sales im&hbales for Electrical Products declined $11.Bionifrom $905.9 million in 2006 |
$894.0 million in 2007 as improved pricing was mthran offset by lower volume.

Our gross profit margin for 2008 was 21.6 percemhgared to 22.2 percent in 2007 as increased nsaagiBlectrical Products were more t
offset by lower margins at Water Products. The @igmargins at Electrical Products resulted from m@mrcial contract improvemen
including pricing, at targeted accounts and remsilg savings. The lower margins at Water Produase caused by higher raw mate
costs, primarily steel, and its related effect arnanty costs which were partially offset by impgaents in pricing. Our gross profit margin
2006 was 21.5 percent. The improved margins in 20&2 due mostly to sales of higher margin prodinctair Water Products segment.

Selling, general and administrative expense (SG&A} $5.6 million lower in 2008 than in 2007 as loweoduct liability expense primar
associated with an adverse verdict in 2007 at WRteducts and lower bad debt provisions at bothpsaduct operations more than of
higher SG&A in support of increased sales at oun&lwater heater operation. The increase in SG&4A3%.0 million from 2006 to 2007 w
due to higher selling and advertising costs to supimcreased sales at our water heater segmeninahdied $15.2 million of first quart
SG&A attributable to the GSW acquisition.

Pension expense in 2008 was $4.0 million compareRil2.2 million in 2007 and $11.9 million in 200Bhe decrease in pension expense
2007 to 2008 was due to an increase in the disamtet lower amortization of deferred asset losard, the absence of curtailment and ¢
charges of $1.1 million. The increase in pensigmeese from 2006 to 2007 was due to curtailmentadingr charges as partially offset by lo
amortization of deferred asset losses.

Pretax restructuring charges were $9.2 million,.$24dillion and $9.6 million in 2008, 2007 and 20@&spectively. The majority of the char
incurred in 2008, consisting primarily of severara®l asset impairment, were associated with thet glasures initiated by our Electri
Products segment in 2007 and completed in 2002007, $22.8 million of restructuring expense wasogmnized by Electrical Products w
$12.0 million of the charge attributed to the ahasof our operations in Scottsville, KY and MebaR€, and the write down of other assets.
closing of these plants resulted in our hermetidcamassembly operations being consolidated in Actexico and Suzhou, China. A pre
charge of $9.2 million associated with the closafgour motor facility in Budapest, Hungary was alsoluded in the 2007 charge. A pre
charge of $1.6 million was also included in the 2@ectrical Products charge for certain other dstineepositioning and asset write dc
expenses. In addition to the 2007 restructuringgagsat Electrical Products we also recognized.8 #illion corporate charge related t
previously owned business. In 2006, $8.9 milliortraf $9.6 million restructuring charge was recogdiby Electrical Products, most of wh
was related to the closure of our McMinnville, TNotor fabrication plant completed in the first qeardf 2007 and the closure of our me
operation in Taizhou, China in the fourth quarte2@06. We do not have any current restructuriregngl

Interest expense decreased from $26.7 million i072@ $19.2 million in 2008 as a result of loweterest rates and debt. Interest exp
increased from $24.9 million in 2006 to $26.7 roifliin 2007 due to GSW acquisition related finanaingts incurred for a full year in 2C
versus only nine months in 2006.

In 2008 net other expense of $1.6 million compacedet other income of $0.9 million. The $2.5 noillidifferential is due to $1.0 million low
interest income on restricted marketable securiiesto liquidation of $12.0 million of shawrm securities in the second quarter of 2008
the remainder due to exchange losses as foreigermies strengthened against the U.S. dollar. 077 2fet other income of $0.9 milli
compared to net other expense of $0.6 million i0&0The differential was due to $0.5 million oféntst income on restricted marketi
securities in the first quarter of 2007 with theneender due to exchange gains associated with ddl&ar purchases made by our Cana
operations.

Our effective tax rate was 25.4 percent in 20087 hkrcent in 2007 and 27.3 percent in 2006. T 2ffective rate included a $3.7 mill
tax benefit upon completion of tax audits and lapkstatutes of limitations and a $1.1 million Chimvestment incentive tax benefit. A
included in the 2007 rate is a $9.9 million tax é&f#rassociated with the write-off of the investrhenour Hungarian subsidiary.

Our 2008 net earnings were $81.9 million or $2.20ghare compared with $88.2 million or $2.85 feare in 2007 and $76.5 million or $2
per share in 2006.
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Water Products

Sales for our Water Products segment were $1.46rbih 2008, a modest increase over sales of $fiili@n in 2007. Sales at our China wz
heater operation increased by $40.1 million in 2aD&spite price increases to compensate for higtaterial costs, sales for residential w
heaters were significantly lower in 2008 and péytiaffset the growth in China. Sales in 2007 w#&d62.3 million higher than sales of $1
billion in 2006. The increase was due to a fullrygthe GSW business acquired in April 2006, whaclled $128.0 million of sales in the 1
quarter of 2007, a $30.1 million increase in sakesur China operation and increased sales of coniahevater heaters.

Operating earnings for Water Products were $134llibmin 2008 or 10.2 percent lower than earning$150.0 million in 2007. The impact
growth in China and lower SG&A was more than offsgtiower residential volume and higher costs fow imaterials and components wt
were not recovered with price increases. Operaargings of $150.0 million in 2007 were 22.5 petdégher than earnings of $122.4 mill
in 2006. The increase in earnings was due to aitiaola three months of GSW earnings, higher egsiim China, and sales of higher ma
products all of which offset lower residential walteater volume.

Electrical Products

Sales in our Electrical Products segment in 20082w858.1 million or 4.0 percent lower than 200%réased selling prices to offset hic
costs for raw materials were more than offset lelounit volume caused by the weak housing marketell as customer inventory reducti
at the end of the year. Sales in 2007 of $894.0Gamiwere 1.3 percent lower than 2006. Similar 6D, the favorable impact of mater
related pricing actions was more than offset byribgative impact of a weak housing market. Adddibn lower volume in the resident
hermetic and pump motor markets more than offsptared sales in the commercial hermetic and digtiob market segments.

Operating earnings at our Electrical Products segmere $39.1 million in 2008 compared with $23.illion in 2007. The majority of tt
increase in earnings was due to a decrease inucasting charges from $22.8 million in 2007 to $&iillion in 2008. Operating earnings
2007 were $25.0 million lower than earnings of $4@illion in 2006 due to an increase in restructgrcharges of $13.9 million and lower 1
volumes. Please refer to the previous discussiomstnucturing charges for additional details.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our accounting policies are described in Note Nofes to Consolidated Financial Statements. Alsdiscosed in Note 1, the preparatiol
financial statements in conformity with accountipgnciples generally accepted in the United Statxsuires the use of estimates
assumptions about future events that affect theuatsareported in the financial statements and apemrying notes. Future events and 1
effects cannot be determined with absolute cegtaiftterefore, the determination of estimates rexguihe exercise of judgment. Actual res
inevitably will differ from those estimates, andchulifferences may be material to the financiaiesteents.

The most significant accounting estimates inheiretite preparation of our financial statementsudel estimates associated with the evalu
of the impairment of goodwill and indefinitared intangible assets, as well as significantnestes used in the determination of liabili
related to warranty activity, product liability, dpensions. Various assumptions and other factmienlie the determination of these signific
estimates. The process of determining significaatimetes is facspecific and takes into account factors such a®réal experience ai
trends, and in some cases, actuarial techniquescafistantly reevaluate these significant factord adjustments are made when facts
circumstances dictate. Historically, actual reshltse not significantly deviated from those detexdi using the estimates described above.

Goodwill and Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets

In conformity with U.S. generally accepted accongtprinciples, goodwill and indefinitiered intangible assets are tested for impain
annually, or more frequently if events or changesiicumstances indicate that the assets mighinipaired. We perform impairment revie
for our reporting units using a fair-value methas&d on managemestudgments and assumptions. The fair value reptedbhe estimate
amount at which a reporting unit could be boughséad in a current transaction between willing ig@ron an armgngth basis. The estima
fair value is then compared with the carrying antafnthe reporting unit, including recorded goodwWe are subject to financial statenr
risk to the extent that goodwill and indefiniteed intangible assets become impaired. Any impait review is, by its nature, higl
judgmental as estimates of future sales, earningscash flows are utilized to determine fair valudswever, we believe that we conc
annual thorough and competent valuations of goddwi indefinite-lived intangible assets and tiatré has been no impairment.
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Product warranty

Our products carry warranties that generally rafinge one to ten years and are based on terms tbaemerally accepted in the market.
provide for the estimated cost of product warraaityhe time of sale. The product warranty proviserstimated based upon warranty
experience using actual historical failure rated astimated costs of product replacement. The Masaused in the calculation of the provit
are reviewed on a periodic basis. At times, wagrassues may arise which are beyond the scope ohistorical experience. While ¢
warranty costs have historically been within itkcakated estimates, it is possible that future aaty costs could differ significantly from thc
estimates. We provide for any such warranty isasshey become known and estimable. The allocatfothe warranty liability betwes
current and long-term is based on the expectedawdriiability to be paid in the next year as detigred by historical product failure rates.

Product liability

Due to the nature of our products, we are subgeptoduct liability claims in the normal courselnfsiness. A majority of these claims invc
our Water Products business. We maintain insurémeeduce our risk. Most insurance coverage induskdfinsured retentions that vary
year. As of December 31, 2008, we maintained &insured retention of $5.0 million per occurrencelwan aggregate insurance limit
$125.0 million per occurrence.

GSW insurance coverage included seHurance retentions that varied by business segimeth by year. Effective April 3, 2006 G¢
maintained a $25.0 million aggregate loss retentimaugh selfinsurance and captive insurance company covera&/ Gaims occurring ¢
or after July 1, 2006 are covered under the compangurance program.

We establish product liability reserves for ourf-gesured retention portion of any known outstandingtters based on the likelihood of |
and our ability to reasonably estimate such loseerd is inherent uncertainty as to the eventualuésn of unsettled matters due to
unpredictable nature of litigation. We make estesabased on available information and our bestmueig after consultation with appropri
advisors and experts. We periodically revise esgsmbased upon changes to facts or circumstancesldt' use an actuary to calculate res:
required for estimated incurred but not reportainet as well as to estimate the effect of adveeseldpment of claims over time.

Pensions

We have significant pension benefit costs thatderesloped from actuarial valuations. The valuatiefect key assumptions regarding, an
other things, discount rates, expected return eatasretirement ages, and years of service. Cenagidn is given to current market conditic
including changes in interest rates in making tresseimptions. Our assumptions for the expectedfatturn on plan assets is 8.75 perce
2008, unchanged from 2007. The discount rate useé@termine net periodic pension costs increased §.90 percent in 2007 to 6.50 per:
in 2008. In 2009, the rate of return on plan asises75 percent and the discount rate is 6.60gmerc

In developing our expected long-term rate of retassumption, we evaluate our pension plan’s taagsét allocation, the historical loteyr
rates of return of equity and bond indices andaitteal historical returns of our pension plan. Plan’s target allocation to equity managel
between 60 to 70 percent, with the remainder alémtarimarily to bond managers and a small allocato private equity managers. Dut
market fluctuations, our actual asset allocatiomfaBecember 31, 2008, was 55 percent to equityagers, 36 percent to bond managers
percent to private equity managers and the remaimdenoney market instruments. We regularly reviewr actual asset allocation ¢
periodically rebalance our investments to our teagellocation when considered appropriate. Ousijo@nplan’s historical 10-year and £Bau
compounded annualized returns are 4.0 percent @2dpercent, respectively. We believe that with tamget allocation and the historical long-
term returns of equity and bond indices as webti@asactual historical returns, our 8.75 percenteexgd return on assets for 2009 is reasonable

The discount rate assumptions used to determineefytension obligations at December 31, 2008, 2072006 were based on the Hewitt
quartile yield Curve (HTQ), which was designed bgwitt Associates to provide a means for plan spangm value the liabilities of the
postretirement benefit plans. The HTQ is a hypathétouble A yield curve represented by a serfeammualized individual discount rat
Each bond issue underlying the HTQ is requiredaeeha rating of Aa or better by Moodyinvestor Service, Inc. or a rating of AA or betig
Standard & Poos. Because of the volatile bond market, we adjustedliscount rate as of December 31, 2008 toitatkeaccount the effect
bonds that were on credit watch on December 318 200 were subsequently downgraded below a AAgdtefore January 15, 2009. ~
discount rates
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determined on the basis described above were @@@&mt. 6.50 percent and 5.90 percent at Decembet(®8, 2007 and 2006, respectiv
We will continue to evaluate our actuarial assuoiiat least annually, and we will adjust the aggions as necessary.

We estimate that we will recognize approximatel).$Imillion of pension expense in 2009 compare@4d million in 2008. Lowering tt
expected londerm rate of return on assets by 25 basis pointddviocrease our net pension expense for 2009 pyoapnately $1.7 millior
Lowering the discount rate by 25 basis points wankdease our 2009 net pension expense by appridyrel.3 million.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2008, the Financial Accounting Standardsfd (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial AccongtStandards (“SFAS"No. 161
“Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and HeddActivities, an Amendment of FASB No. 133,” (“SBAL61").SFAS 161 is intended
improve transparency in financial reporting by rieipg enhanced disclosures of an enstylerivative instruments and hedging activities
their effects on the entity’financial position, financial performance, andlcflows. SFAS 161 applies to all derivative instants within th
scope of SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivativestruments and Hedging Activities,” (“SFAS 133")FAS 161 also applies to non-
derivative hedging instruments and all hedged itelesignated and qualifying under SFAS 133. SFAS is6éffective prospectively f
financial statements issued for fiscal years aneriim periods beginning after November 15, 2008hweiarly application encouraged. SF
161 encourages, but does not require, comparaibobodures for periods prior to its initial adoptioNe will adopt SFAS 161 on Januar
2009 and are currently evaluating the potentialdotn our financial statements when implemented.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 16@ntontrolling Interests in Consolidated Finan@shtements, an amendment of A
No. 57", (“SFAS 160"). SFAS 160 changes the accounting and reporting foority interests, which will be recharacterizedrescontrolling
interests and classified as a component of eqliltis new consolidation method changes the accagifitintransactions with minority inter:
holders. SFAS 160 is effective beginning in 2009option of this statement will impact our accougtifor any future transactions wh
include a noncontrolling interest.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141@)siness Combinations,” (“SFAS 141(R)'$FAS 141(R) requires us to continu
follow the guidance in SFAS 141 for certain aspemftsbusiness combinations, with additional guidapcevided defining the acquir
recognizing and measuring the identifiable assetgiiged, the liabilities assumed, and any noncdiirigpinterest in the acquiree, assets
liabilities arising from contingencies, definingargain purchase and recognizing and measuringvgtb@d a gain from a bargain purchase
addition, certain transaction costs previously &diged as part of the purchase price will be espénas incurred. Also, under SFAS 14:
adjustments associated with changes in tax comitige that occur after the one year measuremeiidpare recorded as adjustment
income. This statement is effective for all bustnesmbinations for which the acquisition date isoorafter the beginning of an entigyfirs
fiscal year that begins after December 15, 2008;awver, the guidance in this standard regardingréstment of income tax contingencie
retrospective to business combinations completidt fr January 1, 2009. We will adopt SFAS 141(®)dny business combinations occur
at or subsequent to January 1, 2009.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, Fha# Value Option for Financial Assets and Finahdiiabilities including a
amendment of FASB Statement No. 115 (“SFAS 15@hjch permits entities to choose to measure mamgnfiial instruments and cert
other items at fair value. The objective is to ioye financial reporting by providing entities withe opportunity to mitigate volatility
reported earnings caused by measuring relatedsaasdtliabilities without having to apply complegdge accounting provisions. We ado|
SFAS 159 on January 1, 2008. Adoption of this stet® did not have an affect on our consolidatedrfaial condition, results of operation:
cash flows.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 15dir “Falue Measurements.” (“SFAS 157'3FAS 157 defines fair value, establish
framework for measuring fair value and expandsldgoes about fair value measurements. SFAS 1%/ establishes a fair value hierar
that prioritizes information used in developinguaagptions when pricing an asset or liability. Asadissed in footnote 1 we adopted SFAS
on January 1, 2008. Adoption of this statementrdithave a material impact on our consolidatedniiie condition, results of operations
cash flows.

22



Table of Contents

Outlook

Given the deteriorating global economic environmtbiat intensified during the fourth quarter we #eecasting significantly lower volum
for both our residential and commercial businedsdsth operating companies. In addition we exactncrease of more than $6 millior
pension expense.

Also, there are a number of factors that we belieilé contribute to earnings this year, includingnpprovement in water heater prici
continued growth—although at a slower raie-€hina, and savings from the restructuring itifia at Electrical Products Company. At
same time, we continue to reduce cost throughoubdperations. We announced in January, 2009 a coyapale workforce reduction progre
for our salaried workforce.

Notwithstanding these factors which could improeenings, the weak economy will challenge us thraugtthe year and consequently,
expect 2009 earnings will be in a range betwee#®and $2.60 per share.

OTHER MATTERS

Environmental

Our operations are governed by a number of fedstatle, local and foreign environmental laws comicgy the generation and manageme!
hazardous materials, the discharge of pollutantstime environment and remediation of sites owngthlb company or third parties. We h
expended financial and managerial resources congplyiith such laws. Expenditures related to envirental matters were not materia
2008 and are not expected to be material in anylesipear. We have accrued amounts associated witinoemental obligations at varic
facilities and we believe these reserves are seffido cover reasonably anticipated remediatistAlthough we believe that our operat
are substantially in compliance with such laws araintain procedures designed to maintain compligihege are no assurances that subst
additional costs for compliance will not ecurred in the future. However, since the sameslgavern our competitors, we should not be pl
at a competitive disadvantage.

Market Risk

We are exposed to various types of market riskisngrily currency and certain commodities. We monitair risks in such areas ot
continuous basis and generally enter into forwand fatures contracts to minimize such exposurepéoiods of less than one year. We dc
engage in speculation in our derivatives stratediesther discussion regarding derivative instruteda contained in Note 1 of Notes
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Commodity risks include raw material price flucioas. We use futures contracts to fix the costwfexpected needs for certain raw mate
(i.e. copper and aluminum) with the objective odueing price risk. Futures contracts are purchases time periods and at volume le
which approximate expected usage. At December 828,2we had commodity futures contracts amountn@33.9 million of commodit
purchases. A hypothetical ten percent change inilerlying commaodity price of such contracts wondde a potential impact of $5.4 millis
It is important to note that gains and losses fmm futures contract activities will be offset bgigs and losses in the underlying commc
purchase transactions being hedged.

In addition, we enter into foreign currency forwahtracts to minimize the effect of fluctuatingdimn currencies. At December 31, 2008
had net foreign currency contracts outstanding1&6$4 million. Assuming a hypothetical ten percemvement in the respective currenc
the potential foreign exchange gain or loss assetiaith the change in rates would amount to $8ilBon. It is important to note that gal
and losses from our forward contract activitied bl offset by gains and losses in the underlyiagdactions being hedged.

Our earnings exposure related to movements indsterates is primarily derived from outstandingaflngrate debt instruments that
determined by short-term money market rates. Atebdxer 31, 2008, we had $159.6 million in outstagdioating-rate debt with a weighted-
average interest rate of 1.8 percent at year enHypothetical ten percent annual increase or deeréathe yeaend average cost of ¢
outstanding floating-rate debt would result in ame in annual pretax interest expense of apprdglyng0.3 million.
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Smith Investment Company Transaction

On December 9, 2008, we entered into a merger agmaewith our largest stockholder, Smith Investm@ampany, pursuant to which Snr
Investment would become our wholbywned subsidiary. Assuming the merger is completeslstockholders of Smith Investment will own
shares directly, rather than through Smith Investm®&mith Investment owns approximately 97.9 peroérour outstanding Class A Comn
Stock and approximately 7.1 percent of our outstap@ommon Stock.

We and our stockholders are expected to benefit free merger because its terms provide for:

. An exchange ratio in the merger agreement reflgaidiscount of 1.5 percent such that the mergéregult in a reduction in the numi
of our outstanding shares by issuing to Smith Itnaest stockholders 98.5 percent of the total nunatb@ur shares that Smith Investrr
holds before the merge

. An increase in the public float for our sharespasshares currently held by Smith Investment halldistributed more broadly among
Smith Investment stockholders; a

. Enhancement of our corporate governance structuceigh proposed amendments to our certificate ajrporation that provide for t
following:

. An increase in the percentage of members of ourdbofdirectors that holders of our Common Stoakting as a separate cle
elect from 25 percent to 33.3 percent of the mesbéthe board of director

. Shares of our Class A Common Stock to convert aatioally into shares of our Common Stock, subjeatdrtain exceptions, up
transfer to unaffiliated third parties, a

. All shares of our Class A Common Stock to convetbmatically into shares of our Common Stock oreedutstanding shares
our Class A Common Stock fall below 2,397,976 shavehich is approximately 8 percent of the totalstanding shares of ¢
Class A Common Stock and our Common Stock as odlte of the merger agreeme

The proposed amendments to our certificate of pm@tion also provide for an increase, solely forppses of completing the merger, in
total number of authorized shares of our Class Af@on Stock that we can issue from 14,000,000 shar2®,667,252 shares.

Certain members of the Smith Family have agreedote their shares to approve the merger agreentemtnaeeting of Smith Investme
stockholders. Similarly, Smith Investment has adneevote its shares to approve the merger agreeameinthe amendments to our certificat
incorporation at a meeting of our stockholders. sSehstockholders have enough votes to ensure appbtae transaction at the respec
stockholders meetings of our company and Smithdiment.

In addition to receipt of approval of stockholdefsour company and Smith Investment, the mergeulgect to receipt of a favorable le
ruling from the Internal Revenue Service, the dff@ness of a registration statement covering bares to be issued to the Smith Investi
stockholders and other customary closing conditibimgler the terms of the agreement, Smith Investmé&hreimburse us for substantially
of its transactiorrelated expenses. In addition, a portion of our Gwm Stock to be issued to the Smith Investmentkbimders having
market value of $15 million as of the effective ¢iraf the merger will be placed in escrow to satisfyemnification claims, if any, by us
connection with the transaction. We expect the ererg close by the end of the second quarter 09200

The pending transaction between A. O. Smith andOBNill be accounted for as a reverse acquisitioth \8ICO as the accounting acquirer
A. O. Smith as the accounting acquiree (which égbrviving entity for legal purposes). As thimisommon control transaction under Sl
141(R) Business Combinationghe transaction will be accounted for as an egtriypsaction under SFAS 16%oncontrolling interests

Consolidated Financial Statements an amendmentRB Alo. 51.The acquisition of a noncontrolling interest wilbtnrequire purcha:
accounting.

Furthermore, because SICO is treated as the camgimeporting entity for accounting purposes, teearts filed by A. O. Smith, as 1
surviving corporation in the transaction, after thete of the transaction will parallel the finahaiaporting required under United Ste
generally accepted accounting principles and SpOrtimg rules as if SICO were the legal successdtstreporting obligation as of the datt
the transaction. Accordingly, prior period finariciaformation presented in the A. O. Smith finahciatements will reflect the historis
activity of SICO.

24



Table of Contents

Forward-Looking Statements

This filing contains statements that the companiebes are “forward-looking statementsithin the meaning of the Private Securi
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statents generally can be identified by the use afdesuch as “may,” “will,” “expect,”
“intend,” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “facast,” or words of similar meaning. These forwimimking statements are subject to risks
uncertainties that could cause actual resultsfferdinaterially from those anticipated as of théedaf this filing. Factors that could cause su
variance include the following: significant voléijl in raw material prices; competitive pressurestbe companyg businesses; inability
implement pricing actions; negative impact of fetypension contributions on the compangbility to generate cash flow; instability in
companys electric motor and water products markets; furtiveakening in housing construction; further weakgnin commercic
construction; a further slowdown in the Chinesenetoy; expected restructuring savings realizedh&mradverse changes in customer liqu
and general economic and capital market conditiamg, failures to realize the anticipated benefitsthe proposed Smith Investm
transaction; the ability to obtain regulatory apfais for the Smith Investment transaction; or tis& of an unfavorable judgment or ruling
any Smith Investment transaction related litigation

Forwardlooking statements included in this filing are maxhy as of the date of this filing, and the comp@nunder no obligation to upd:
these statements to reflect subsequent eventsammtstances. All subsequent written and oral foddaoking statements attributed to
company, or persons acting on its behalf, are figdlentirely by these cautionary statements.

ITEM 7A —QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

See “Market Risk” above.
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ITEM 8 —FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
A. O. Smith Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of A. O. Smith Corporation as of DecerBlie2008 and 2007, and the rel:
consolidated statements of earnings, compreheesivgngs, stockholdergquity and cash flows for each of the three yaathé period end:s
December 31, 2008. Our audits also included thanfifal statement schedule listed in the indexeahIt5(a). These financial statements
schedule are the responsibility of the companyanagement. Our responsibility is to express@nian on these financial statements
schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBlaUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audit to obta@asonable assurance about whether the finastaééments are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tiliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and diss in the financial statements. An &
also includes assessing the accounting princigded and significant estimates made by managementethas evaluating the overall finan
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredabove present fairly, in all material respedi® tonsolidated financial position of A.
Smith Corporation at December 31, 2008 and 200 tlae consolidated results of its operations amdash flows for each of the three yea
the period ended December 31, 2008, in conformiith W.S. generally accepted accounting principleso, in our opinion, the relat
financial statement schedule, when considered latioa to the basic financial statements taken asghale, presents fairly in all matel
respects the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdef the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boédnited States), A. O. Sm
Corporation’s internal control over financial repiog as of December 31, 2008, based on criteriabéshed in Internal Control Integrate:
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@imgtions of the Treadway Commission and our tepated January 30, 2C
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Ernst & Young LLP

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
January 30, 2009
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31 (dollars in millions)

2008 2007
Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivale $ 29.4 $ 372
Receivable: 363.t 415.1
Inventories 282.( 261.¢
Deferred income taxe 63.2 34.C
Other current asse 43.2 19.t
Total Current Assets 781.% 767.€
Net property, plant and equipme 418.¢ 421.1
Goodwill 505.1 512.¢
Other intangible! 78.% 86.€
Deferred income taxe 49.¢ -
Other asset 50.5 66.2
Total Assets $1,883.¢ $1,854.¢
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Trade payable $ 274.5 $ 305.¢
Accrued payroll and benefi 43.¢ 48.4
Derivative contracts liabilit 73.C 1.4
Accrued liabilities 49.¢ 62.2
Product warrantie 40.2 35.€
Income taxe: 6.C 34
Long-term debt due within one ye 17.5 15.€
Total Current Liabilities 505.( 472.¢
Long-term debt 317.: 379.¢
Product warrantie 71.€ 69.€
Deferred income taxe - 34.t
Pos-retirement benefit obligatio 15.4 15.7
Pension liabilities 264.( 39.7
Other liabilities 69.5 84.¢
Total Liabilities 1,242.¢ 1,096.¢
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholders Equity
Preferred Stoc - -
Class A Common Stock (shares issued 8,272,761 283,840) 41.4 41.4
Common Stock (shares issued 24,276,701 and 24 25 24.: 24.2
Capital in excess of par vali 79.2 76.7
Retained earning 858.7 799.(
Accumulated other comprehensive i (281.9 (99.9
Treasury stock at co (80.7) (84.2)
Total Stockholders’ Equity 641.] 757.¢
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $1,883.¢ $1,854.¢

See accompanying notes which are an integral pénese statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EARNINGS
Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions, ekpep share amounts)

2008 2007 2006

Continuing Operations

Net sales $2,304.¢ $2,312.: $2,161.:

Cost of products sol 1,807.¢ 1,798. 1,697.¢

Gross profil 497t 513.¢ 463.¢

Selling, general and administrative exper 357.2 363.( 324.(

Restructuring and other charg 9.2 247 9.6

Interest expens 19.2 26.7 24.¢

Other (income) expens- net 1.6 (0.9 0.6

Earnings before provision for income ta 110.1 99.¢ 104.¢

Provision for income taxe 27.€ 11.7 28.€

Earnings before equity loss or joint vent 82.2 88.2 76.2

Equity loss in joint ventur (0.3 - -
Earnings from Continuing Operations 81.¢ 88.2 76.2
Discontinued Operations

Earnings from discontinued operations, less prowigor income taxes of $0 - - 0.3
Net Earnings $ 81l.c¢ $ 88.z $ 765
Net Earnings Per Share of Common Stoc

Continuing Operation $ 272 $ 2.8¢ $ 251

Discontinued Operatior - - 0.01
Net Earnings $ 27z $ 28 $§ 252
Diluted Net Earnings Per Share of Common Stoc

Continuing Operation $ 27C $ 28t $ 2.4¢

Discontinued Operatior - - 0.01
Net Earnings $ 2.7C $ 2.8t $ 247
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS (L OSS)
Years ended December 31 (dollars in millio

2008 2007 2006

Net Earnings $ 81l¢ $ 88z $ 76k
Other comprehensive earnings (lo

Foreign currency translation adjustme 5.6 7.8 (2.9

Unrealized net gain (loss) on cash flow derivathatruments, less related income tax effect of

$27.6 in 2008, $7.4 in 2007 and $3.6 in 2! (43.7) (11.5) (5.7
Change in pension liabilit
less related income tax effect of $92.7 in 26§{81.5) in 2007 and $(10.1) in 20 (145.0) 33.€ 15.C

Comprehensive Earnings (Lo $(100.6) $ 118« $ 83.

See accompanying notes which are an integral pénese statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions)

2008 2007 2006
Continuing
Operating Activities
Earnings from Continuing Operatio $ 81.¢ $ 88.2 $ 76.2
Adjustments to reconcile earnings from continuipgrations to cash provided by operating activil
Depreciation and amortizatic 66.3 67.5 60.€
Net changes in operating assets and liabilitiesphacquisitions

Current assets and liabilitir (34.9 26.4 (21.7)

Noncurrent assets and liabiliti (11.¢) 3.7 9.7

Other 4.4 4.7 3.1
Cash Provided by Operating Activities 106.¢ 190.t 128.¢
Investing Activities
Acquisition of businesse - - (340.%)
Proceeds from sale of investme 12.C - 53.2
Purchases of investmer - - (41.0
Capital expenditure (66.7) (71.9) (68.2)
Cash Used in Investing Activities (54.)) (71.9) (396.%)
Financing Activities
Long-term debt incurre: - - 275.¢
Long-term debt repai (40.1) (61.0 (6.9
Purchases of treasury stc - (36.€) -
Net proceeds from stock option activ 2.1 11.4 8.3
Dividends paic (22.9) (21.5) (20.])
Cash (Used in) Provided by Financing Activities (60.9) (107.7) 257.1
Discontinued
Cash provided by operating activiti - - 1.2
Proceeds from disposition of busin - - 11.4
Cash Provided by Discontinued Operation: - - 12.€
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis (7.8) 11.4 1.8
Cash and cash equivale-beginning of yea 37.2 25.¢ 24.C
Cash and Cash Equivalent-End of Year $ 29.2 $ 37.2 $ 25.¢

See accompanying notes which are an integral pénese statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions)

2008 2007 2006

Class A Common Stock
Balance at beginning of ye $ 41.4 $ 41F $ 42°F
Conversion of Class A Common Stc - (0.7) (1.0
Balance at end of ye: $ 41.4 $ 41. $ 41t
Common Stock
Balance at beginning of ye $ 242 $ 24z $ 24.(
Conversion of Class A Common Stc 0.1 - 0.2
Balance at end of ye: $ 24.: $ 24.z $ 24.z
Capital in Excess of Par Value
Balance at beginning of ye $ 76.7 $ 71.¢ $ 69.7
Conversion of Class A Common Stc - 0.1 0.8
Reclassification of unearned compensation on SFAS1R3(R) adoptiol - - (3.8
Issuance of share un (4.3 (2.7) (0.8
Vesting of share unil (3.4) - -
Stock based compensation expe 5.C 4.€ 2.8
Exercise of stock optior (0.2 (4.9 (2.5)
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options and imgsbf share unit 1.1 4.8 4.2
Stock incentives and direct’ compensatiol 4.3 2.8 1.C
Balance at end of ye: $ 79. $ 76.7 $ 71.4
Retained Earnings
Balance at beginning of ye $ 799.( $ 732.: $675.¢
Net earning: 81.¢ 88.2 76.5
Cash dividends on stot (22.2) (21.5) (20.7)
Balance at end of ye: $ 858.7 $ 799.( $ 732.2
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Los:
Balance at beginning of ye $ (99.9 $(129.5) $(136.9)
Foreign currency translation adjustme 5.€ 7.2 (2.4
Unrealized net gain (loss) on cash flow derivatnatruments, less related income tax effect of 27.

in 2008, $7.4 in 2007 and $3.6 in 2C (43.7) (11.5) (5.7)
Change in pension liability less related incomedtgct $92.7 in 2008, of $(21.5) in 2007 and $1)

in 2006 (145.0 33.¢ 15.C
Balance at end of ye: $(281.9 $ (99.9) $(129.5)
Unearned Compensatior
Balance at beginning of ye $ - $ - $ (3.9
Reclassification of unearned compensation on SFAS1R3(R) adoptiol - - 3.8
Balance at end of ye. $ - $ - $ -
Treasury Stock
Balance at beginning of ye $ (84.2 $ (55.9 $ (59.0
Exercise of stock options, net of 6,262 sharessdered as proceeds in 2008, net of 103,118 sh

surrendered as proceeds in 2007 and net of 228¥a&&s surrendered as proceeds in : 0.¢ 8.€ 3.C
Stock incentives and direct’ compensatiol 0.t 0.t 0.7
Vesting of share units, net of 45,795 shares sdarsd to pay taxe 2.1 - -
Stock repurchase (36.€) -
Shares surrendered to pay taxes on vested regtsitiek - (1.9 -
Balance at end of ye: $ (80.7 $ (84.9 $ (55.9
Total Stockholders’ Equity $ 641.1 $ 757.¢ $ 684.¢

See accompanying notes which are an integral pénese statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Organization and Significant Accounting Poliges

Organization. A. O. Smith Corporation (the company) is a manufest serving customers worldwide. The companyiajor product line
include residential and commercial gas and eleetater heating equipment, as well as fractionasépower alternating current, direct curr
and hermetic electric motors. The compangfoducts are manufactured and marketed primiariNorth America and China. Water heaters
sold through both wholesale and retail channelpltonbing wholesalers and retail outlets. Electriotons are sold principally to origir
equipment manufacturers and distributors.

Consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include tlw®ants of the company and its wholly owned subsies after elimination
intercompany transactions.

Use of estimates The preparation of financial statements in comity with accounting principles generally acceptadhe United State
requires management to make estimates and assaspiiat affect the amounts reported in the accogipgrfinancial statements and no
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Fair value of financial instruments . The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivaleatgivables, floating rate debt and trade pag
approximated fair value as of December 31, 2008204, due to the short maturities or frequent rasets of these instruments. The fair v
of term notes with insurance companies was appratgly $140.7 million as of December 31, 2008 coragawith the carrying amount
$150.1 million for the same period. The carryingoamt of term notes with insurance companies apprated fair value as of December
2007. The fair value is estimated based on curegas offered for debt with similar maturities.

Foreign currency translation. For all subsidiaries outside the United Statesh wit exception of all Mexican operations and twthe Chini
operations of the comparsyElectrical Products segment, the company usektla¢ currency as the functional currency. Forsthoperatior
using a functional currency other than the U.Sladplassets and liabilities are translated into.UWl&8lars at yeaend exchange rates, ¢
revenues and expenses are translated at weightrdge exchange rates. The resulting translatijustments are recorded as a sep
component of stockholders’ equity. The Mexican afiens and two of the Chinese operations of thepaoy’s Electrical Products segm
use the U.S. dollar as the functional currencyua$ ®perations are a direct and integral compooietiite companys U.S. operations. Gains ¢
losses from foreign currency transactions are ghedlin net earnings.

Cash and cash equivalents The company considers all highly liquid investitsamith a maturity of three months or less wherchased to k
cash equivalents.

Inventory valuation. Inventories are carried at lower of cost or marketst is determined on the last-in, fimit (LIFO) method fc
substantially all domestic inventories, which cois@r82 percent of the compansytotal inventory at December 31, 2008 and 2007eritorie:
of foreign subsidiaries and supplies are determirgdag the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.

Property, plant and equipment. Property, plant and equipment are stated at comprdziation is computed primarily by the straiihe
method. The estimated service lives used to cormgepecciation are generally 25 to 50 years fordigs, 3 to 20 years for equipment and
7 years for software. Maintenance and repair crgt®xpensed as incurred.

Goodwill and other intangibles. Goodwill and indefinitdived intangible assets are not amortized but akéewed for impairment on

annual basis. Intangible assets of $78.8 milliaziuding $32.1 million with an indefinite life wenecorded as part of the GSW Inc (G¢
acquisition (see Note 2). Indefinitied assets totaled $34.6 million and $38.0 milliat December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively
decrease in 2008 was due to currency translatiprsdent. Separable intangible assets primarilyprisad of customer relationships that
not deemed to have an indefinite life are amortiaeda straightine basis over their estimated useful lives whigahge from 10 to 25 yea
Amortization of $4.3 million, $4.5 million and $2illion was recorded in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respely. In the future, amortizati
should approximate $4.1 million annually and thtamgible assets will be amortized over a weightedrage period of 16 years. T¢
accumulated amortization at December 31, 2008 80d@ %as $12.5 million and $9.3 million, respectyel

Impairment of long-lived and amortizable intangible assetsProperty, plant and equipment and intangible assdigect to amortization
reviewed for impairment whenever events or chamgesrcumstances indicate that the carrying amaoay not be recoverable. If the sun
the expected undiscounted cash flows is less tieandrrying value of the related asset or
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group of assets, a loss is recognized for the reiffee between the fair value and carrying valuthefasset or group of assets. Such ang
necessarily involve significant judgment.

Derivative instruments. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFR&)133, as amended, requires that all derivatiggriiments &
recorded on the balance sheet at fair value amatlesties criteria for designation and effectiverafsthe hedging relationships. Any fair va
changes are recorded in net earnings or other arepsive earnings.

The company utilizes certain derivative instrumeatsnhance its ability to manage currency andésterate exposures as well as raw mate
price risks. Derivative instruments are entered fior periods consistent with the related undegy@xposures and do not constitute posi
independent of those exposures. The company ddesnter into contracts for speculative purposese Gbntracts are executed with m
financial institutions with no credit loss antictpd for failure of the counterparties to perform.

Commodity Futures Contracts

In addition to entering into supply arrangementthgnormal course of business, the company alsweimto futures contracts to fix the cos
certain raw material purchases, principally copped aluminum, with the objective of minimizing clgas in cost due to market pt
fluctuations.

The commodity futures contracts are designated amwdbunted for as cash flow hedges of a forecastathdction. Derivative commod
liabilities of $52.1 million and $3.5 million arecorded in current liabilities as of December 310&@and 2007 respectively. The value of
effective portion of the contracts of $(31.0) nafli and $(2.0) million as of December 31, 2008 af@72 respectively, was recordec
accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tad,veéll be reclassified into cost of products saddthe period in which the underlyi
transaction is recorded in earnings. Ineffectivetipns of the commodity hedges are recorded in iegsnin the period in which tl
ineffectiveness occurs. The impact of hedge inéffeness on earnings was not material in 2008, 201@72006.

Foreign Currency Forward Contrac

The company is exposed to foreign currency exchaisgeas a result of transactions in currenciegiothan the functional currency of cern
subsidiaries. The company utilizes foreign currefmgyward purchase and sale contracts to managevdlatility associated with forei
currency purchases, sales and certain intercomgpanyactions in the normal course of business.r@otst typically have maturities of one y
or less. Principal currencies include the Mexicaag Chinese renminbi, Canadian dollar and Euro.

Forward contracts are designated and accountedsfarash flow hedges of a forecasted transactiorivdd®e currency liabilities of $19
million and assets of $2.9 million as of DecembEr 3008 and 2007, respectively, were recorded hieroturrent liabilities and assets. Gi
and losses on these instruments are recorded immadated other comprehensive loss, net of tax] theiunderlying transaction is recorde:
earnings. When the hedged item is realized, gainssses are reclassified from accumulated otherpcehensive loss to the statemer
earnings. The assessment of effectiveness for fdra@ntracts is based on changes in the forwasdrdthese hedges have been determir
be perfectly effective.

The majority of the amounts in accumulated othenm@hensive loss for cash flow hedges is expeddzttreclassified into earnings wit
one year.
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The following table summarizes, by currency, thetcactual amounts of the company’s foreign currefiocyard contracts.

December 31 (dollars in million: 2008 2007
Buy Sell Buy Sell
Euro $ 6.1 $19 $ 5E $ 2.2
Canadian dolla - 17.1 - 24.1
Hungarian forint - - 1kt -
Chinese renmink 64.¢ - 32.t -
Mexican pest 110.3 - 85.F -
Total $181.2 $19.C $125.( $26.2

The forward contracts in place at December 31, 2808 2007, amounted to approximately 69 percent@hgercent, respectively, of -
company'’s anticipated subsequent year exposutidse currencies hedged.

Interest Rate Swap Agreem:

The company is exposed to interest rate risk assaltrof its floating rate borrowings under its abing credit facility. The company us
interest rate swaps to manage this risk. As of Béez 31, 2008, the company had one interest ratg swtstanding in the amount of ¢
million that expires in November 2010.

The interest rate swap is designated and accodateals a cash flow hedge of floating rate debt. ekivchtive interest rate liability of $1
million and $0.7 million as of December 31, 2008 a&2007, respectively were recorded in accrued liids. Gains and losses on i
instrument are recorded in accumulated other congm&ve loss, net of tax, until the underlying s@ation is recorded in earnings. Wher
hedged item is realized, gains or losses are gfiks from accumulated other comprehensive loghecstatement of earnings. The assess
of effectiveness for the interest rate swap is thase changes in floating rate interest rates. Biiap has been determined to be perf
effective.

Fair Value Measurements.The company adopted SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Mesments” (“SFAS 157"pn January 1, 2008. SFAS 1
among other things, defines fair value, establigshesnsistent framework for measuring fair valud earpands disclosure for each major ¢
and liability category measured at fair value athexi a recurring basis or nonrecurring basis. SEBB clarifies that fair value is an exit pri
representing the amount that would be receivedetb an asset or paid to transfer a liability in arderly transaction between mai
participants. As such fair value is a markased measurement that should be determined basassomptions that market participants w
use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis donsidering such assumptions, SFAS 157 estakliahtredier fair value hierarchy, whic
prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair vasisefollows: (Level 1) observable inputs such asteg prices in active markets; (Leve
inputs, other than the quoted prices in active met@kthat are observable either directly or indiye@and (Level 3) unobservable inputs in wt
there is little or no market data, which require thporting entity to develop its own assumptions.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value @geld on the market approach which is prices aret ofievant information generated by ma
transactions involving identical or comparable &sse liabilities.

Liabilities measured at fair value on a recurrirgib are as follows (dollars in millions):

Fair Value Measurement Usil
Quoted Prices In Active

Markets for Identical Contrac Significant Other Observat
Total
Description December 31, 20( (Level 1) Inputs (Level 2!
Net derivative contract $ (73.0) $ (52.1) $ (20.9)
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There were no changes in our valuation techniqeed to measure fair values on a recurring basasrasult of adopting SFAS 157.

Revenue recognition.The company recognizes revenue upon transfer lef tithich occurs upon shipment of the product ® thistome
except for certain export sales where transfeitlefdccurs when the product reaches the custoesirdtion.

Contracts and customer purchase orders are usddtéomine the existence of a sales arrangemerppiBigi documents are used to ve
shipment. The company assesses whether the spillo®is fixed or determinable based upon the payreems associated with the transac
and whether the sales price is subject to refurebparstment. The company assesses collectibilisgd@n the creditworthiness of the custc
as determined by credit checks and analysis, asasghe customes’ payment history, and does not require collatenagales. The allowan
for doubtful accounts was $6.3 million and $7.2limil at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Accruals for customer returns for defective prodad based on historical experience with similgresy of sales. Accruals for rebates
incentives are based on pricing agreements antlesr¢o sales volume. Changes in such accrualsbeagquired if future returns differ frc
historical experience or if actual sales voluméedsf from estimated sales volume. Rebates and tivesrare recognized as a reduction of si

Shipping and handling costs billed to customerdraided in net sales and the related costs atedad in cost of products sold.

Advertising. Advertising costs are charged to operations asriaduand amounted to $40.3, $38.0 and $30.5 millioring 2008, 2007 a
2006, respectively.

Research and developmentResearch and development costs are charged totiopsras incurred and amounted to $48.5, $47.8%2d
million during 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Product warranties. The companys products carry warranties that generally rangenfone to ten years and are based on terms tr
generally accepted in the market. The company dscarliability for the expected cost of warrangyated claims at the time of sale.
allocation of our warranty liability between curteand longterm is based on expected warranty claims to bt ipahe next year as determi
by historical product failure rates.

The following table presents the company’s produetranty liability activity in 2008 and 2007:

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millio 2008 2007

Balance at beginning of ye $105.5 $ 98.7
GSW acquisitior — 5.0
Expense 73.C 54.¢
Claims settlec (66.7) (53.0
Balance at end of ye: $111.¢ $105.£

Environmental costs.The company accrues for losses associated witli@maental obligations when such losses are prolsidereasonahb
estimable. Costs of estimated future expendituresat discounted to their present value. Recosearieenvironmental costs from other pai
are recorded as assets when their receipt is aaesighrobable. The accruals are adjusted as fadtsicumstances change.

Stock-based compensatiorEffective January 1, 2006, the company adopteceBi@mnt of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”). B3
(R), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123(R)"), usihg tmodifiedprospective transition method. Under that methochgensation cost

recognized beginning with the effective date (adshon the requirements of SFAS 123(R) for all sbased payments granted after
effective date and (b) based on the requiremen8afS 123 for all awards granted to employees poidhe effective date of SFAS 123(R) 1
remain unvested on the effective date. SFAS 12B@8&)no impact on the compasyfinancial position, statement of operations @hctows a
the date of adoption. SFAS 123(R) requires measemerof the cost of employee services received ichamge for an award of eqt
instruments based on the fair value of the awartheaidate of grant. Compensation cost is recognisiuy the straighline method over tt
vesting period of the award. SFAS 123(R) also neguthe benefits of tax deductions in excess afgeized compensation
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cost to be reported as a financing cash flow, ratifven as an operating cash flow as required upder literature. Excess tax deduction:
$1.1 million, $4.8 million and $4.2 million wereaegnized as a financing cash flow in 2008, 2007 20@6, respectively. This requirem
reduced net operating cash flows and increasedimatcing cash flows in periods after adoption. T™oenpany cannot estimate what tr
amounts will be in the future because they dependumong other things, when employees exercisé siotons.

Earnings per share of common stockThe numerator for the calculation of basic andtdduearnings per share is net earnings. The fatig
table sets forth the computation of basic and dilweighted-average shares used in the earninghpe calculations:

2008 2007 2006
Denominator for basic earnings per st- weighte-average shares outstand 30,061,37 30,560,72 30,406,08
Effect of dilutive stock options, restricted staakd share unit 228,59t 412,35! 597,78!
Denominator for diluted earnings per sh 30,289,97 30,973,08 31,003,87

Restricted marketable securitiesAs described in Note 2, the company acquired GSR0D6. GSW operated a captive insurance comp:
provide product liability and general liability imsance to its subsidiary American Water Heater (@merican). The company decided to cc
American’s prospective liability exposures with its existimgurance programs and all product liability claifor events which occurred pr
to July 1, 2006 will be financed by the captiveeTinsurance company restricts the amount ofalaptiich must be maintained by the car
and this restricted amount is $26.3 million and.$38&illion at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respehtivihe $26.3 million and $38.9 milli
of restricted money market instruments are incluiedther assets on the compayalance sheet at December 31, 2008 and
respectively. The cost of the money market instmisiapproximates fair value.

Recent accounting pronouncementsn March 2008, the Financial Accounting Standardsil (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 161Disclosure
about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities Amendment of FASB No. 133,” (“SFAS 1613FAS 161 is intended to imprc
transparency in financial reporting by requiringhanced disclosures of an entgyderivative instruments and hedging activities i effect
on the entity financial position, financial performance, andtcdlows. SFAS 161 applies to all derivative instants within the scope
SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instrumerand Hedging Activities,” (“SFAS 133”). SFAS 161s@ applies to nomlerivative
hedging instruments and all hedged items designatetl qualifying under SFAS 133. SFAS 161 is effectprospectively for financi
statements issued for fiscal years and interimogesribeginning after November 15, 2008, with eagpli@ation encouraged. SFAS
encourages, but does not require, comparativeadisms for periods prior to its initial adoptioneWill adopt SFAS 161 on January 1, 2
and are currently evaluating the potential impacbar financial statements when implemented.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 16@ntontrolling Interests in Consolidated Finan@shtements, an amendment of A
No. 51", (“SFAS 160"). SFAS 160 changes the accounting and reporting foonity interests, which will be recharacterizednascontrolling
interests and classified as a component of eqUiltis new consolidation method changes the accagifitintransactions with minority inter:
holders. SFAS 160 is effective beginning in 2009option of this statement will impact our accougtifor any future transactions wh
include a noncontrolling interest.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141@)siness Combinations,” (“SFAS 141(R)'$FAS 141(R) requires us to continu
follow the guidance in SFAS 141 for certain aspemftsbusiness combinations, with additional guidapcevided defining the acquin
recognizing and measuring the identifiable assetgliiged, the liabilities assumed, and any noncdiirigpinterest in the acquiree, assets
liabilities arising from contingencies, definingargain purchase and recognizing and measuringvgth@d a gain from a bargain purchase
addition, certain transaction costs previously &diged as part of the purchase price will be espénas incurred. Also, under SFAS 14:
adjustments associated with changes in tax comitige that occur after the one year measuremeiddpare recorded as adjustment
income. This statement is effective for all bussnesmbinations for which the acquisition date isoorafter the beginning of an entiyfirsi
fiscal year that begins after December 15, 200&dver, the guidance in this standard regardindgrér@ment of income tax
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contingencies is retrospective to business comibimatcompleted prior to January 1, 2009. We wilb@dSFAS 141(R) for any busin
combinations occurring at or subsequent to Janba2@09.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, Fh& Value Option for Financial Assets and Finahdiiabilities—including ai
amendment of FASB Statement No. 115 (“SFAS 15@/hich permits entities to choose to measure mamgnfiial instruments and cert
other items at fair value. The objective is to ioye financial reporting by providing entities withe opportunity to mitigate volatility
reported earnings caused by measuring relatedsaasétliabilities without having to apply compleadge accounting provisions. We adoj
SFAS 159 on January 1, 2008. Adoption of this state did not have an affect on our consolidatedrfaial condition, results of operation:
cash flows.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 15&ir alue Measurements.” (“SFAS 157'3FAS 157 defines fair value, establish:
framework for measuring fair value and expandslds&ges about fair value measurements. SFAS 1%/ esitablishes a fair value hierar
that prioritizes information used in developingaaptions when pricing an asset or liability. Asatissed earlier in this footnote we ado
SFAS 157 on January 1, 2008. Adoption of this stetg did not have a material impact on our constdéid financial condition, results
operations or cash flows.

2. Acquisitions

On April 3, 2006, the company acquired GSW, a mhpliraded Canadiabased manufacturer which operated in two businegsents: wati
heaters and building products. The water heatiggneat manufactures and markets water heaters sdidei U.S. and Canada througf
American and GSW Water Heater subsidiaries. Théiaddf GSW to the company’s existing water heateerations expanded the company’
share of the growing retail channel of the U.Sidegtial water heater market segment as well aed@sed its presence in the Cana
residential water heater market segment. On Decefrthe2006, the company sold the building prodbeisiness for $11.4 million and in 20
recorded a reduction in sales proceeds of $0.4omidssociated with a working capital adjustmet. &counting purposes, the operatior
the building products business are reported asauiinued operation.

The aggregate purchase price, net of $39.3 milbbrcash acquired, was $307.7 million. This was cosegl of $339.3 million for tt
outstanding stock and $7.7 million of acquisitiopsts principally incurred in 2005. In addition, $36nillion of payments were made
change in control provisions and tax liabilities@sed.

The following table summarizes the estimated faiug of the assets acquired and liabilities assuatéde date of acquisition as finalize
2007. The nomdeductible goodwill has been recorded within theté/&roducts segment. Of the $78.8 million of acegliintangible asse
$32.1 million was assigned to indefiniteed trademarks that are not subject to amortimatand $46.7 million was assigned primaril
customer relationships which have amortizationqukriranging from 10 to 25 years.

April 3, 2006 (dollars in millions
Current assets, net of cash acqu
Current assets held for s
Property, plant and equipme
Intangible assel
Goodwill
Other asset

Total assets acquire
Current liabilities
Current liabilities held for sal

&+
=
(63}
g
[N

=g =

ADRNWONOD R
PODhOWOOO®
NimAalmAPmmmme

Long-term liabilities 88.4
Total liabilities assume 236.°
Net assets acquire $307.7

The acquisition was accounted for using the pureimasthod of accounting, and accordingly, the resflbperations have been included ir
company’s financial statements from the April 30@@late of acquisition.

The pro forma unaudited results of operations ffier year ended December 31, 2006 assuming consuomtdtthe purchase as of Januai
2006, would result in diluted earnings per shar$259 compared to stated diluted earnings peeshie$2.47.
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3. Restructuring and Other Charges
Electrical Products Restructuring and Related Ches

In 2006, $7.3 million of expense was recognizedliercontinuation of domestic repositioning acist The majority of the charge is relate
the closure of the McMinnville, TN, motor fabricati plant which was completed in the first quarteR@07. Additionally, a pretax charge
$1.6 million was recognized for the closure of Traézhou, China plant which was closed in the fouytlarter of 2006.

In 2007, $13.6 million of expense was recognizediie continuation of domestic repositioning a¢iég. Included in this full year amount is
asset impairment charge of $10.6 million. The mbjasf the domestic repositioning charges relatéh® closure of the Scottsville, KY &
Mebane, NC production facilities resultiimgthe consolidation of the hermetic motor assenaplgrations in Acuna, Mexico and Suzhou, Ct
The closures were completed in the fourth quat@008.

Additionally, in 2007, Electrical Products recogeiz$9.2 million of expense (of which $7.5 millioman asset impairment charge), and a
million tax benefit related to the closure of itadapest, Hungary facility. The closure of its BugstpHungary facility resulted in the remair
operations being transferred to China. The plasged in the second quarter of 2008.

In 2008, $8.7 million of expense was recognized deverance and asset impairment and moving costxiated with the completion
Electrical Products restructuring programs. Inctudte this amount was a nontaxable $2.9 million fabde translation adjustment recogni
upon closure of the Budapest, Hungary facility.

The following table presents an analysis of the gany’s Electrical Products restructuring reserve asndffar the years ended Decembel
2008 , 2007 and 2006 (dollars in millions):

Lease
Severanc Cancellatiol
Asset
Costs Costs Impairmen Othel Total
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 1.2 1kt $ 0.5 $ - $ 32
Expense recognize 3.6 (0.7 5.4 - 8.9
Cash payment 3.3 (1.9 - - (4.7
Asset dispose - - (0.9 - (0.9
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 1.5 $ = $ 5.2 $ - $ 7.C
Expense recognize 3.7 - 18.1 1.C 22.¢
Cash payment (2.2 - - 0.2 (2.3
Asset disposal/wri-down - - (23.6) - (23.6)
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 3.C $ - $ - $ 0. $ 3.9
Expense recognize 4.2 - 2.8 1.€ 8.7
Cash payment (5.6) - - (4.8 (10.9)
Asset disposal/wri-down - - (2.€ - (2.9
Cumulative translation adjustme - - - 2.8 2.9
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 1.6 $ - $ - $ 0.6 $ 22

Other Charges — Tower Automotive, Inc.

The company was the primary lessee on a facil@gdein Corydon, Indiana related to a business teoltbwer Automotive, Inc. (Tower)
1997. The company entered into a sublease arrangemith Tower in 1997 with the same terms and ctond$ as the company lease. To
filed for bankruptcy on February 2, 2005 and suhbsetly notified the company that it would rejecetBublease arrangement effec
October 1, 2005. In order to minimize costs, thenpany purchased the Corydon facility for $4.5 miilion October 11, 2005. The comp
recognized $0.5 million, $0.5 million and $0.4 naiii expense in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectivelgted to facility maintenance and
company'’s estimate of its ultimate net loss up@pasition of this facility.
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Other Charges — Previously Owned Businesses

In 2007, the company recognized $1.4 million ofenge associated with retained liabilities of praslg owned businesses which were sol
the company between 19972001. The majority of the $1.4 million expenseefated to certain costs associated with previoaslped ree
estate. The company recognized expense of $0.®miil 2006 related to the settlement of an envirental liability.

4. Statement of Cash Flows

Supplemental cash flow information is as follows:

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millio 2008 2007 2006
Net change in current assets and liabilities, hiacquisitions:
Receivable: $51.€ $(36.5) $(15.7)
Inventories (20.2) 32.1 (28.€)
Other current asse (24.: 0.6 15
Trade payable (30.9 19.C 31.2
Accrued liabilities, including payroll and benet (12.5) 18.4 1.9
Income taxe: 1.6 (7.2 (11.9
$(34.9 $ 26.4 $(21.1)
5. Inventories
December 31 (dollars in million: 2008 2007
Finished product $221.€ $177.¢
Work in proces: 55.7 50.C
Raw material 125.1 112.¢
Inventories, at FIFO co: 402.¢ 340.7
LIFO reserve 120.< 78.€
$282.( $261.¢

The company recognized after-tax LIFO income 08$34.3 and $0.6 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006petively.
6. Property, Plant and Equipment

December 31 (dollars in million: 2008 2007
Land $ 11.€ $ 12.f
Buildings 183.¢ 188.7
Equipment 741.5 711.5
Software 43.4 40.¢
979.¢ 953.¢

Less accumulated depreciation and amortize 561.( 532.t
$418.¢ $421.1
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7. Goodwill
Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, caheistiee following:

Water Electrica
(dollars in millions) Product Products Total
Balance at December 31, 2C 253.¢ 245.¢ 499.7
Finalization of purchase price allocation relate@®06 acquisition of business (see
note 2) 6.4 - 6.4
Adjustment to 2002 acquisition (see note (2.3 - 2.3
Currency translation adjustme 8.1 - 8.1
Balance at December 31, 20 267.1 245.¢ 512.¢
Currency translation adjustme (10.9 2.2 (7.9
Balance at December 31, 20 $ 257.1 $ 248.( $505.1

The company concluded that no impairment existettieatime of the annual impairment tests which wmzgormed in the fourth quarters
2008, 2007 and 2006. The two reporting units usddgt goodwill for impairment are listed above.

8. Debt and Lease Commitments

December 31 (dollars in million: 2008 2007
Bank credit lines, average y-end interest rat

of 1.0% for 200¢ $ 23.€ $ 7
Revolving credit agreement borrowings, average

yeal-end interest rate of 1.6% for 2008 and 5.5% for7z 90.C 40.C
Commercial paper, average year-end interest rate

of 2.4% for 2008 and 5.1% for 201 20.7 116.¢
Term notes with insurance companies, expiring t

2018, average ye-end interest rate of 6.0% for 2008 and 6.1% for7z 125.¢ 135.1
Other notes, expiring through 2012, average yedr-en

interest rate of 3.0% for 2008 and 3.6% for 2 6.5 12.F
Canadian revolving credit agreement borrowings,

average yei-end interest rate of 2.0% for 2008 and 5.0% for7z 43.€ 60.5
Canadian term notes with insurance companies, iegpinrough

2018, average ye-end interest rate of 5.3% for 2008 and 2 24.7 30.2

334.¢ 395.2

Less lon-term debt due within one ye 17.5 15.€
Long-term debi $317.2 $379.¢

The company has a $425 million multi-year meliirency revolving credit agreement with a groupeadht banks, which expires
February 17, 2011. The facility has an accordioovigion which allows it to be increased up to $30illion if certain conditions (includir
lender approval) are satisfied. Borrowings undexr tompanys bank credit lines and commercial paper borrowiags supported by t
revolving credit agreement. As a result of the loagn nature of this facility, the commercial paped credit line borrowings are classifiet
longterm debt at December 31, 2008 and 2007. At it®oopthe company maintains either cash balancgsaygs fees for bank credit e
services.

Scheduled maturities of long-term debt within eafhhe five years subsequent to December 31, 28@8as follows: 2009-$17.5; 2040
$21.1; 2011-$196.7; 2012-$25.1; 2013-$18.6 million.
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8. Debt and Lease Commitments (continued)

Future minimum payments under noancelable operating leases relating mostly taeffmanufacturing and warehouse facilities tota.q
million and are due as follows: 2009-$14.0; 2010.31 2011 $6.8; 2012 $4.0; 2013-$2.7, and thereaft&l0.7 million. Rent expens
including payments under operating leases, wa€0$$26.6 and $25.6 million in 2008, 2007 and 2086pectively.

Interest paid by the company was $19.2, $26.7 @4d9million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
9. Stockholders’ Equity

The companys authorized capital consists of 3 million sharePferred Stock $1 par value, 14 million share€lass A Common Stock
par value, and 60 million shares of Common Stock&ivalue. The Common Stock has equal dividenusigith Class A Common Stock ¢
is entitled, as a class, to elect 25 percent oBib&rd of Directors and has 1/10th vote per sharalbother matters. Class A Common Stoc
convertible to Common Stock on a one for one basis.

During 2008, 2007 and 2006, 11,079, 23,540 and9®3shares, respectively, of Class A Common Stostewonverted into Common Stc
Regular dividends paid on the Class A Common S&yek Common Stock amounted to $.74, $.70 and $.66hae in 2008, 2007 and 2C
respectively.

In February 2007, the compasyBoard of Directors authorized the purchase afoup,000,000 shares of its outstanding Common Staslof
December 31, 2007, the company has completed tbgrgm at a total cost of $36.6 million. In DecemB@607, the compang’Board ¢
Directors authorized the purchase of an additian@00,000 shares of its outstanding Common Stookshidires were purchased in 2008.

At December 31, 2008, 32,595 and 2,339,033 shdr€tass A Common Stock and Common Stock, respdgtiveere held as treasury sto
At December 31, 2007, 32,595 and 2,463,745 shdrétaes A Common Stock and Common Stock, respdygtiweere held as treasury stock.

Accumulated other comprehensive loss is as follows:

December 31 (dollars in million: 2008 2007
Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustme $ 134 $ 7.8
Unrealized net loss on cash flow derivative instenis (43.9) (0.7
Pension liability (251.9 (106.9
$(281.9 $ (99.9

10. Stock Based Compensation

The company adopted the A. O. Smith Combined Ineer@ompensation Plan (the “plaréffective January 1, 2007. The plan is a contirmun
of the A. O. Smith Combined Executive Incentive @amsation Plan which was originally approved byrshalders in 2002. The pl
provides for the issuance of 1,250,000 stock optioestricted stock or share units. Stock optigrsissued at exercise prices equal to the
value of Common Stock on the date of grant. Adddity, any shares that would have been availabilstfick options, restricted stock or st
units under the predecessor plan, if that plan iwaffect, will be available for granting of shdrased awards under the plan. The numb
shares available for granting of options or shamiéswat December 31, 2008, was 893,124. Upon siptikn exercise, restricted stock gran
share unit vesting, shares are issued from Treasack.

Total stock based compensation cost recognize08,2007 and 2006 was $5.0, $4.6 and $2.8 milkespectively.
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10. Stock Based Compensation (continued)
Stock options

The stock options granted in 2008, 2007 and 200 lathree year pro rata vesting from the dateraifitg For active employees, all opti
granted in 2008, 2007 and 2006 expire ten yeaes dfte of grant. Stock option compensation reasghin 2008, 2007 and 2006 was ¢
$1.7 and $0.7 million, respectively. Included ie stock option expense recognized in 2008 and B08xpense associated with the accele
vesting of stock option awards for certain emplayefo either are retirement eligible or becomeegtent eligible during the vesting period.

Changes in option shares, all of which are Comntooks were as follows:

(dollars in millions

WeightedAvg. Aggregate
Per Shart Years Ended December Intrinsic Value
Exercise Prict 2008 2007 2006
Outstanding at beginning of ye $27.01 1,117,43.  1,443,90I 1,920,85I
Granted
200¢&--$32.01 to $35.64 per she 34.94 212,50(
2007--$38.76 to $40.27 per she 164,80(
200€--$36.03 per shat 18,00(
Exercisec
200¢&--$18.31 to $29.20 per she 19.04 (40,067 $ 0.6
2007--$13.56 to $29.20 per she (488,06¢) 12.4
200€--$13.56 to $29.83 per she (494,95() 10.8
Terminatec
200¢--$35.64 per shat (800
2007--$29.20 to $38.76 per she (3,200
Outstanding at end of ye
(200¢--$13.56 to $40.27 per shai 28.40 1,289,060 1,117,43. 1,443,90i
Exercisable at end of ye 25.74 963,03« 845,60: 1,274,56

The aggregate intrinsic value for the outstanding @xercisable options as of December 31, 2008.5 /illion and $4.5 million, respective
The average remaining contractual life for outstagp@nd exercisable options is 6 years and 5 yeaspgectively.
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10. Stock Based Compensation (continued)

The following table summarizes weightaderage information by range of exercise pricesstock options outstanding and exercisab
December 31, 2008:

Options Options Weighted-

Outstanding ¢ Weighte«- Exercisable ¢ Weighte«- Average

Average Average Remaining

Range of December 31 Exercise December 3: Exercise Contractue

Exercise Price 2008 Price 2008 Price Life
$13.56 76,30( $ 13.56 76,300 $ 13.56 2 years
$15.14 128,30C 15.14 128,30C 15.14 3 years
$23.98 to $40.2 1,084,467 31.01 758,434 28.76 7 years
1,289,067 963,034

The weighted-average fair value per option at @e @f grant during 2008, 2007 and 2006, usingllaek-Scholes optiopricing model, wa
$11.59, $14.43 and $12.94, respectively. Assumptwere as follows:

2008 2007 2006
Expected life (years 6.4 6.5 6.4
Risk-free interest rat 3.7% 4.7% 4.4%
Dividend yield 2.0% 1.8% 2.2%
Expected volatility 35.1% 36.0% 38.0%

The expected life is based on historical exercifealior and the projected exercise of unexercisatkoptions. The risk free interest rat
based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effecthendate of grant for the respective expectedoliftne option. The expected dividend yiel
based on the expected annual dividends dividechbygtant date market value of our common stock. &tpected volatility is based on
historical volatility of our common stock.

Restricted stock and share ur

Participants may also be awarded shares of resdrigiock or share units under the plan. The compaagted 144,008, 68,600, and 21,
share units under the plan in 2008, 2007 and 2@3pectively. Included in the 2008 grant are shiaits granted on April 30, 2008 which
subject to performance conditions and which wiktven December 31, 2010. The ultimate number afeshaits that will vest will range fro
zero to 96,000 based on the average of the compamyiual return on equity for the eleven quartading December 31, 2010. Compense
expense will be recognized ratably over the vegtiergod as long as achievement of the performaanditions is considered probable.

The restricted stock and share units were valugdl& $2.7 and $0.8 million at the date of isseanc2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively,
will be recognized as compensation expense rata®y the thregrear vesting period. Compensation expense of $18 and $2.3 millio
was recognized in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectietyuded in share based compensation expensgnizeal in 2008 and 2007 is expe
associated with the accelerated vesting of shaieawards for certain employees who either arereetent eligible or become retirem
eligible during the vesting period.

A summary of restricted stock and share unit agtivinder the plan is as follows:

Weighte«-Average

Number of Unit Grant Date Valui
Outstanding at January 1, 20 212,50( $32.91
Granted 144,00t 33.69
Vested (123,900) 28.54
Terminatec (626) 35.64
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 231,98. $35.40
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10. Stock Based Compensation (continued)

Total compensation expense for restricted stockstwade units not yet recognized is $3.5 millio®atember 31, 2008. The weighted ave
period over which the expense is expected to begrézed is one year.

11. Pension and Other Post-retirement Benefits

The company provides retirement benefits for alitéth States employees including benefits for emgésyof previously owned busines
which were earned up to the date of sale. The cagnpéso has several foreign pension plans, nonghi¢h are material to the compasay’
financial position.

The company has a definedntribution profit sharing and retirement plan eomg the majority of its salaried nonunion empleyevhict
provides for annual company contributions of 35cpat to 140 percent of qualifying contributions mduly participating employees. 1
amount of the company’s contribution in excess ®fp@rcent is dependent upon the company’s profityabl he company also has defined-
contribution plans for certain hourly employees ethprovide for annual matching company contribugion

The company has unfunded defined-benefit petement plans covering certain hourly and sathemployees that provide medical and
insurance benefits from retirement to age 65. @ehaurly employees retiring after January 1, 199®, subject to a maximum annual bel
and salaried employees hired after December 313,288 not eligible for post-retirement medical éf@s.

On December 31, 2006, the company adopted SFASL5&).“Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and OtRestretiremel
Plans - an amendment of FASB Statements No. 871@8,and 132(R).SFAS 158 requires that the company recognize tleefuvded ¢
underfunded status of its defined benefit andeetimedical plans as an asset or liability in tHarz® sheet with changes in the funded s
recognized through comprehensive income in the yeawhich they occur. The impact of adoption wasree time before tax charge
accumulated other comprehensive loss of $28.3anilli

43



Table of Contents

11. Pension and Other Post-retirement Benefite¢ntinued)

Obligations and Funded Status

Pension and Post-Retirement Disclosure Informatiotynder FASB Statements 132 and 158

The following tables present the changes in bewpéfigations, plan assets and funded status foredtimpension and posttirement plans ai

the components of net periodic benefit costs.

Pension Benefit

Pos-retirement Benefit

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millio 2008 2007 2008 2007
Accumulated Benefit Obligation (ABO) at December 3: $ 760.2 $ 754.1 N/A N/A
Change in benefit obligations (PBO

PBO at beginning of ye: $(777.7) $(821.9 $ (17.9 $ (17.9
Service cos (8.9 (10.9 (0.2 (0.2
Interest cos (49.7) (47.6¢ (2.0 (2.0
Participant contribution - - (0.9 (0.6)
Plan amendmen (0.2 (0.9 - -
Actuarial (loss)/gain including assumption chan (8.0) 42.¢ 0.6 0.8
Benefits paic 60.4 58.2 1.3 1.4
Curtailment - 2.4 - -
PBO at end of yee $(782.¢) $(777.7) $ (16.9 $ (@179
Change in Fair Value of Plan Asset:

Plan assets at beginning of y $ 737.¢ $ 723.F $ = $ =
Actual return on plan asse (175.%) 56.¢€ - -
Contribution by the compar 17.5 16.C 0.9 0.9
Participant contribution - - 0.4 0.6
Benefits paic (60.4) (58.2) (1.3 (1.5)
Plan assets at end of y $519.7 $737.¢ $ - $ -
Funded status $(263.7%) $ (39.9) $ (16.9 $ (17.9
Amount recognized in the balance shet

Current liabilities $ - $ = $ (1.5 $ (1.5
Non-current liabilities (263.7) (39.2) (15.9) (15.7)
Net pension liability at end of ye $(263.7)* $ (39.9)* $ (169 $ (179
Amounts recognized in Accumulated Other Comprehense Loss Before Tay

Net actuarial loss/(gair $414.¢ $176.2 $ .7 $ (1.2
Prior service cos (0.2) 0.3 0.1 0.1
Total recognized in accumulated other comprehereb& $414.2 $176. $ (1.6) $ (1.0)

* In addition the company has recorded a liability ddoreign pension plan of $0.3 million and $0.8lion at December 31, 2008 and 2C
respectively and an accumulated other comprehefssgeof $0.5 million at December 31, 2008 and 2!
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11. Pension and Other Post-retirement Benefite¢ntinued)

Pension Benefit Pos-retirement Benefit

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millio 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006
Net periodic benefit cosi
Service cos $ 8¢ $104 $10: $ 02 $ 02 $ 0.2
Interest cos 49.1 47.€ 46.€ 1.C 1.C 1.C
Expected return on plan ass (62.4 (60.7) (60.2) - - -
Amortization of unrecognizes

Net actuarial los 7.8 12.7 14.7 (0.7 0.2 -

Prior service cos 0.€ 0.t 0.t - - -
Curtailment and other o-time charge: - 1.1 - - - -
Definec-benefit plan cos 4.C 12.2 11¢ $ 11 $ 14 $ 1.2
Various U.S. defined contribution plans c 5.4 6. 4.€

$ 94 $19.1 $16.5

Other Changes in Plan Assets and Projected Benefitbligation Recognized in
Other Comprehensive Earnings

Net actuarial (gain) los $246.1 $(41.3) N/A $ (0.6) $ (0.9 N/A
Amortization of net actuarial lo¢ (7.9 (139 N/A 0.1 0.1 N/A
Prior service cos 0.1 0.4 N/A - - N/A
Amortization of prior service co: (0.7) (0.5 N/A - - N/A
Total recognized in other comprehensive earn 237.1 (54.9 N/A (0.9 (0.€ N/A
Total Recognized in Net Periodic Cost and Other Coprehensive Earnings $241.¢  $(42.¢ NJA $ 06 $ 0. N/A

The estimated net actuarial loss and prior servist for the pension plans that will be amortizexf accumulated other comprehensive
into net periodic benefit cost during 2009 are $Irillion and $0.3 million, respectively. The estited net actuarial loss and prior year se
cost for the postetirement benefit plans that will be amortizedhiraccumulated other comprehensive loss into nébgierbenefit cost durir
2009 are each less than $0.1 million. As permitteder paragraph 26 of FASB Statement No. 87 analgpaph 53 of Statement No. 106,
amortization of any prior service cost is deterrdinsing a straighline amortization of the cost over the average iiaing service period 1
employees expected to receive benefits under e Pl

The 2008 and 2007 after tax adjustments for adwitioninimum pension liability resulted in other gomhensive gain (loss) of $(14¢
million and $33.8 million, respectively.

Assumptions

Actuarial assumptions used to determine benefigabbns at December 31 are as follows:

Pension Benefit Pos-retirement Benefit
2008 2007 2008 2007
Discount rate 6.6% 6.5% 6.6% 6.5%
Average salary increas 4.0% 4.0% 4.0% 4.0%

Actuarial assumptions used to determine net pearibenefit cost for the year ended December 31sfellaws:

Pension Benefit Pos-retirement Benefit
Years ended December 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006
Discount rate 6.50% 5.90% 5.75% 6.50% 5.90% 5.75%
Expected lon-term return on plan asse¢ 8.75% 8.75% 8.75% n/a n/a n/a
Rate of compensation incree 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00%
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11. Pension and Other Post-retirement Benefits (otinued)

In developing the expected long-term rate of re@ssumption, the company evaluated its pensior planget and actual asset allocation
historical long-term rates of return of equity amohd indices. The company also considered its panslian’s historical 10-year and 3gal
compounded annualized returns of 4.0 percent arg@ligécent, respectively.

Assumed health care cost trend rates

Assumed health care cost trend rates as of Deceddb&rmre as follows:

2008 2007
Health care cost trend rate assumed for next 10.00%  10.00%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed tlinge¢he ultimate trend ratt 5.00%  5.00%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend 2014 2013

A one-percentage-point change in the assumed hemléhcost trend rates would not result in a maitéripact on the comparg/‘consolidate
financial statements.

Plan Assets

The company’s pension plan weighted asset allatatés of December 31 by asset category are asvfollo

Asset Categor 200¢ 2007
Equity securitie: 55% 71%
Debt securitie: 36 24
Private equity 6 4
Other 3 1

10C% 10C%

The companyg target allocation to equity managers is betwdeto&0 percent with the remainder allocated pritpan bond managers ant
small allocation to private equity managers. Thepany regularly reviews its actual asset allocasind periodically rebalances its investm
to the targeted allocation when considered appatgri

There is no company stock included in plan asgdieeember 31, 2008 and 2007.
Cash Flows

In 2008, the company made contributions of $17.oniand will be required to make a contributioh$18 million in 2009. The company
anticipating making a contribution in 2009 in tlege of $18 to $35 million.
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11. Pension and Other Post-retirement Benefits (otinued)
Estimated Future Payments
The following benefit payments, which reflect exigecfuture service, as appropriate, are expectée jmaid:

Postretiremen

Years ending December 31 (dollars in millio Pension Benefi Benefits
2009 $ 593 $ 15
2010 59.1 1.6
2011 58.8 1.6
2012 58.6 1.5
2013 58.8 1.5
Years 201+ 2018 294.3 6.7

12. Income Taxes

The components of the provision for income taxemfcontinuing operations consisted of the following

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millio 2008 2007 2006
Current:
Federa $2C $ 6.2 $18.C
State 2.8 4.2 34
Internationa 14.4 3.6 3.8
Deferred:
Federa 8.¢ (2.7 0.t
State 0.5 (2.2) 0.4
Internationa (0.9) 2.2 2.5
$27.¢ $11.5 $28.€

The provision for income taxes differs from the Uf&leral statutory rate due to the following items

Years ended December 200¢ 2007 200¢€
Provision at U.S. federal statutory r: 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
U.S. tax benefit for closure of Budapest, Hungawility - (9.€ -
State income and franchise taxes, net of federafiie 1.8 14 2.4
International income tax rate different (11.2) (12.9) (10.1)
Research tax credi (0.7) (0.7) -
U.S. manufacturing deductic (0.2 (0.5 (0.3
Other _ 07 (1.9 0.3
25.%% 11.7% 27.2%

Components of earnings from continuing operaticefete income taxes were as follows:

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millio 2008 2007 2006
United State! $ 35.4 $43.C $ 59.%
International 74.4 56.¢ 45t

$109.¢ $99.¢ $104.¢

Total taxes paid by the company amounted to $18.4,1, and $37.3 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006peetively. Included in the 2007 ¢
2006 taxes paid are $4.2 million and $9.2 millidhnet tax payments for the companies acquired iB62felating to periods before
acquisition.
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12. Income Taxes (continued)

No provision for U.S. income taxes or foreign witkding taxes has been made on the undistributeniregr of foreign subsidiaries as s
earnings are considered to be permanently invesd¢dDecember 31, 2008, the undistributed earningwoumted to $248.1 millio
Determination of the amount of unrecognized detetex liability on the undistributed earnings i¢ poacticable. In addition, no provision
benefits for U.S. income taxes have been made migfo currency translation gains or losses.

The tax effects of temporary differences of asaattliabilities between income tax and financigloing are as follows:

December 31 (dollars in millions)

2008 2007

Asset: Liabilities  Asset: Liabilities
Employee benefit $114.: $ - $2871 % =
Product liability and warrantie 62.7 - 64.7 -
Inventories 3.€ - 1.8 -
Property, plant and equipme - 30.C - 34.€
Intangibles - 87.1 - 84.1
Restructuring 0.¢ - 4.5 -
Environmenta 3L - 4.6 -
Derivative instrument 28.t - 0.5 -
Tax loss and credit carryove 12.4 - 9.9 -
All other 8.1 - 7.7 -
Valuation allowanct (3.9 - (3.9 -

$230.1 $ 117.1 $118.f $ 119.(
Net (liability) asse $ 113.( $ (0.5

These deferred tax assets and liabilities areifild$n the balance sheet as current or Itgrga based on the balance sheet classificatiohe
related assets and liabilities as follows:

December 31 (dollars in million: 2008 2007
Current deferred income tax ass $ 63.2 $34.C
Long-term deferred income tax assets (liabiliti 49.¢ (34.5
Net (liability) asse $113.( $ (0.5

The company has foreign net operating loss carmpowith tax benefits of $3.9 million. Of the $3.9llion of tax benefits, $3.3 million have
unlimited carryover period and $0.6 million expire 2016. Based on future realizability, a valuat@ifowance of $3.9 million has be
established against the foreign net operatingdasyover tax benefits.

The company has a $4.0 million charitable contithutarryover that expires in 2013. The company alas state and local net operating
carryovers having a tax value of $5.9 million atatesand local tax credit carryovers of $1.0 millidhese carryovers expire between 201(
2028. Based on future realizability, no valuatidlovsance has been established against the charitaivitribution or state and local carryc
tax benefits.

There was no change in the valuation allowanc@®8. During 2007 the valuation allowance was deserd and goodwill decreased by !
million to reflect expected utilization of tax bdite previously acquired with the State Industribs;. acquisition in 2001. Also, in 2007
valuation allowance was increased by $0.7 millionthe current year tax benefits of foreign lossytavers that are not expected to be util
and decreased by $0.2 million to reflect expiratdifioreign net operating losses.

In China, foreign investment enterprises engageshamufacturing activities are granted favorable treatment during startp periods. Th
enterprises are granted a two-year tax exemptidreaghree-year 50% tax rate reduction beginning e enterprise’first profit making yea
In 2008 two of the company's China subsidiariesebtad from the favorable tax treatment. The coidstéd earnings would have been $i
per share lower without the tax holiday.
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12. Income Taxes (continued)

The Company adopted the provisions of FIN 48 oudanl, 2007. There was no cumulative effect ofptido recorded to retained earning:
reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounircecognized benefits is as follows:

(Dollars in millions) 200¢

Balance at January $4.8

Additions based on tax positions related to theeniryeal 0.8 0.5
(0.1

Additions for tax positions of prior yea

Reductions for tax positions of prior ye: 1) (3.9
Balance at December . $55 4.8

The amount of unrecognized tax benefits that,abgmized, would affect the effective tax rate is2dahillion. The company recognizes poter
interest and penalties related to unrecognizedéefits as a component of tax expense. At Jariya2907 there was $0.8 million of inter
and penalties accrued. The amount was reduced.4onfillion at December 1, 2007 and was increase®0té million during 2008. It is n
anticipated there will be a significant changeha total amount of unrecognized tax benefits innéet 12 months. The compasy.S. feder:
tax returns for 2005-2008 are subject to audit. @mpany is subject to state and local auditsdrryears 2002008. The company is subj
to non-U.S. income tax examinations for years 2P0Q8.

13. Commitments and Contingencies

The company is a potentially responsible partyighijudicial and administrative proceedings irtitih on behalf of various state and fec
regulatory agencies seeking to clean up sites widste been environmentally impacted and to recowsts they have incurred or will incut
to the sites.

The company has established reserves for the aitésnsurance proceeds and potential recovery fford parties are available to cove
portion of the companyg’ potential liability. The company believes thay @mvironmental claims for these sites in excesesérves, insuran
proceeds and indemnified amounts will not have geriad effect on its financial position or resutdsoperations.

The company or its subsidiaries have been named aslefendant in lawsuits alleging personal injury asesult of exposure to asbes
integrated into certain of the company’s or itsssdiaries’ products or premises. The company and its subg@didmave never manufactu
asbestos. As of December 31, 2008 the companytsusdlisidiaries are defendants in active lawsnitelving claims by approximately 6,9
plaintiffs. The company and its subsidiaries haweeno payment in a substantial majority of theesadosed to date. The remainder of
resolved cases have settled for amounts that anmaierial to the company, and the vast majorityhef costs of defense and settlements
been paid in part by insurance, and the companguesd it has adequate insurance coverage to cevexposure.

The company has been named as a co-defendant suitavalleging manganegeduced illness involving claims by approximately6as
plaintiffs. The claimants in these lawsuits alletlat exposure to manganese in welding consumalzlased them to develop adve
neurological conditions, including a condition knows manganism, and are seeking compensatoryrantany instances, punitive damay
usually for unspecified sums. The company manufadtuvelding consumables from 1918 until it soldtthasiness to another compan
1965. The company has not been found liable inairthe lawsuits and has not paid any settlemerits. dosts of defense have been pai
insurance, and the company believes it has ademsateince coverage to cover its exposure.
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13. Commitments and Contingencies (continued)

The company is subject to various claims and pentdiwsuits for product liability and other mattarising out of the conduct of the compa
business. With respect to product liability clairttee company has sedtisured a portion of its product liability loss @gure for many yea
The company has established reserves which ituasiare adequate to cover incurred claims. Foyehes ended December 31, 2008 and -
the company had $125 million of product liabilitysurance for individual losses in excess of $5iomll The company periodically reevalui
its exposure on claims and lawsuits and makes &@ugs to its reserves as appropriate. The compeahgves, based on current knowlet
consultation with counsel, adequate reserves asutance coverage, that the outcome of such claimdslaavsuits will not have a matel
adverse effect on the company's financial positiesults of operations or cash flows.

In Form 8K filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissionOctober 19, 2007, the company disclosed anraeweerdict in a produ
liability lawsuit in Baldwin County, Alabama. On Briary 19, 2008, all plaintiffs executed a ReleaSettlement and Confidential
Agreement (the Settlement) resolving the lawsuiitsnentirety. The Settlement was approved by taEBin County Court and the adve
verdict will be vacated. The terms of the Settlem@me confidential. The company's expense relatethe Settlement was included in
reserve recorded as of December 31, 2007.

14. Operations by Segment

The company has two reportable segments: WateBt®@énd Electrical Products. The Water Produasneait manufactures residential
commercial gas and electric water heaters usedviida range of applications including hotels, laties, car washes, factories and [
institutions. In addition, the Water Products segtmaanufactures copper tube boilers used in lagdeme hot water and hydronic heat
applications. The Electrical Products segment metufes fractional horsepower alternating curré@)(and direct current (DC) motors u:
in fans and blowers in furnaces, air conditionerd gentilating systems; as well as in other consupneducts such as home appliances
pumps for swimming pools, hot tubs and spas. Initimthd the Electrical Products segment manufacturesnetic motors which are s
worldwide to manufacturers of compressors usedriocaditioning and refrigeration systems.

The accounting policies of the reportable segmenésthe same as those described in the “Summafigpfificant Accounting Policies”
outlined in Note 1. Operating earnings, definedhm company as earnings before interest, taxegrglecorporate and corporate researct
development expenses, is used to measure the iparioe of the segments and allocate resources.
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14. Operations by Segment (continued)

Net Earnings Net Sales

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millio 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006
Water Product $134.7  $150.C $122.« $1,451.0 $1,423.0 $1,260.¢
Electrical Product 39.1 23.1 48.1 858.1 894.( 905.¢
Inter-segmen (0.1 (0.2) (0.1 (4.5) (5.0 (5.4
Total segment- operating earning 173.7 172.¢ 170.¢ $2,304.¢ $2,312.0 $2,161.
General corporate and research and developmenhsas (44.7) (46.9) (40.7)

Interest expens (19.2) (26.7) (24.9

Earnings before income tax 109.¢ 99.¢ 104.¢

Provision for income taxe (27.9) (11.9) (28.€)

Earnings from continuing operatio $81¢ $882 $ 762

Sales to a major customer within the Water Prodsegsnent totaled $254.1 and $251.1 million in 2808 2007, respectively which is 11%
the companys net sales in both years. There were no salesstoroers exceeding 10% of consolidated net sal2806. Water Products 2C
operating earnings includes an equity loss in jeértture of $0.3 million.

Assets, depreciation and capital expenditures by gment

Depreciation and Capital

Amortization Expenditures

Total Asset: (Years Ended (Years Ended

(December 31 December 31 December 31
(dollars in millions) 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006
Water Product $ 984.2 $1,040.0 $ 967.2 $35.51 $34.7 $29.5 $40.c $42.7 $33.C
Electrical Product 718.1 704.C 768.2 30.E 32.& 30 24¢ 28 33.<
Total segment 1,702.¢ 1,744 1,735« 65.& 67.C 604 65.& 70.C 67.2
Corporate asse 181.¢ 110.1 104.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.3 0.5 0.¢
Total $1,883.¢ $1,854.« $1,839.¢ $66.2 $67.5 $60.C $66.1 $71.4 $68.2

The majority of corporate assets consists of cashcash equivalents and deferred income taxes.
Net sales and long-lived assets by geographic loicat

The following data by geographic area includessadéts based on product shipment destination amgdlilced assets based on physical loca
Long-lived assets include net property, plant agdigment and other long-term assets, other intdegiand londived assets of previous
owned businesses.

Long-lived Assets Net Sales

(dollars in millions) 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006
United State! $274.¢ $299.t $314.1 United State! $1,711.0 $1,757.C $1,720.¢
Mexico 107.1 105.¢ 110.: China 240.5 197.€ 154.2
China 94.¢ 70.¢ 61.2 Canads 166.7 171.¢ 137.:
Canade 42.: 55.€ 49.C Other Foreigr 186./ 185.¢ 148.¢
Other Foreigr 2.3 3.7 7.9 Total $2,304.¢ $2,312.0 $2,161.
Total $521.0 $535.C $542.f
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15. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

(dollars in millions, except per share amoul

1st Quarte 2nd Quarte 3rd Quatrtel 4th Quartel

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

Net sales $571.¢  $577.2 $622.2  $611. $602.7  $553. $508.6¢  $569.¢

Gross profi 132.¢ 122.¢ 141.¢ 134.¢ 123.7 120.1 99.¢€ 135.7

Net earning: 21.¢ 19.t 32.C 27.C 21.£ 24 6.6 17.C
Net earnings per sha

Basic 73 .64 1.0¢ .88 71 .8C .22 .5€

Diluted 72 .63 1.0¢ .87 .7C 7S .22 55

Common dividends declare A8 A7 A8 A7 A8 A8 .18 RS

Net earnings per share are computed separatebafdr period and, therefore, the sum of such qlager share amounts may differ from
total for the year. 2008 and 2007 fourth quartdresnings included a $2.1 million and $2.4 milliblFO benefit, net of tax, respective
Electrical Products 2007 fourth quarter net earmimgluded bad debt expense of $1.5 million, naarf

ITEM9 —CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A —CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company’s management, with the participatiothefCompanys Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Offic have evaluated t
effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure contaold procedures (as such term is defined in Rulasl3@) under the Securities Excha
Act of 1934, as amended (“the Exchange Act”)) athefend of the period covered by this report. Bawm® such evaluations, the Company’
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officeave concluded that, as of the end of such petimdCompanys disclosure controls a
procedures are effective in recording, processsngamarizing, and reporting, on a timely basis, imfation required to be disclosed by
Company in the reports that it files or submits emthe Exchange Act, and that information is acdated and communicated to the C
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, ggpeopriate, to allow timely discussions regardiaguired disclosure.

Management Report on Internal Control Over Financid Reporting

The Companys management is responsible for establishing andtaiaing adequate internal control over financigborting, as such term
defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). The Compamyanagement, with the participation of the ComparChief Executive Officer a
Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effestigss of the Comparsyinternal control over financial reporting basedtbe framework i
Internal Controlintegrated Framework issued by the Committee ofnSpong Organizations of the Treadway Commissioasdsl on th
evaluation, the company’s management has concltidgdas of December 31, 2008, the Compsatiiyternal control over financial report
was effective.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢teisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agjext to risk that controls may become inadeqbatause of changes in conditions, or the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedunay deteriorate.

Ernst and Young LLP, an independent registeredip@gicounting firm, has audited the Compangonsolidated financial statements anc
effectiveness of internal controls over financegparting as of December 31, 2008 as stated in tépart which is included herein.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There has not been any change in the Compgangernal control over financial reporting duritige quarter ended December 31, 2008, the
materially affected, or is reasonable likely to englly affect, the Company’s internal control o¥i@ancial reporting.

ITEM 9B - OTHER INFORMATION

On February 25, 2009, we amended Mr. Rajersd@ifer Letter with respect to his pension suppleinte resolve an open issue dating bac
his date of hire related to pension forfeited atformer company. Upon completion of 10 years ofise, Mr. Rajendra will be eligible for .

$85,000/year supplement paid as a straight lifeusyprcommencing with his retirement from the Compafihe amendment is attachec
Exhibit 10(i).
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindgrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
A.O. Smith Corporation

We have audited A.O. Smith Corporatisrihternal control over financial reporting as ofd@mber 31, 2008, based on criteria establist
Internal Control—ntegrated Framework issued by the Committee ofnSpong Organizations of the Treadway Commissidre (€OS(
criteria). A.O. Smith Corporatioe’ management is responsible for maintaining effeciiternal control over financial reporting, arat fts
assessment of the effectiveness of internal comivel financial reporting included in the accompagyManagemens Report on Intern
Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsipilg to express an opinion on the companpternal control over financial reporting base
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadwlof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8a&@nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal corar@r financial reporting, assessing the
that a material weakness exists, testing and etimaduthe design and operating effectiveness ofiratecontrol based on the assessed risk
performing such other procedures as we considezedssary in the circumstances. We believe thaawdit provides a reasonable basis fol
opinion.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is @gpess designed to provide reasonable assuranceliregthe reliability of financi:
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsidor external purposes in accordance with gelyeeadcepted accounting principles
companys internal control over financial reporting inclgdénose policies and procedures that (1) pertathg¢anaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet ttansactions and dispositions of the assetseotdimpany; (2) provide reasonable assut
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgreparation of financial statements in accor@amdth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef dompany are being made only in accordance withoazations of management :
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanasisurance regarding prevention or timely deteatiounauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company'’s assets that could lzareaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohwver financial reporting may not prevent or détmisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgext to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, ol
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdaces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, A.O. Smith Corporation maintained, all material respects, effective internal cohtowver financial reporting as
December 31, 2008, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@dnited States), the consolida
balance sheets of A.O. Smith Corporation as of e 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consotidatatements of earnin
comprehensive earnings, stockholdeguity, and cash flows for each of the three y@athe period ended December 31, 2008 and our 1
dated January 30, 2009 expressed an unqualifiedoopihereon.

Ernst & Young LLP

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
January 30, 2009
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PART IlI
ITEM 10 - DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The information included under the headings “Etattdf Directors” and “Board Committees” in the caang’s definitive Proxy Statement 1
the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to bedfieth the Securities and Exchange Commission uR@gulation 14A within 120 days af
the end of the registrastfiscal year) is incorporated herein by referefi¢e information required regarding Executive Gdfie of the compai
is included in Part | of this Annual Report on FotB+K under the caption “Executive Officers of thempany.”

The company has a separately designated Audit Ctieeon which Gene C. Wulf, Gloster B. Current, Mark D. Smith and Idelle K. Wc
serve, with Mr. Wulf, as Chairperson. All members mdependent under applicable SEC and NYSE rivssWolf and Mr. Wulf are &udi
committee financial experts” in accordance with Stfes.

The company has adopted a Financial Code of Eggigdicable to its principal executive officer, pripal financial officer and princip
accounting officer. As a best practice, this code been executed by all other company officerskaydinancial and accounting personne
well. In addition, the company has adopted a gémede of business conduct for its directors, @fficand all employees, which is known as
A. O. Smith Guiding Principles. The Financial CaofeEthics, the A. O. Smith Guiding Principles antthexr company corporate governa
matters are available on the company’s websitevat/\@osmith.com The company is not including the information @néd on its website
a part of or incorporating it by reference intastRorm 10K. The company intends to disclose on this welaite amendments to, or waiv
from, the Financial Code of Ethics or the A. O. 8nGuiding Principles that are required to be disell pursuant to SEC rules. To date 1
have been no waivers of the Financial Code of Btbicthe A. O. Smith Guiding Principles. Stockhetdemay obtain copies of any of th
corporate governance documents free of charge ingvto the Corporate Secretary at the addregh®mover page of this Form 10-K.

The information included under the heading “Compim with Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchang# i the companys definitive Prox
Statement for the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockhidd® be filed with the Securities and Exchangen@rssion under Regulation 14A witl
120 days after the end of the registrant’s fiseary is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11 - EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information included under the headings “Exieeu€Compensation,” “Director CompensationRéport of the Personnel and Compensi
Committee” and “Compensation Committee Interlocksl énsider Participatio” in the compasydefinitive Proxy Statement for the 2
Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed witletBecurities and Exchange Commission under RegaladA within120 days after the e
of the registrant’s fiscal year) is incorporateddie by reference.

ITEM 12 - SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information included under the headings “PpatiStockholders” and “Security Ownership of Dimst and Managementh the
companys definitive Proxy Statement for the 2009 Annualettiregy of Stockholders (to be filed with the Sedastand Exchange Commiss
under Regulation 14A within 120 days after the ehthe registrant’s fiscal year) is incorporatededire by reference.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information about t@mpany’s equity compensation plans as of Dece®bge2008.

Number of securities
remaining available fi
Number of securitie
future issuance under

to be issued upon Weightec-average exercis equity compensation
the exercise of price of outstanding optior plans (excluding
outstanding option: securities reflected in
Plan Categor warrants and right warrants and right the first column’
Equity compensation plans approv
by security holder 1,289,067 28.40 1,125,10¢€
Equity compensation plans r
approved by security holde - - -
Total 1,289,067 28.40 1,125,10€

ITEM 13 - CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS, RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIR ECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information included under the headings “Dioedhdependence and Financial LiteracyCdmpensation Committee Interlocks and Ins
Participation” and “Procedure for Review of Relaedrty Transactions” in the compasydefinitive Proxy Statement for the 2009 Ant
Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed with the Seties and Exchange Commission under Regulation within 120 days after the end of
registrant’s fiscal year) is incorporated hereirréference.

ITEM 14 - PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information included under the heading “Repdithe Audit Committee” in the comparsytefinitive Proxy Statement for the 2009 Ani
Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed with the Seties and Exchange Commission under Regulation within 120 days after the end of
registrant’s fiscal year) required by this Itemid4ncorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15 -

EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

@)
1.

The following documents are filed as part of thisndial Report on Form -K:

Financial Statements of the Comp:

The following consolidated financial statement#ofD. Smith Corporation are included in Item
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2QD3G0OV
For each of the three years in the period ende@iber 31, 200¢
- Consolidated Statement of Earnir
- Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Earr
- Consolidated Statement of Cash Flc
- Consolidated Statement of Stockhol¢ Equity
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme
Financial Statement Schedu

Schedule |- Valuation and Qualifying Accoun

Schedules not included have been omitted becaageatie not applicabls

Form 10-K
Page Numbx

27

28
28
29
3C

31-52

61

Exhibits - see the Index to Exhibits on pages 380-of this report. Each management contract or emsgtory plan ¢
arrangement required to be filed as an exhibihi®teport on Form 18- are listed as Exhibits 10(a) through 10(n) in lthee>

to Exhibits.

Pursuant to the requirements of Rule Bgla(10) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934aim&ended, the company will, uf
request and upon payment of a reasonable fee motceed the rate at which such copies are avaifedmie the Securities a

Exchange Commission, furnish copies to its sectnatgers of any exhibits listed in the Index to Hids.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 16{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regmthas duly caused this report tc

signed on behalf of the undersigned, thereunto dutiiorized.

A. O. SMITH CORPORATION

By: /s/ Paul W. Jone
Paul W. Jone
Chief Executive Office

Date: February 25, 200

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed bamwaf February 25, 2009 by the follow
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the@tpsa and on the dates indicated.

Name and Title

PAUL W. JONES
Chairman of the Board of
Directors and Chief Executive Offic

TERRY M. MURPHY
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Office!

JOHN J. KITA
Senior Vice President Corporate Finance
and Controlle|

RONALD D. BROWN
Director

WILLIAM F. BUEHLER
Director

GLOSTER B. CURRENT, Jr.
Director

WILLIAM P. GREUBEL
Director

ROBERT J. O'TOOLE
Director

BRUCE M. SMITH
Director

MARK D. SMITH
Director

IDELLE K. WOLF
Director

GENE C. WULF
Director

Signature

/s/ Paul W. Jones

Paul W. Jones

/s/ Terry M. Murphy

Terry M. Murphy

/s/ John J. Kita

John J. Kita

/s/ Ronald D. Brown

Ronald D. Browr

/s/ William F. Buehler

William F. Buehler

/s/ Gloster B. Current, Jr.

Gloster B. Current, J

/s/ William P. Greubel

William P. Greube

/s/ Robert J. O'Toole

Robert J. C Toole

/s/ Bruce M. Smith

Bruce M. Smittr

/s/ Mark D. Smith

Mark D. Smith

/s/ Idelle K. Wolf

Idelle K. Wolf

/s/ Gene C. Wul

Gene C. Wuli
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of Dece®2008, among A. O. Smith Corporation, Sl
Acquisition, LLC, Smith Investment Company and Sniitvestment Company LLC, incorporated by refereo
the current report on Forn-K dated December 9, 20C

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the cogtimn as amended October 10, 2000, incorporatedfeyence
to the quarterly report on Form-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2(

By-laws of the corporation as amended April 11, 208&orporated by reference to the quarterly reporEorm
10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2(

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the cogtimn as amended October 10, 2000, incorporatedfeyence
to the quarterly report on Form-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2(

Credit Agreement, dated as of February 17, 200&nan#\. O. Smith Corporation, various financial ingtons,

M&I Marshall & llsley Bank, U.S. Bank National Assiation and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as Documentatio
Agents, and Bank of America, N.A., as Administrat&gent, incorporated by reference to the Form e on
February 23, 200¢

The corporation has instruments that define thietsigf holders of long-term debt that are not bédilegl with
this Registration Statement in reliance upon It&@h(6)(4)(iii) of Regulation S-K. The Registrant ags to
furnish to the Securities and Exchange Commissipon request, copies of these instrume

Exhibit
Numbe Descriptior
)
3
(3)(i)
(4) (@)
(b)
(©)
(10) Material Contract:

@)

(b)
(©)
(d)
(e)

0]
(9)
(h)

(i)
1)

A. O. Smith Combined Incentive Compensation Plaogiporated by reference as Exhibit A to the Proxy
Statement filed on March 7, 2007, for the ApriP®07, Annual Meeting of Stockholde

A. O. Smith Corporation Executive Life Insurancamlas amended January 1, 2
A. O. Smith Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Pkdopted December 1, 20(
A. O. Smith Corporation Executive Supplemental RenPlan, as amended January 1, 2

A. O. Smith Corporation Executive Incentive Compaim Award Agreement, incorporated by referencéaéo
Form £-8 Registration Statement filed by the corporationjoly 30, 2007 (Reg. No. 3-144950).

Offer Letter to Paul W. Jones, dated December 932ibicorporated by reference to the Annual RepoFRorm
1C-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2(

Offer Letter to Terry M. Murphy, dated October D05, incorporated by reference to the Annual Riemt
Form 1(-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2(

Offer Letter to Ajita G. Rajendra, dated Septen@r2004, incorporated by reference to the Annuggddrt or
Form 1(-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2(

Amendment to Offer Letter to Ajita G. Rajendra dakebruary 25, 200!

Form of A. O. Smith Corporation Special Retentionakd Agreement awarded on April 30, 2008, incorfext
by reference to the Quarterly Report on Forr-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 20
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS (continued)

Change in Directo’ Compensation, dated July 14, 2008, incorporatectfgrence to the Quarterly Report
Form 1(-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2(

A. O. Smith Support Agreement, dated as of Decerib2008, among Smith Investment Company,
A. O. Smith Corporation and SICO Acquisition LL@gcorporated by reference to the current reportamif8-K
dated December 9, 20C

SICO Support Agreement dated as of December 9,,2008ng Smith Investment Compal
A. O. Smith Corporation and certain Smith Familycétholders of Smith Investment Company, incorpatétg
reference to the current report on For-K dated December 9, 20C

Stockholder Agreement dated as of December 9, 2888een A. O. Smith Corporation and each Smith
Investment Company stockholder who becomes a signttereto, incorporated by reference to the eunreport
on Form K dated December 9, 20C

A. O. Smith Corporation Incentive Compensation AdvAgreement, entered into with Paul W. Jones, d
November 5, 200¢

Subsidiaries
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing.

Certification by the Chairman and Chief Executivifi€ar, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarb-Oxley Act,
dated February 25, 20C

Certification by the Executive Vice-President artde® Financial Officer, pursuant to Section 302l Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, dated February 25, 20(

Exhibit

Numbe  Descriptior
(k)
o
(m)
(n)
(0)

(21)

(23)

(31.1)

(31.2)

(32)

Written Statement of the Chief Executive Officeddhe Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.SSEction
1350.
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Descriptiot
2008:

Valuation allowance
for trade and notes
receivable

2007:
Valuation allowanct
for trade and notes
receivable

2006:
Valuation allowance
for trade and notes
receivable

A. O. SMITH CORPORATION

SCHEDULE Il - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

(In milli

ons)

Years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006

Balance ¢
Charged t

Beginning
Costs and
of Year Expenses
$ 7.2 $ 1.2
$ 3.6 $ 3.8
4.7 0.3

1 Provision based upon estimated collection.

2 Uncollectible amounts/expenditures or adjustmeh&sged against the reserve.

61

Acquisitior

of
Businesse

0.1

Deduzction
$ 2.2)
$ (0.4)

(1.5)

Balance ¢

End of

Year

3.€
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Exhibit 10(b)

A. O. SMITH CORPORATION
EXECUTIVE LIFE INSURANCE PLAN
Effective June 9, 1992
As Amended and Restated Effective January 1, 2009

Purpose

The purpose of the A. 0. Smith Corporation Exeautiife Insurance Plan (“Plan”) is to induce key éogpes to remain in the employ of
A. 0. Smith Corporation (“Company”) or Subsidiar@msAffiliates of the Company by providing the eroyptes with active and post
retirement life insurance competitive with thatyided by other major corporations.

Definitions
(a) Affiliate: Any corporation in which the Company has fifty (5®@rcent or less ownersh
(b) Committee: The Personnel and Compensation Committee of thedBafaDirectors of the Compan

(c) Employee:Any full time managerial. administrative or professl employee (including any officer or directohavis such an
employee) of the Company, or any of its SubsidéaoeAffiliates.

(d) Participant: An Employee who is selected by the Committee tdigpate in the Plar

(e) Subsidiary: Any corporation in which the Company has more tfiiiy (50)
percent of the ownership.

Administration

The Plan shall be administered by the Committeéchwéhall have sole and complete authority to adapiend and repeal administrative
rules to govern the operation of the Plan. The Catamshall also have complete discretionary aitthts determine eligibility for
benefits and to interpret and construe the termbePlan.

Eligibility
Employees who, in the opinion of the Committee,lag employees and have demonstrated a capacitpfaributing in a substantial

measure to the successful performance of the Coyrgiaail be eligible to become Participants. The @ittee shall have complete
authority and discretion to determine those Empésywho shall be Participants.
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Amount of Life Insuranc:

The Company will purchase one or more life insueapalicies for each Participant, from a high qyalieputable life insurer, in an
amount determined by the Committee, but in no elemstthan three times the Participant’'s baseysatahe time participation
commences. Participants who retire from the Comséiayl be eligible for post-retirement life insucarcoverage equal to one times his
or her base salary.

With respect to policies issued prior to Augus2@02, each life insurance policy shall be solelyed by the Participant and shall permit
the Participant to name the beneficiary of his coThe Participant shall enter into a Collaterssignment Agreement with the
Company whereby Participant assigns an amounteofdlsh hereunder value and/or life insurance g¢qubk premiums paid by the
Company.

With respect to policies issued on and after Augug002, each life insurance policy shall be sobeined by the Company. The
Company shall enter into an Endorsement Split-Daflaurance Agreement with the Participant whertbleyParticipant shall have the
right to the name the beneficiary of his choicenwéspect to such amount of death proceeds payabkr the policy as determined by
Committee.

Participants in this Plan shall not be eligible dooup term life insurance coverage under the AS@ith Group Life and Accidental
Death and Dismemberment Insurance.

Termination of Employmer

(a) Except as provided in (b), upon a Partici|'s termination of employment (voluntary or involunyeor retirement, the payment
premiums by the Company will cease and the Cobiatgssignment Agreement or an Endorsement Splitaddhsurance
Agreement will be terminated. The Committee shatedmine the date on which the final premium payrméth be made

(b) The Company shall have the discretion to cargtipayment of premiums and the Collateral AssigritAgneement or Endorsement
Split-Dollar Insurance Agreement beyond terminatibemployment or retirement in such cases angudoh periods of time as it
deems advisable and to transfer its right in asyiiance policy to any retired Participe

Expense:

The expenses of administering the Plan shall be: ipathe Company.

Amendment and Terminatic

The Committee shall have the right to modify, amenterminate the Plan at any time.
Claims Procedur

The following provisions are part of this agreemamd are intended to meet the requirements of thel@&/ee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974:

(@) The Committee is hereby designated as the néichedary under the Plan. The named fiduciary have authority to control and
manage the operation and administration of thia,Rlad it shall be responsible for establishing eamying out a funding policy
and method consistent with the objectives of tidsF



(b) The Committee shall make all determinations coringrrights to benefits under the Plan. Any decidigrthe Committee denying
claim by the Participant or his beneficiary for béts under the Plan shall be stated in writing dativered or mailed to the
Participant or such beneficiary. Such decisionls@lforth the specific reasons for the denialitem to the best of the Committee’
ability in a manner that may be understood witHegal or actuarial counsel. In the event a claimieisied, the Participant shall hi
60 days following the denial to file a written rexpt for review of the denial. The Participant malrait pertinent documents for t
Committee’s consideration upon review. Within 6@slaf receipt of a request for review, the Committball issue a written
decision on the review request. The decision oieveghall include the specific reasons for the sieai with references to the
pertinent Plan provisions upon which the decisphadsed

(c) The Committee shall have the discretionary authauitd power to determine eligibility for benefitsder the Plan and to constr
and interpret its terms. The arbitrary and captisistandard apply in the review of any decisio@ofmmittee

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Plan has been executethbyCompany on this 18day of December, 2008.
A. O. SMITH CORPORATION

BY: /s/ Mark A. Petrarca
Mark A. Petrarcs
Senior Vice President of Human Resour
And Public Affairs




Exhibit 10(c)

NOTE: Execution of this Adoption Agreement creates legal liability of the Employer with significant tax consequences to the
Employer and Participants. The Employer should obta legal and tax advice from its professional advizrs before adopting the Plan.
Principal Life Insurance Company disclaims all liakility for the legal and tax consequences which redtifrom the elections made by the
Employer in this Adoption Agreement.

Principal Life Insurance Company, Raleigh, NC 27
A member of the Principal Financial Grc®
THE EXECUTIVE NONQUALIFIED “EXCESS” PLAN
ADOPTION AGREEMENT
THIS AGREEMENT is the adoption b&. O. Smith Corporation (the “Company”) of the Executive Nonqualified Exsddan (“Plan”).

WITNESSETH:
WHEREAS, the Company desires to adopt the Plam amfunded, nonqualified deferred compensation;@ad

WHEREAS, the provisions of the Plan are intendecdatmply with the requirements of Section 409A & ode and the regulations
thereunder and shall apply to amounts subjectdtiase409A; and

WHEREAS, the Company has been advised by Printifalnsurance Company to obtain legal and tax eelfiom its professional
advisors before adopting the Plan,

NOW, THEREFORE, the Company hereby adopts the iRlaccordance with the terms and conditions s¢h fiorthis Adoption
Agreement:

ARTICLE |

Terms used in this Adoption Agreement shall haeesdime meaning as in the Plan, unless some ottaatimgdas expressly herein set
forth. The Employer hereby represents and warttiatsthe Plan has been adopted by the Employer ppger authorization and the Emplo
hereby elects to adopt the Plan for the benefilsdParticipants as referred to in the Plan. Byekecution of this Adoption Agreement, the
Employer hereby agrees to be bound by the terrttsedPlan.

ARTICLE Il

The Employer hereby makes the following designationelections for the purpose of the Plan:
2.6 Committee:The duties of the Committee set forth in the Plaallsbe satisfied by:
____ (&) Company
___ (b) The administrative committee appointed by the Bdarskerve at the pleasure of the Bo:
___ (c) Board.
XX (d) Other (specify)Personnel and compensation committee of the Board Birectors .
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2.8 Compensation:The “Compensation” of a Participant shall mearo&l Participant’s:

XX (a) Base salary

XX (b) Service Bonus

XX (c) Performanc-Based Compensation earned in a period of 12 mamthere.
___ (d) Commissions

XX (e) Compensation received as an Independent Contnagortable on Form 109
XX (f) Other:Restricted stock units.

2.9 Crediting Date: The Deferred Compensation Account of a Particigaatl be credited with the amount of any Particidaeferral to such
account at the time designated below:

___ (&) The last business day of each Plan Y

___ (b) The last business day of each calendar quartemgithie Plan Yea

___ (c) The last business day of each month during the Péem.

___ (d) The last business day of each payroll period dutiegPlan Yeat

___ (e) Each pay day as reported by the Emplo

XX (f) Any business day on which Participant Deferralsraceived by the administrative recordkee|
___ (g) Other:

2.13 Effective Date:

(&) This is a newl-established Plan, and the Effective Date of the B

XX (b) Thisis an amendment and restatement of plans named

A. O. Smith Corporation Corporate Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan, A. O. Smith CorporatiorExecutive
Deferred Compensation Plan, A. O. Smith CorporatiorSupplemental Profit Sharing Plan, and incorporates the
bonus deferral provisions under the0. Smith Corporation Combined Executive Incentie Compensation Plan

The Effective Date of this amended and restated BIDecember 1, 2008

(i) All amounts in Deferred Compensation Accounts shalsubject to the provisions of this amended and
restated Plar

XX (i) Any Grandfathered Amounts shall be subject to tha Rules in effect on October 3, 20t
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2.20 Normal Retirement Age:The Normal Retirement Age of a Participant shall be

XX (a) Age65.

___ (b) The later of age orthe anniversdrthe participation commencement date. The gigation commencement
date is the first day of the first Plan Year in @hhthe Participant commenced participation in tlea P

___ (c) Other:

2.23 Participating Employer(s):As of the Effective Date, the following Participadi Employer(s) are parties to the Plan:

Name of Employer Address Telephone No ETN
A. O. Smith Corporation 11270 West Park Place 41¢4-35€-4237 3¢-0619790

Milwaukee, W1 53224

2.26 Plan:The name of the Plan is
A. O. Smith Nongqualified Deferred Compensation Plan

2.28 Plan Year:The Plan Year shall end each year on the last fitheanonth oDecember.

2.30 Seniority Date:The date on which a Participant has:

(&) Attained age

___ (b) Completed Years of Service from First Dat&efvice.

__ (c) Attainedage and completed  Years of $erfriom First Date of Servic
___ (d) Attained an age as elected by the Particig

XX (e) Not applicable- distribution elections for Separation from Seniee not based on Seniority Di
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4.1 Participant Deferral Credits: Subject to the limitations in Section 4.1 of tharRla Participant may elect to have his Compensétie
selected in Section 2.8 of this Adoption Agreemeeferred within the annual limits below by theldaling percentage or amount as
designated in writing to the Committee:

XX (a) Base salary

minimum deferral: 3 %

maximum deferral: ¢ or 100 %
XX (b) Service Bonus

minimum deferral: 3 %

maximum deferral: ! or__ 100 %

XX (c) Performanc-Based Compensatic
minimum deferral: 3 %

maximum deferral: ! or 100 %

(d) Commissions

minimum deferral: %

maximum deferral: ¢ or %
XX (e) Form 1099 Compensatio

minimum deferral: 25 %

maximum deferral: ¢ or__ 100 %
XX (f) Other:Restricted Stock Units:

minimum deferral: 25 %

maximum deferral: ¢ or 100 %

___ (g) Participant deferrals not allowe



4.2 Employer Credits :Employer Credits will be made in the following mann

XX (a) Employer Discretionary Credits : The Employer may make discretionary credits toRkeérred Compensation Accol
of each Active Participant in an amount determiagdollows:

XX (i) Anamount determined each Plan Year by the Empl
(i) Other:

XX (b) Other Employer Credits : The Employer may make other credits to the Defeompensation Account of each Active
Participant in an amount determined as follo

XX (i) Anamount determined each Plan Year by the Empl
(i) Other:
(c) Employer Credits not allowe:

5.2 Disability of a Participant:

XX (a) A Participan’s becoming Disabled shall be a Qualifying DistribntEvent and the Deferred Compensation Accourit
be paid by the Employer as provided in Section

(b) A Participant becoming Disabled shall not be a @iab Distribution Event

5.3 Death of a Participant :If the Participant dies while in Service, the Emybshall pay a benefit to the Beneficiary in aroant equal to
the vested balance in the Deferred Compensationukt®f the Participant determined as of the dajements to the Beneficiary commence,
plus:

(@) Anamount to be determined by the Commit

___ (b) Other:
XX (c) No additional benefits




5.4

55

5.6

In-Service or Education Distributions: In-Service and Education Accounts are permitted utidePlan:

XX (@) In-Service Accounts are allowed with respect

XX Participant Deferral Credits onl
Employer Credits only
Participant Deferral and Employer Cred

In-service distributions may be made in the followingnner:

XX Single lump sum paymer
XX Annual installments over a term certain not to ext5 years.

Education Accounts are allowed with respec

Participant Deferral Credits onl
Employer Credits only
Participant Deferral and Employer Cred

Education Accounts distributions may be made infétlewing manner

Single lump sum paymer
Annual installments over a term certain not to exce years

If applicable, amounts not vested at the time paymdue under this Section cease will

Forfeited
Distributed at Separation from Service if vestethat time

___ (b) No In-Service or Education Distributions permitti

Change in Control Event:
(@ Participants may elect upon initial enrollment &vé accounts distributed upon a Change in Contreht
XX (b) A Change in Control shenotbe a Qualifying Distribution Even

Unforeseeable Emergency Even
XX (a) Participants may apply to have accounts distribugzsh an Unforeseeable Emergency ev
___ (b)) AnUnforeseeable Emergency stnotbe a Qualifying Distribution Evel
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6. Vesting :An Active Participant shall be fully vested in tRenployer Credits made to the Deferred Compens#mrount upon the first to
occur of the following events:

XX (a) Normal Retirement Age
XX (b) Death.
XX (c) Disability.
___ (d) Change in Control Evel
XX (e) Other:Job Aboalition .
XX (f) Satisfaction of the vesting requirement as spettiielow:
XX Employer Discretionary Credits:
___ () Immediate 100% vestin
(i) 1009 vesting after  Years of Servi
__(iii) 100% vesting at age
XX (iv) Number of Yeat Vested

of Service Percentag
Less thar 1 0 %
1 0 %
2 0 %
3 40 %
4 60 %
5 80 %
6 100 %
7 _ %
8 _ %
9 _ %
10ormort _ %

For this purpose, Years of Service of a Particigéatl be calculated from the date designated e
XX (1) First Day of Service
___ (2) Effective Date of Plan Participatio

(3) Each Crediting Date. Under this option (3), eactplayer Credit shall vest based on the Years of iSerf
a Participant from the Crediting Date on which eBafiployer Discretionary Credit is made to his or he
Deferred Compensation Accou



Other Employer Credits:
XX () Immediate 100% vestin
(i)  100% vesting after  Years of Servi

(i) 100% vesting at age

___ (iv)  Number of Year Vested
of Service Percentac
Less thar 1 _ %

1 _ %
2 _ %
3 _ %
4 _ %
5 _ %
6 _ %
7 _ %
8 _ %
9 _ %
10 ormort _ %

For this purpose, Years of Service of a Particisduall be calculated from the date designated he
(1) First Day of Service
___ (2) Effective Date of Plan Participatio

(3) Each Crediting Date. Under this option (3), eactpyer Credit shall vest based on the Years of iSernf a
Participant from the Crediting Date on which eachpioyer Discretionary Credit is made to his or Beferred
Compensation Accoun



7.1 Payment Options :Any benefit payable under the Plan upon a permi@edlifying Distribution Event may be made to thartiRipant or
his Beneficiary (as applicable) in any of the fallog payment forms, as selected by the Participatite Participation Agreement:

(a) Separation from Service prior to Seniority DateSeparation from Service if Seniority Date is Nqpdicable

XX (i) Alump sum.

XX (i) Annual installments over a term certain as elebtethe Participant not to exce_10 years.
(i) Ofther:
Separation from Service on or After Seniority Daté\pplicable

(b

~

@) Alump sum.
(i)  Annual installments over a term certain as elebtethe Participant not to exceed  ye

XX (iii) Other:Not applicable.
(c) Separation from Service Upon a Change in ContrelnE

() Alump sum.

(i) Annual installments over a term certain as elebiethe Participant not to exceed ye

XX (iii) Other:Not applicable.
(d) Death

XX (i) Alump sum.

XX (i) Annual installments over a term certain as elebiethe Participant not to exce__10 years.

___ (i) oOther:
(e) Disability

XX (i) Alump sum.

XX (i) Annual installments over a term certain as elebtethe Participant not to exce 10 years.
(iii)y Other:
(iv) Not applicable

If applicable, amounts not vested at the time paymdue under this Section cease will
Forfeited
Distributed at Separation from Service if vestethat time
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(f) Change in Control Evel

(i) A lump sum.

(i) Annual installments over a term certain as elebtethe Participant not to exceed  ye
___ (iiiy Other:
XX (iv) Not applicable

If applicable amounts not vested at the time payméue under this Section cease will
Forfeited

Distributed at Separation from Service if vestethat time

7.4 De Minimis Amounts.

XX (a) Notwithstanding any payment election made by théidh@ant, the vested balance in the Deferred Caragton
Account of the Participant will be distributed irsiagle lump sum payment at the time designate@utiet Plan if at
the time of a permitted Qualifying Distribution Eudhat is either a Separation from Service, ddatbability (if
applicable) or Change in Control Event (if applieglthe vested balance does not exce8d,800. In addition, the
Employer may distribute a Participant’s vested bedsat any time if the balance does not exceetirnthitin Section
402(g)(1)(B) of the Code and results in the terfiaraof the Participar's entire interest in the Pl:

(b) There shall be no pre-determined de minimis amaoder the Plan; however, the Employer may disteltzut
Participant’s vested balance at any time if thehet does not exceed the limit in Section 402((B(19f the Code
and results in the termination of the Partici' s entire interest in the Pla

10.1 Contractual Liability : Liability for payments under the Plan shall be tbgponsibility of the:

XX (a) Company.
(b) Employer or Participating Employer who employed Bagticipant when amounts were defer

14. Amendment and Termination of Plan :Notwithstanding any provision in this Adoption Agraent or the Plan to the contraBgctions
8.2. 8.3.3, & 11of the Plan shall be amended to read as providattachedExhibit A.
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17.9 Construction : The provisions of the Plan shall be construed arfidreed according to the laws of the Stat&\G$§consin,except to the
extent that such laws are superseded by ERISArandpiplicable provisions of the Code.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been execaseof the day and year stated below.

A. O. Smith Corporation
Name of Employe

By: /s/ Mark A. Petrarc.

Authorized Perso
Date: 11/7/0¢
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EXHIBIT A

Section 8.2 shall be replaced by the following:

Deemed InvestmentsThe Deferred Compensation Account of a Particighatl be credited with an investment return deteedias if
the account were invested in one or more investrfiuemas made available by the Committee. The Paditi shall elect the investment funds in
which his Deferred Compensation Account shall benaied to be invested. Such election shall be matleeimanner prescribed by the
Committee and shall take effect upon the entnhefRarticipant into the Plan. The investment edactif the Participant shall remain in effect
until a new election is made by the Participanthka event the Participant fails for any reasoméke an effective election of the investment
return to be credited to his account, the investmatnrn shall be determined by the Committee. Ntbstanding the foregoing, a Participant
shall not be permitted to select a deemed invedtfoed with regard to deferrals of restricted stocits, which deferrals shall be deemed
invested in the Company common stock fund.

Section 8.3.3 shall be replaced by the following:

The Deferred Compensation Account shall be creditatkbited on each day securities are tradedmatianal stock exchange with the
amount of deemed investment gain or loss resultimg the performance of the investment funds etébiethe Participant in accordance with
Section 8.2. The amount of such deemed investnantay loss shall be determined by the Committeksarch determination shall be final ¢
conclusive upon all concerned.

If any dividends or other distributions are paidstrares of the Company’s common stock while a &patint has a deemed investment in
the Company common stock fund, such Participarit Beacredited with an additional amount (in thenfioof additional common stock units)
equal to the amount of the cash dividend paid effdlir market value of other property distributedame share of Company common stock,
multiplied by the number of common stock units desdito the Participant’s Deferred Compensationddett on the date the dividend is
declared. The additional amount shall be convdrtedadditional common stock units using the faarket value of a share of Company
common stock on the date the dividend is paid striduted. Any other provision of this Plan to ttentrary notwithstanding, if a dividend is
paid on shares of Company common stock in the fafrenright or rights to purchase shares of cagtiatk of the Company or any entity
acquiring the Company, no additional common staukswshall be credited to the Participant’s Defér@mpensation Account with respect to
such dividend, but each common stock Unit crediteal Participant’'s Deferred Compensation Accounhatime such dividend is paid, and
each common stock unit thereafter credited to #réidhpant’s Deferred Compensation Account at a time when sgblts are attached to sha
of the Company’s common stock, shall thereaftevddlaed as of any point in time on the basis ofaggregate of the then fair market value of
one share of common stock plus the then fair marddeie of such right or rights then attached to simere. For purposes hereof, the term “fair
market value” shall be determined consistent with@ompany’s equity incentive plan as in effectfriime to time.

In the event of any merger, share exchange, re@aféom, consolidation, recapitalization, stockidend, stock split or other change in
corporate structure of the Company affecting isrseh of common stock, the Committee may make apiptepequitable adjustments with
respect to the common stock units credited to tbiiDPed Compensation Account of each Participatt@€ommittee determines is necessary
or desirable to prevent the dilution or enlargentdrihe benefits intended to be provided undeRiaa.
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Participants shall have no rights as a stockhgéeiaining to common stock units credited to tieferred Compensation Accounts. No
Participant or Beneficiary shall have any rightéoeive a distribution of Company stock under Biemn. All distributions from the Participasat’
Deferred Compensation Account are made in cash.

Section 11 shall be replaced by the following:
Allocation of Responsibilities:
The persons responsible for the Plan and the datidsesponsibilities allocated to each are asvdl

11.1
0)
11.2
0)
(i)
(i)
(iv)
(v)
(vi)
(vii)
(viii)
(ix)

Board.

To appoint and remove members of the Commi
Committee.

To amend the Plai

To terminate the Plan as permitted in Section
To designate Participant

To interpret the provisions of the Plan and to deiee the rights of the Participants under the Péxcept to the extel
otherwise provided in Section 16 relating to clapnscedure

To administer the Plan in accordance with its temmwsept to the extent powers to administer the Bfe specifically
delegated to another person or persons as prowidee Plan

To account for the amount credited to the Defe@ethpensation Account of a Participa
To direct the Employer in the payment of bene

To file such reports as may be required with th@&adhStates Department of Labor, the Internal Raeedervice and ar
other government agency to which reports may beired to be submitted from time to time; ¢

To administer the claims procedure to the exteotiged in Section 1€
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THE EXECUTIVE NONQUALIFIED EXCESS PLAN

Section 1.Purpose:

By execution of the Adoption Agreement, the Empldyas adopted the Plan set forth herein, and il\tlaption Agreement, to provide
means by which certain management Employees opamitent Contractors of the Employer may elect ferdeceipt of current Compensat
from the Employer in order to provide retirementl ather benefits on behalf of such Employees oepetident Contractors of the Employer,
as selected in the Adoption Agreement. The Plaménded to be a nonqualified deferred compensatiam that complies with the provisions
of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code (fBede”). The Plan is also intended to be an unfunpdaad maintained primarily for the
purpose of providing deferred compensation benggdita select group of management or highly comatnsemployees under Sections 20!
301(a)(3) and 401(a)(l) of the Employee Retirenieobme Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”) and indepentieontractors. Notwithstanding any
other provision of this Plan, this Plan shall bieipreted, operated and administered in a manmsistent with these intentions.

Section 2.Definitions:
As used in the Plan, including this Section 2, nexfiees to one gender shall include the other, srteerwise indicated by the context:

2.1 “Active Participant” means, with respect to any day or date, a Partitiglo is in Service on such day or date, providieat, a
Participant shall cease to be an Active Particigminmediately upon a determination by the Contegitthat the Participant has ceased to |
Employee or Independent Contractor, or (ii) atehd of the Plan Year that the Committee deterntime$articipant no longer meets the
eligibility requirements of the Plan.




2.2 “Adoption Agreement” means the written agreement pursuant to which thpl&er adopts the Plan. The Adoption Agreemeat is
part of the Plan as applied to the Employer.

2.3 “Beneficiary” means the person, persons, entity or entities datgd or determined pursuant to the provisionsectién 13 of the
Plan.

2.4 “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company, if@eenpany is a corporation. If the Company is nobgooration, “Board”
shall mean the Company.

2.5 “Change in Control Event” means an event described in Section 409A(a)(2)j&)(the Code (or any successor provision thereto)
and the regulations thereunder.

2.6 “Committee” means the persons or entity designated in the Aatoptgreement to administer the Plan. If the Coneeitdesignated
in the Adoption Agreement is unable to serve theleyer shall satisfy the duties of the Committeevited for in Section 9.

2.7 “Company” means the company designated in the Adoption Ageeéis such.
2.8 “Compensation” shall have the meaning designated in the Adoptigreément.

2.9 “Crediting Date” means the date designated in the Adoption Agreefoestediting the amount of any Participant Dedé@redits ti
the Deferred Compensation Account of a Particip@ntployer Credits may be credited to the Deferreth@ensation Account of a Participant
on any day that securities are traded on a natgewalrities exchange.
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2.10 “Deferred Compensation Account’means the account maintained with respect to eadfcipant under the Plan. The Deferred
Compensation Account shall be credited with Paréiot Deferral Credits and Employer Credits, creddedebited for deemed investment
gains or losses, and adjusted for payments in daoce with the rules and elections in effect urkmtion 8. The Deferred Compensation
Account of a Participant shall include any In-Seevor Education Account of the Participant, if apgible.

2.11 “Disabled” means Disabled within the meaning of Section 408the Code and the regulations thereunder. Genethls means
that the Participant is unable to engage in angtsmiial gainful activity by reason of any medigaleterminable physical or mental impairrr
which can be expected to result in death or caexpected to last for a continuous period of nat tesn 12 months, or is, by reason of any
medically determinable physical or mental impairtehich can be expected to result in death or @expected to last for a continuous pe
of not less than 12 months, receiving income repfeent benefits for a period of not less than timeaths under an accident and health plan
covering Employees of the Employer.

2.12 “Education Account” is an In-Service Account which will be used by Beticipant for educational purposes.
2.13 “Effective Date” shall be the date designated in the Adoption Ageem

2.14 “Employee” means an individual in the Service of the Empldf/ére relationship between the individual and Bmaployer is the
legal relationship of employer and employee. Anivitial shall cease to be an Employee upon the Byegl's separation from Service.
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2.15 “Employer” means the Company, as identified in the Adoptione&gent, and any Participating Employer which asltigs Plan.
An Employer may be a corporation, a limited liljilcompany, a partnership or sole proprietorship.

2.16 “Employer Credits” means the amounts credited to the Participant'sibef Compensation Account by the Employer pursteant
the provisions of Section 4.2.

2.17 “Grandfathered Amounts” means, if applicable, the amounts that were defarneler the Plan and were earned and vested within
the meaning of Section 409A of the Code and reuiatthereunder as of December 31, 2004. Grand&dh&mounts shall be subject to the
terms designated in the Adoption Agreement.

2.18 “Independent Contractor” means an individual in the Service of the Empldfére relationship between the individual and the
Employer is not the legal relationship of emplogad employee. An individual shall cease to be dependent Contractor upon the
termination of the Independent Contractor’s Servie Independent Contractor shall include a direofadhe Employer who is not an
Employee.

2.19 “In-Service Account” means a separate account to be kept for eachipantichat has elected to take in-service distiing as
described in Section 5.4. The In-Service Accoualtldie adjusted in the same manner and at the 8araes the Deferred Compensation
Account under Section 8 and in accordance withrules and elections in effect under Section 8.
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2.20 “Normal Retirement Age” of a Participant means the age designated in tlopthah Agreement.

2.21 “Participant” means with respect to any Plan Year an Employdedapendent Contractor who has been designatelteby t
Committee as a Participant and who has entereBltreor who has a Deferred Compensation Accourguting Plan; provided that if the
Participant is an Employee, the individual musali@ghly compensated or management employee d&rif@oyer within the meaning of
Sections 201(2), 301(a)(3) and 401(a)(l) of ERISA.

2.22 “Participant Deferral Credits” means the amounts credited to the Participant'eed Compensation Account by the Employer
pursuant to the provisions of Section 4.1.

2.23 “Participating Employer” means any trade or business (whether or not incatgd) which adopts this Plan with the consenhef t
Company identified in the Adoption Agreement.

2.24 "Participation Agreement” means a written agreement entered into betweentigipant and the Employer pursuant to the
provisions of Section 4.1.

2.25 “Performance-Based Compensationineans compensation where the amount of, or engtiéno, the compensation is contingent
on the satisfaction of preestablished organizationadividual performance criteria relating tgparformance period of at least twelve months.
Organizational or individual performance criteria aonsidered preestablished if established inngrivithin 90 days after the commencement
of the period of service to which the criteria tefg provided that the outcome is substantiallyeaiain at the time the criteria are established.
Performance-based compensation may include payrbasé&l upon subjective performance criteria asigeedvin regulations and
administrative guidance promulgated under Sect@gdof the Code.
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2.26 “Plan” means The Executive Nonqualified Excess Plan, esrheet out and as set out in the Adoption Agregna as duly
amended. The name of the Plan as applied to thédyenshall be designated in the Adoption Agreement

2.27 “Plan-Approved Domestic Relations Order”shall mean a judgment, decree, or order (inclutiegapproval of a settlement
agreement) which is:

2.27.1 Issued pursuant to a State’s domestic oalsitaw;

2.27.2 Relates to the provision of child suppditnany payments or marital property rights to a &pm former Spouse, child or other
dependent of the Participant;

2.27.3 Creates or recognizes the right of a Spdasager Spouse, child or other dependent of th¢iddaant to receive all or a portion of
the Participant’s benefits under the Plan;

2.27.4 Requires payment to such person of thegrést in the Participant’s benefits in an immediatep payment; and
2.27.5 Meets such other requirements establishedeboommittee.

2.28 “Plan Year” means the twelve-month period ending on the lagbfithe month designated in the Adoption Agreempravided
that the initial Plan Year may have fewer than twehonths.

2.29 “Qualifying Distribution Event” means (i) the Separation from Service of the FApéetid, (ii) the date the Participant becomes
Disabled, (iii) the death of the Participant, (ki time specified by the Participant for an Inv&= or Education Distribution, (v) a Change in
Control Event, or (vi) an Unforeseeable Emergeregh to the extent provided in Section 5.
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2.30 “Seniority Date” shall have the meaning designated in the Adoptigreément.

2.31 “Separation from Service”or “Separates from Service"means a “separation from service” within the megmihSection 409A of
the Code.

2.32 “Service” means employment by the Employer as an Employeepiiposes of the Plan, the employment relationshipeated as
continuing intact while the Employee is on militdeave, sick leave, or other bona fide leave oeabs if the period of such leave does not
exceed six months, or if longer, so long as the lByge’s right to reemployment is provided eitherdbgtute or contract. If the Participant is an
Independent Contractor, “Service” shall mean th@opeduring which the contractual relationship éxisetween the Employer and the
Participant. The contractual relationship is noii@ated if the Participant anticipates a renewahe contract or becomes an Employee.

2.33 “Service Bonus"means any bonus paid to a Participant by the Eneplafich is not Performance-Based Compensation.

2.34 “Specified Employee’means an employee who meets the requirements yagrkployee treatment under Section 416(i)(1)(A)(i),
(i) or (iii) of the Code (applied in accordancethwthe regulations thereunder and without regatgieiction 416(i)(5) of the Code) at any time
during the twelve month period ending on Decemleof3each year (the “identification date”). Unldssding corporate action is taken to
establish different rules for determining Specifiemployees for all plans of the Company and itsrled group members that are subject to
Section 409A of the Code, the foregoing rules dmdather default rules under the regulations ofi8e@09A of the Code shall apply. If the
person is a key employee as of any identificatiate dthe person is treated as a Specified Emplimydbe twelve-month period beginning on
the first day of the fourth month following the m#ication date.



2.35 “Spouse”or “Surviving Spouse” means, except as otherwise provided in the Plaerson who is the legally married spouse or
surviving spouse of a Participant.

2.36 “Unforeseeable Emergencytmeans an “unforeseeable emergency” within the nngaaii Section 409A of the Code.

2.37 “Years of Service’means each Plan Year of Service completed by theipant. For vesting purposes. Years of Servitalde
calculated from the date designated in the Adoptigreement and Service shall be based on servitetihé@ Company and all Participating
Employers.

Section 3.Participation:

The Committee in its discretion shall designatehdamployee or Independent Contractor who is elggtblparticipate in the Plan. A
Participant who separates from Service with the IBggy and who later returns to Service will notareActive Participant under the Plan
except upon satisfaction of such terms and conditas the Committee shall establish upon the Raatits return to Service, whether or not
the Participant shall have a balance remainingénDeferred Compensation Account under the Plath@date of the return to Service.

Section 4.Credits to Deferred Compensation Account:

4.1 Participant Deferral Credits. To the extent provided in the Adoption AgreemeatheActive Participant may elect, by entering into
a Participation Agreement with the Employer, toetd¢he receipt of Compensation from the Employea lopllar
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amount or percentage specified in the Participafigreement. The amount of Compensation the Paatitiplects to defer, the Participant
Deferral Credit, shall be credited by the Employethe Deferred Compensation Account maintainediferParticipant pursuant to Section 8.
The following special provisions shall apply witspect to the Participant Deferral Credits of di€ipant:

4.1.1 The Employer shall credit to the Participameferred Compensation Account on each Creditiage @n amount equal to the total
Participant Deferral Credit for the period endinmgsuch Crediting Date.

4.1.2 An election pursuant to this Section 4.1|dm@imade by the Participant by executing and ddlig a Participation Agreement to-
Committee. Except as otherwise provided in thigiBee.1, the Participation Agreement shall becafiiective with respect to such Particip
as of the first day of January following the datetsParticipation Agreement is received by the Cdtem A Participant’s election may be
changed at any time prior to the last permissille dor making the election as permitted in thist®a 4.1, and shall thereafter be irrevocable.
The election of a Participant shall continue ireefffor subsequent years until modified by theiBigent as permitted in this Section 4.1.

4.1.3 A Participant may execute and deliver a Bigdtion Agreement to the Committee within 30 dafter the date the Participant first
becomes eligible to participate in the Plan to fiecéive as of the first payroll period next follavg the date the Participation Agreement is
fully executed. Whether a Participant is treatedesly eligible for participation under this Sectishall be determined in accordance with
Section 409A of the Code and the regulations thetey including (i) rules that treat all electivefelral account balance plans as one plan, anc
(i) rules that treat a previously eligible empleyas newly eligible if his benefits had been prasig distributed or if he has been ineligible for
24 months. For Compensation that is earned basad aigpecified performance period (for examplearamual bonus), where a deferral
election is made under this Section but after #girining of the performance period, the electiolh avily apply to the portion of the
Compensation equal to the total amount of the Caorsgution for the service period multiplied by theaaf the number of days remaining in
the performance period after the election ovettolted number of days in the performance period.

4.1.4 A Participant may unilaterally modify a Peifiettion Agreement (either to terminate, increasdezrease the portion of his future
Compensation which is subject to deferral withie gfercentage limits set forth in Section 4.1 ofAldeption Agreement) by providing a
written modification of the Participation Agreeméotthe Committee. The modification shall beconfeaive as of the first day of January
following the date such written modification is edced by the Committee.
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4.1.5 If the Participant performed services cordirsly from the later of the beginning of the penfance period or the date upon which
the performance criteria are established throughdtite upon which the Participant makes an irdedérral election, a Participation Agreement
relating to the deferral of Performance-Based Corsgton may be executed and delivered to the Caeenito later than the date which is 6
months prior to the end of the performance pefgodyided that in no event may an election to dBfenformanceBased Compensation be m
after such Compensation has become readily astabiai

4.1.6 If the Employer has a fiscal year other tthencalendar year, Compensation relating to Seiwitiee fiscal year of the Employer
(such as a bonus based on the fiscal year of th@dyer), of which no amount is paid or payable dgrihe fiscal year, may be deferred at the
Participant’s election if the election to defemade not later than the close of the Employertsafigear next preceding the first fiscal year in
which the Participant performs any services foralitsuch Compensation is payable.

4.1.7 Compensation payable after the last dayeoPtrticipant’s taxable year solely for servicesvjated during the final payroll period
containing the last day of the Participant’s taraj@ar (i.e., December 31) is treated for purpo$ésis Section 4.1 as Compensation for
services performed in the subsequent taxable year.

4.1.8 The Committee may from time to time estabgislicies or rules consistent with the requiremerfitSection 409A of the Code to
govern the manner in which Participant Deferraldiizemay be made

4.1.9 If a Participant becomes Disabled or apgbesnd is eligible for a distribution on accoufitam Unforeseeable Emergency during a
Plan Year, his deferral election for such Plan Ysall be cancelled.

4.2 Employer Credits.If designated by the Employer in the Adoption Agneat, the Employer shall cause the Committee tditcte the
Deferred Compensation Account of each Active Pigiitt an Employer Credit as determined in accordavith the Adoption Agreement. A
Participant must make distribution elections wigspect to any Employer Credits credited to his BeéeCompensation Account by the
deadline that would apply under Section 4.1 fotrifigtion elections with respect to Participant €eél Credits credited at the same time, on a
Participation Agreement that is timely executed delivered to the Committee pursuant to Section 4.1
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4.3 Deferred Compensation AccountAll Participant Deferral Credits and Employer Ctsdihall be credited to the Deferred
Compensation Account of the Participant as providesection 8.

Section 5.Qualifying Distribution Events:

5.1 Separation from Servicelf the Participant Separates from Service withEngployer, the vested balance in the Deferred
Compensation Account shall be paid to the Partitipg the Employer as provided in Section 7. Ndiatanding the foregoing, no distribution
shall be made earlier than six months after the dbBeparation from Service (or, if earlier, tlaedof death) with respect to a Participant who
as of the date of Separation from Service is aiBpdd&Employee of a corporation the stock in whistraded on an established securities
market or otherwise. Any payments to which suchc8ieel Employee would be entitled during the fisst months following the date of
Separation from Service shall be accumulated aitigrathe first day of the seventh month followihg date of Separation from Service.

5.2 Disability. If the Employer designates in the Adoption Agreetrieat distributions are permitted under the Pldmema Participant
becomes Disabled, and the Participant becomes Bisathile in Service, the vested balance in theerel Compensation Account shall be
paid to the Participant by the Employer as provigke8ection 7.
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5.3 Death.If the Participant dies while in Service, the Eny@pshall pay a benefit to the Participant’s Betiafi in the amount
designated in the Adoption Agreement. Payment ofi §ienefit shall be made by the Employer as pravideSection 7.

5.4 In-Service or Education Distributions.If the Employer designates in the Adoption Agreetribat in-service or education
distributions are permitted under the Plan, a Bigeint may designate in the Participation Agreenbehiave a specified amount credited to the
Participant’s In-Service or Education Account forsiervice or education distributions at the datcgjed by the Participant. In no event may
an inservice or education distribution of an amount lzelenbefore the date that is two years after tiseday of the year in which such amo
was credited to the I8ervice or Education Account. Notwithstanding thee§oing, if a Participant incurs a Qualifying Distition Event priol
to the date on which the entire balance in thedns8e or Education Account has been distributeeln the balance in the In-Service or
Education Account on the date of the QualifyingtBlisition Event shall be paid as provided underti&ac7.1 for payments on such Qualifyi
Distribution Event.

5.5 Change in Control Eventlf the Employer designates in the Adoption Agreetrieat distributions are permitted under the Plparu
the occurrence of a Change in Control Event, thiédfzant may designate in the Participation Agreetrto have the vested balance in the
Deferred Compensation Account paid to the Partigipgon a Change in Control Event by the Emploggpravided in Section 7.
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5.6 Unforeseeable Emergencyf the Employer designates in the Adoption Agreetribat distributions are permitted under the Plan
upon the occurrence of an Unforeseeable Emergerayt,ea distribution from the Deferred Compensatd@aount may be made to a
Participant in the event of an Unforeseeable Enmargesubject to the following provisions:

5.6.1 A Participant may, at any time prior to hep8ration from Service for any reason, make apjicao the Committee to receive a
distribution in a lump sum of all or a portion bktvested balance in the Deferred Compensationuktddetermined as of the date the
distribution, if any, is made under this Sectiod)%ecause of an Unforeseeable Emergency. A disioilb because of an Unforeseeable
Emergency shall not exceed the amount requiredtisfyg the Unforeseeable Emergency plus amountsssacy to pay taxes reasonably
anticipated as a result of such distribution, af&ing into account the extent to which the Un$eeable Emergency may be relieved through
reimbursement or compensation by insurance orwikeror by liquidation of the Participastassets (to the extent the liquidation of suchkts
would not itself cause severe financial hardshifyostopping current deferrals under the Planyamsto Section 4. 1.9.

5.6.2 The Participants request for a distributioraocount of Unforeseeable Emergency must be nmageting to the Committee. The
request must specify the nature of the financiadi$taip, the total amount requested to be distribériem the Deferred Compensation Account,
and the total amount of the actual expense incwréd be incurred on account of the UnforeseeBhiergency.

5.6.3 If a distribution under this Section 5.6 jpeoved by the Committee, such distribution willrbade as soon as practicable following
the date it is approved. The processing of theesigshall be completed as soon as practicablettierdate on which the Committee receives
the properly completed written request for a disttion on account of an Unforeseeable EmergengyPlérticipant’s Separation from Service
occurs after a request is approved in accordanitethis Section 5.6.3, but prior to distributiontbé full amount approved, the approval of the
request shall be automatically null and void arellibnefits which the Participant is entitled tosiee under the Plan shall be distributed in
accordance with the applicable distribution prawisi of the Plan.

5.6.4 The Committee may from time to time adoptitioithl policies or rules consistent with the reguients of Section 409A of the
Code to govern the manner in which such distrimgimay be made so that the Plan may be convenizthynistered.
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Section 6.Vesting:

A Participant shall be fully vested in the portiminhis Deferred Compensation Account attributabl@articipant Deferral Credits, and all
income, gains and losses attributable thereto. fidzant shall become fully vested in the portmfrhis Deferred Compensation Account
attributable to Employer Credits, and income, gaind losses attributable thereto, in accordande té vesting schedule and provisions
designated by the Employer in the Adoption Agreetmiém Participant’s Deferred Compensation Accagntot fully vested upon Separation
from Service, the portion of the Deferred Compensafccount that is not fully vested shall therenpe forfeited.

Section 7.Distribution Rules:

7.1 Payment OptionsThe Employer shall designate in the Adoption Agreetrthe payment options which may be elected by the
Participant (lump sum, annual installments, or mlsimation of both). Different payment options mayrbhade available for each Qualifying
Distribution Event, and different payment optionaynibe available for different types of Separatifsom Service, all as designated in the
Adoption Agreement. The Participant shall eledhi@ Participation Agreement the method under wiiiehvested balance in the Deferred
Compensation Account will be distributed from amaing designated payment options. The Participagtahauch time elect a different
method of payment for each Qualifying Distributiéwent as specified in the Adoption Agreement. & Barticipant is permitted by the
Employer in the Adoption Agreement to elect differpayment options and does not make a valid electhe vested balance in the Deferred
Compensation Account will be distributed as a lusom.
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, if certain Qualifgiistribution Events occur prior to the date orichhthe vested balance of a
Participant’s Deferred Compensation Account is cletety paid pursuant to this Section 7.1 followthg occurrence of certain initial
Qualifying Distribution Events, the following rulegpply:

7.1.1 If the initial Qualifying Distribution Everig a Separation from Service or Disability, and Bzeticipant subsequently dies, the
remaining unpaid vested balance of a Participdd¢ferred Compensation Account shall be paid asng lsum.

7.1.2 If the initial Qualifying Distribution Ever$ a Change in Control Event, and any subsequealif@ing Distribution Event occurs
(except an In-Service or Education Distributionatésed in Section 2.29(iv)), the remaining unpagdted balance of a Participant’s Deferred
Compensation Account shall be paid as provided u8detion 7.1 for payments on such subsequent QingiDistribution Event.

7.2 Timing of PaymentsPayment shall be made in the manner elected bidhécipant and shall commence as soon as praldiefter
(but no later than 60 days after) the distributiate elected for the Qualifying Distribution Evelmtthe event the Participant fails to make a
valid election of the payment method, the distiimuvill be made in a single lump sum payment amsas practicable after (but no later than
60 days after) the Qualifying Distribution EventpAyment may be further delayed to the extent gerchin accordance with regulations and
guidance under Section 409A of the Code.

7.3 Installment Paymentslf the Participant elects to receive installmengrpants upon a Qualifying Distribution Event, theypent of
each annual installment shall be made on the arsaivgeof the date of the first installment paymamigl the amount of the annual installment
shall be adjusted on such anniversary for creditebits to the Participant’s account pursuantdcti®n 8 of the Plan. Such adjustment shall be
made by dividing the balance in the Deferred Corsptan Account on such date by the number of aninstdliments remaining to be paid
hereunder; provided that the last annual instaltrder under the Plan shall be the entire amouniteéto the Participarg’account on the d¢
of payment.
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7.4 De Minimis Amounts.Notwithstanding any payment election made by thetidtgant, if the Employer designates a pietermined d
minimis amount in the Adoption Agreement, the vedialance in the Deferred Compensation Accourtt@Participant will be distributed in a
single lump sum payment if at the time of a pemxditQualifying Distribution Event the vested baladoes not exceed such pre-determined de
minimis amount; provided, however, that such distiion will be made only where the Qualifying Dibtrtion Event is a Separation from
Service, death, Disability (if applicable) or Charig Control Event (if applicable). Such paymerdlshe made on or before the later of (i)
December 31 of the calendar year in which the @uadj Distribution Event occurs, or (ii) the dateat is 2-1/ 2 months after the Qualifying
Distribution Event occurs. In addition, the Employeay distribute a Participant’s vested balancangttime if the balance does not exceed the
limit in Section 402(g)(1)(B) of the Code and resuh the termination of the Participant’s entiméerest in the Plan as provided under
Section 409A of the Code.

7.5 Subsequent ElectionaWith the consent of the Committee, a Participany mhelay or change the method of payment of the iDede
Compensation Account subject to the following regpnents:
7.5.1 The new election may not take effect untieast 12 months after the date on which the newatieh is made.

7.5.2 If the new election relates to a paymengaf@ualifying Distribution Event other than the deaf the Participant, the Participant
becoming Disabled, or an Unforeseeable Emergeheynéw election must provide for the deferral ef payment for a period of at least five
years from the date such payment would otherwise baen made
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7.5.3 If the new election relates to a payment ftbenln-Service or Education Account, the new éecinust be made at least 12 months
prior to the date of the first scheduled paymemtfisuch account.

For purposes of this Section 7.5 and Section 7p@&yanent is each separately identified amount tichvtihe Participant is entitled under the
Plan; provided, that entitlement to a series ofaliment payments is treated as the entitiemeatgimgle payment.

7.6 Acceleration Prohibited.The acceleration of the time or schedule of anyrpayt due under the Plan is prohibited except asessly
provided in regulations and administrative guidapmamulgated under Section 409A of the Code (sscécaelerations for domestic relations
orders and employment taxes). It is not an acciberaf the time or schedule of payment if the Eoyelr waives or accelerates the vesting
requirements applicable to a benefit under the.Plan

Section 8. Accounts; Deemed Investment; Adjustments Account:

8.1 Accounts.The Committee shall establish a book reserve adceutitled the “Deferred Compensation Account,”b@half of each
Participant. The Committee shall also establisinaBervice or Education Account as a part of théelred Compensation Account of each
Participant, if applicable. The amount creditedht® Deferred Compensation Account shall be adjustesuant to the provisions of Section

8.2 Deemed Investmentslhe Deferred Compensation Account of a Particighall be credited with an investment return deteedias
if the account were invested in one or more investiniunds made available by the Committee. Thadfaant shall elect the investment funds
in which his Deferred Compensation Account shaltlbemed to be invested. Such election shall be nattie manner prescribed by the
Committee and shall take effect upon the entrhefRarticipant into the Plan. The investment

17



election of the Participant shall remain in effentil a new election is made by the Participanthie event the Participant fails for any reasc
make an effective election of the investment retarhe credited to his account, the investmentneshall be determined by the Committee.

8.3 Adjustments to Deferred Compensation AccountVith respect to each Participant who has a Defdd@tipensation Account unt
the Plan, the amount credited to such account bealdjusted by the following debits and creditshe times and in the order stated:

8.3.1 The Deferred Compensation Account shall étei@ each business day with the total amount gfamyments made from such
account since the last preceding business dayrtwhfor his benefit.

8.3.2 The Deferred Compensation Account shall bditgd on each Crediting Date with the total amairany Participant Deferral
Credits and Employer Credits to such account dsinedast preceding Crediting Date.

8.3.3 The Deferred Compensation Account shall bditrd or debited on each day securities are tradetdnational stock exchange with
the amount of deemed investment gain or loss iaguitom the performance of the investment fundsteld by the Participant in accordance
with Section 8.2. The amount of such deemed investmain or loss shall be determined by the Coresiéind such determination shall be
final and conclusive upon all concerned.

Section 9. Administration by Committee:

9.1 Membership of Committeelf the Committee consists of individuals appointgdthe Board, they will serve at the pleasure ef th
Board. Any member of the Committee may resign, Eisduccessor, if any, shall be appointed by tharéo

9.2 General Administration. The Committee shall be responsible for the opemadintd administration of the Plan and for carryingits
provisions. The Committee shall have the full adtijand discretion to make, amend, interpret, anfibrce all

18



appropriate rules and regulations for the admiaitn of this Plan and decide or resolve any ahduastions, including interpretations of this
Plan, as may arise in connection with this Plary suinch action taken by the Committee shall be famal conclusive on any party. To the ex
the Committee has been granted discretionary atghorder the Plan, the Committee’s prior exercfsuch authority shall not obligate it to
exercise its authority in a like fashion thereafigre Committee shall be entitled to rely conclesiupon all tables, valuations, certificates,
opinions and reports furnished by any actuary, aetant, controller, counsel or other person emplayeengaged by the Employer with
respect to the Plan. The Committee may, from tiontimte, employ agents and delegate to such agantsding employees of the Employer,
such administrative or other duties as it sees fit.

9.3 Indemnification. To the extent not covered by insurance, the Emplsigeall indemnify the Committee, each employeeceff
director, and agent of the Employer, and all pesdormerly serving in such capacities, againstamy all liabilities or expenses, including all
legal fees relating thereto, arising in connectidti the exercise of their duties and responsibegitvith respect to the Plan, provided however
that the Employer shall not indemnify any persanliftbilities or expenses due to that person’s gwoess negligence or willful misconduct

Section 10. Contractual Liability:

10.1 Contractual Liability. Unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreemitset,Company shall be obligated to make all payment
hereunder. This obligation shall constitute a caettral liability of the Company to the Participaraad such payments shall be made from the
general funds of the Company. The Company shalbastquired to establish or maintain any special o
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separate fund, or otherwise to segregate assasstwe that such payments shall be made, and ttieigzants shall not have any interest in any
particular assets of the Company by reason ofalig@tions hereunder. To the extent that any pessguires a right to receive payment from
the Company, such right shall be no greater thamigfint of an unsecured creditor of the Company.

10.2 Trust. The Employer may establish a trust to assistib@eting its obligations under the Plan. Any suakttshall conform to the
requirements of a grantor trust under Revenue Boes 92-64 and 92-65 and at all times during thicuance of the trust the principal and
income of the trust shall be subject to claimseriayal creditors of the Employer under federal state law. The establishment of such a trust
would not be intended to cause Participants tozeaurrent income on amounts contributed thewatd,the trust would be so interpreted and
administered.

Section 11. Allocation of Responsibilities:

The persons responsible for the Plan and the datidsesponsibilities allocated to each are asvd|

11.1 Board.

() Toamend the Plai

(i) To appoint and remove members of the Committee

(i) To terminate the Plan as permitted in Sectior

11.2 Committee.
(i) To designate Participant

(i) To interpret the provisions of the Plan andiiermine the rights of the Participants underRtlae, except to the extent otherwise
provided in Section 16 relating to claims proced

(i) To administer the Plan in accordance withtéems, except to the extent powers to adminisePian are specifically delegated to
another person or persons as provided in the
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(iv) To account for the amount credited to the Defe@ethpensation Account of a Participa
(v) To direct the Employer in the payment of bene

(vi) To file such reports as may be required with United States Department of Labor, the InteRealenue Service and any other
government agency to which reports may be requodst submitted from time to time; a

(vii) To administer the claims procedure to the exteoviged in Section 1€

Section 12. Benefits Not Assignable; Facility of Ranents:

12.1 Benefits Not AssignableNo portion of any benefit credited or paid undexr Bian with respect to any Participant shall bgesuitin
any manner to anticipation, alienation, sale, fiemsssignment, pledge, encumbrance or chargea@ndttempt so to anticipate, alienate, sell,
transfer, assign, pledge, encumber or charge the shall be void, nor shall any portion of suchdjge in any manner payable to any
assignee, receiver or any one trustee, or be Ifableis debts, contracts, liabilities, engagementorts. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the
event that all or any portion of the benefit ofatiRipant is transferred to the former SpouseéhefRarticipant incident to a divorce, the
Committee shall maintain such amount for the beéwéfihe former Spouse until distributed in the manrequired by an order of any court
having jurisdiction over the divorce, and the forrB@ouse shall be entitled to the same rightse®#rticipant with respect to such benefit.

12.2 Plan-Approved Domestic Relations OrdersThe Committee shall establish procedures for detengy whether an order directed to
the Plan is a Plan-Approved Domestic Relations ©Oifiehe Committee determines that an order isamApproved
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Domestic Relations Order, the Committee shall célusg@ayment of amounts pursuant to or segregséparate account as provided by (an
prevent any payment or act which might be incoasistvith) the Plan-Approved Domestic Relations @rde

12.3 Payments to Minors and Otherslf any individual entitled to receive a payment anthe Plan shall be physically, mentally or
legally incapable of receiving or acknowledgingeigt of such payment, the Committee, upon the ptadisatisfactory evidence of his
incapacity and satisfactory evidence that anotkesgn or institution is maintaining him and thatguardian or committee has been appointed
for him, may cause any payment otherwise payabhéniato be made to such person or institution smtaming him. Payment to such person
or institution shall be in full satisfaction of allaims by or through the Participant to the ext#rthe amount thereof.

Section 13. Beneficiary:

The Participant’s beneficiary shall be the pergmuisons, entity or entities designated by the &patint on the beneficiary designation
form provided by and filed with the Committee & designee. If the Participant does not designbatnaficiary, the beneficiary shall be his
Surviving Spouse. If the Participant does not deslig a beneficiary and has no Surviving Spouseyeheficiary shall be the Participant’s
estate. The designation of a beneficiary may begba or revoked only by filing a new beneficiansigmation form with the Committee or its
designee. If a beneficiary (the “primary benefigiquis receiving or is entitled to receive paymeatsler the Plan and dies before receiving all
of the payments due him, the balance to which leati¢led shall be paid to the contingent benefici& any, named in the Participant’s current
beneficiary designation form. If there is no cogént
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beneficiary, the balance shall be paid to the esifithe primary beneficiary. Any beneficiary magadaim all or any part of any benefit to
which such beneficiary shall be entitled hereurmefiling a written disclaimer with the Committeefore payment of such benefit is to be
made. Such a disclaimer shall be made in a forisfaatory to the Committee and shall be irrevocatithen filed. Any benefit disclaimed shall
be payable from the Plan in the same manner &g ti¢neficiary who filed the disclaimer had pre@dseel the Participant.

Section 14. Amendment and Termination of Plan:

The Company may amend any provision of the Plaeroninate the Plan at any time; provided, thatdrement shall such amendment or
termination reduce the balance in any Participed&ferred Compensation Account as of the date cfi stmendment or termination, nor shall
any such amendment affect the terms of the Platimglto the payment of such Deferred Compensamount. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the following special provisions shalpdy:

14.1 Termination in the Discretion of the EmployerExcept as otherwise provided in Sections 14.2Ci@pany in its discretion may
terminate the Plan and distribute benefits to Bigdints subject to the following requirements ang athers specified under Section 409A of
the Code:

14.1.1 All arrangements sponsored by the Empldyarwould be aggregated with the Plan under Setd09A-I(c) of the Treasury
Regulations are terminated.

14.1.2 No payments other than payments that woelldayable under the terms of the Plan if the teation had not occurred are made
within 12 months of the termination date.

14.1.3 All benefits under the Plan are paid wittdhmonths of the termination date.
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14.1.4 The Employer does not adopt a new arrangetinanwould be aggregated with the Plan underi@edt409A-I(c) of the Treasury
Regulations providing for the deferral of compeisaat any time within 3 years following the dafeermination of the Plan.

14.1.5 The termination does not occur proximate émwnturn in the financial health of the Employer.

14.2 Termination Upon Change in Control Eventlf the Company terminates the Plan within thirtysi@receding or twelve months
following a Change in Control Event, the Deferrezh@pensation Account of each Participant shall bechirity vested and payable to the
Participant in a lump sum within twelve months deling the date of termination, subject to the regmients of Section 409A of the Code.

Section 15. Communication to Participants:

The Employer shall make a copy of the Plan avadl&ti inspection by Participants and their benafieis during reasonable hours at the
principal office of the Employer.

Section 16. Claims Procedure:
The following claims procedure shall apply withpest to the Plan:

16.1 Filing of a Claim for Benefits.If a Participant or Beneficiary (the “claimant”)Ieves that he is entitled to benefits under trenPlI
which are not being paid to him or which are nahgeccrued for his benefit, he shall file a writidaim therefore with the Committee.

16.2 Noatification to Claimant of DecisionWithin 90 days after receipt of a claim by the Coittee (or within 180 days if special
circumstances require an extension of time), the@itee shall notify the claimant of the decisioithwegard to the claim. In the event of s
special circumstances requiring an extension of titinere shall be furnished to the claimant paogxpiration
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of the initial 90-day period written notice of tegtension, which notice shall set forth the spegi@umstances and the date by which the
decision shall be furnished. If such claim shalllf®lly or partially denied, notice thereof shadl im writing and worded in a manner calcule
to be understood by the claimant, and shall s¢tféi the specific reason or reasons for the aefjii) specific reference to pertinent provisii
of the Plan on which the denial is based; (iii)egatiption of any additional material or informatioecessary for the claimant to perfect the
claim and an explanation of why such material érimation is necessary; and (iv) an explanatiothefprocedure for review of the denial and
the time limits applicable to such procedures,udgig a statement of the claimant’s right to brngivil action under ERISA following an
adverse benefit determination on review. Notwithdiag the foregoing, if the claim relates to a Hibty determination, the Committee shall
notify the claimant of the decision within 45 dgyshich may be extended for an additional 30 daysduired by special circumstances).

16.3 Procedure for ReviewWithin 60 days following receipt by the claimantraftice denying his claim, in whole or in part, bisuch
notice shall not be given, within 60 days followitig latest date on which such notice could haen lienely given, the claimant may appeal
denial of the claim by filing a written applicatidor review with the Committee. Following such regtifor review, the Committee shall fully
and fairly review the decision denying the claimoPto the decision of the Committee, the claimsimll be given an opportunity to review
pertinent documents and to submit issues and comsnrewriting.
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16.4 Decision on ReviewT he decision on review of a claim denied in whaléngpart by the Committee shall be made in thiofeing
manner:

16.4.1 Within 60 days following receipt by the Coittee of the request for review (or within 120 d#yspecial circumstances require an
extension of time), the Committee shall notify tt@mant in writing of its decision with regardttee claim. In the event of such special
circumstances requiring an extension of time, emithotice of the extension shall be furnished ¢éodlaimant prior to the commencement of
extension. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if thail relates to a disability determination, the Cdttea shall notify the claimant of the
decision within 45 days (which may be extendedafordditional 45 days if required by special cirstances).

16.4.2 With respect to a claim that is denied imlstor in part, the decision on review shall settf@pecific reasons for the decision,
shall be written in a manner calculated to be ustded by the claimant, and shall set forth:
0] the specific reason or reasons for the adversendietation;
(i) specific reference to pertinent Plan provisionsmbich the adverse determination is bas

(i)  a statement that the claimant is entitleddoeive, upon request and free of charge, reaseiaabkss to, and copies of, all
documents, records, and other information relet@ifte claimar’'s claim for benefits; an

(iv)  a statement describing any voluntary appeatedures offered by the Plan and the claimantts tigyobtain the information
about such procedures, as well as a statemené aldimar’s right to bring an action under ERISA section 3z

16.4.3 The decision of the Committee shall be farad conclusive.

16.5 Action by Authorized Representative of Claiman All actions set forth in this Section 16 to be taks the claimant may likewise
be taken by a representative of the claimant dutiiaized by him to act in his behalf on such nratt&éhe Committee may require such
evidence as either may reasonably deem necessadyisable of the authority to act of any such espntative.
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Section 17. Miscellaneous Provisions:

17.1 Set off Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plame Employer may reduce the amount of any paymdetreise payable to
or on behalf of a Participant hereunder (net of @guired withholdings) at the time payment is byehe amount of any loan, cash advance,
extension of credit or other obligation of the Répant to the Employer that is then due and payadohd the Participant shall be deemed to
have consented to such reduction. In additionEtin@loyer may at any time offset a Participaribeferral Compensation Account by an am
up to $5,000 to collect any such amount in accardamith the requirements of Section 409A of the €od

17.2 NoticesEach Participant who is not in Service and eacheBeiary shall be responsible for furnishing then@oittee or its designe
with his current address for the mailing of notiessl benefit payments. Any notice required or ptedito be given to such Participant or
Beneficiary shall be deemed given if directed tohsaddress and mailed by regular United States firatl class, postage prepaid. If any check
mailed to such address is returned as undelivetalilee addressee, mailing of checks will be sudpérnuntil the Participant or Beneficiary
furnishes the proper address. This provision stalbe construed as requiring the mailing of anyceoor notification otherwise permitted to
given by posting or by other publication.

17.3 Lost Distributees A benefit shall be deemed forfeited if the Comnatig unable to locate the Participant or Benefjctarwhom
payment is due on or before the fifth anniversdrhe date payment is to be made or commence; ¢edyithat the deemed investment rate of
return pursuant to Section 8.2 shall cease to pkeabto the Participant’s account following thesfianniversary of such date; provided further,
however, that such benefit shall be reinstated/éilal claim is made by or on behalf of the Papidgit or Beneficiary for all or part of the
forfeited benefit.
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17.4 Reliance on DataThe Employer and the Committee shall have the tigitly on any data provided by the Participanibyany
Beneficiary. Representations of such data shallibging upon any party seeking to claim a benéfibigh a Participant, and the Employer
the Committee shall have no obligation to inquim®ithe accuracy of any representation made atiangyby a Participant or Beneficiary.

17.5 Receipt and Release for PaymentSubject to the provisions of Section 17.1, any paytmade from the Plan to or with respect to
any Participant or Beneficiary, or pursuant toscliimer by a Beneficiary, shall, to the extent¢lo be in full satisfaction of all claims
hereunder against the Plan and the Employer wiperet to the Plan. The recipient of any paymemhftioe Plan may be required by the
Committee, as a condition precedent to such payneekecute a receipt and release with respertthen such form as shall be acceptable to
the Committee.

17.6 HeadingsThe headings and subheadings of the Plan haveifisented for convenience of reference and are igrmred in any
construction of the provisions hereof.

17.7 Continuation of Employment.The establishment of the Plan shall not be condtaseconferring any legal or other rights upon any
Employee or any persons for continuation of emplegtnnor shall it interfere with the right of thenployer to discharge any Employee or to
deal with him without regard to the effect theraatler the Plan.
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17.8 Merger or Consolidation: Assumption of PlanNo Employer shall consolidate or merge into or veittother corporation or entity,
or transfer all or substantially all of its assetsnother corporation, partnership, trust or oth#ity (a “Successor Entity”) unless such
Successor Entity shall assume the rights, obligatand liabilities of the Employer under the Plad apon such assumption, the Successor
Entity shall become obligated to perform the teemd conditions of the Plan. Nothing herein shadhgsit the assumption of the obligations
and liabilities of the Employer under the Plan by &uccessor Entity.

17.9 Construction.The Employer shall designate in the Adoption Agreetithe state according to whose laws the provésadrihe Plan
shall be construed and enforced, except to thenettiat such laws are superseded by ERISA andpplécable requirements of the Code.

17.10 TaxesThe Employer or other payor may withhold a benadigment under the Plan or a Participant’s wagetyeoEmployer may
reduce a Participant’s Account balance, in ordenéet any federal, state, or local or employmenttighholding obligations with respect to
Plan benefits, as permitted under Section 409A®fQode. The Employer or other payor shall replam Payments and other Plan-related
information to the appropriate governmental agenagerequired under applicable laws.

Section 18. Transition Rules:
This Section 18 does not apply to plans newly distadd on or after January 1, 2009.

18.1 2005 Election TerminationNotwithstanding Section 4.1.4, at any time duri@@2, a Participant may terminate a Participation
Agreement, or modify a Participation Agreementeaduce the amount of Compensation subject to trerdéklection, so long as the
Compensation subject to the terminated or modfiadicipation Agreement is includible in the incoofehe Participant in 2005 or, if later, in
the taxable year in which the amounts are earndd/asted.
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18.2 2005 Deferral ElectionThe requirements of Section 4.1.2 relating to iménig of the Participation Agreement shall not apol any
deferral elections made on or before March 15, 2p0&vided that (a) the amounts to which the dafexlection relate have not been paid or
become payable at the time of the election, (bPtlae was in existence on or before December 314,2@) the election to defer compensation
is made in accordance with the terms of the Plan affect on December 31, 2005 (other than a requeént to make a deferral election after
March 15, 2005), and (d) the Plan is otherwise aigekrin accordance with the requirements of Sedi9A of the Code.

18.3 2005 Termination of Participation; Distribution. Notwithstanding anything in this Plan to the contrat any time during 2005, a
Participant may terminate his or her participaiiothe Plan and receive a distribution of his DefdrCompensation Account balance on
account of that termination, so long as the fulbamt of such distribution is includible in the Reigant’s income in 2005 or, if later, in the
taxable year of the Participant in which the amasietarned and vested.

18.4 Payment ElectionsNotwithstanding the provisions of Sections 7.1 &rdf the Plan, a Participant may elect on or keefor
December 31, 2008, the time or form of paymentodants subject to Section 409A of the Code provitiadl such election applies only to
amounts that would not otherwise be payable iryda of the election and does not cause an amouyp#idl in the year of the election that
would not otherwise be payable in such year.
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Exhibit 10(d)

A. O. SMITH CORPORATION
EXECUTIVE SUPPLEMENTAL PENSION PLAN

AS AMENDED AND RESTATED
EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2009

Section 1. Purpose

The purpose of this Plan is to provide a pensian glpplement for certain key executives of the @amy. This Plan, which was
originally effective January 1, 2001, applies otdyExecutives who are in active employment with@uenpany or an Affiliate on or after such
date.

This Plan is amended and restated effective Jariy&909, to comply with the final regulations pudgated under Section 409A of the
Internal Revenue Code.

Section 2. Definitions

(a) “ Affiliate " means each entity that, along with the Companoystitutes a controlled group of corporation orup® of businesses
under common control within the meaning of Codetias 414(b) and (c).

(b) “ Annuity Factor ” means the factor provided by an insurance complaatywould be applied to determine the single smmount
needed to purchase a commercial annuity that wallide an amount equal to the Monthly Benefit Amibun

(c) “ Applicable Interest Rate” means the rate determined by multiplying (i) tlhman Total Corporate Index rate for the close of
business immediately prior to the date of paymerreported irmrhe Wall Street Journdly (ii) one minus the aggregate of the highest imaifg
federal, state and local income tax rates appkctibthe Participant, based on the Participantiagmy residence at the time the benefit is being
determined.

(d) “ Average Monthly Earnings” means the monthly average of the Executive’s Bamnfor any of the five (5) Plan Years (of the mos
recent (10) Plan Years prior to Separation fronvise} in which the greatest Earnings were received.

(e) “ Beneficiary " means the beneficiary(ies) named by the Executivieceive death benefits under the split-dolfarihsurance policy
maintained on the Executive’s life and either owbgdhe Company or in which the Company has anédste

(f) “ Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as astkindm time to time.

(9) “ Company” means A. O. Smith Corporation.



(h) “ Committee ” means the Personnel and Compensation Committdeeddoard of Directors of the Company.

(i) “ Early Retirement Age” means earlier of: (i) the Executive’s attainmehtige 57 and ten (10) Years of Service: or (ié) date the
Executive attains thirty (30) Years of Service.

() “ Earnings ” shall mean the total of all wages, salaries, cassimns and bonuses paid to the Executive by thegaay or a
Participating Affiliate, including any deferred cpemsation or salary reduction amounts pursuanetdiéh 125 and 401(k) of the Internal
Revenue Code or any non-qualified deferred comgiemsarrangement, but excluding payments made uawfefong-term performance bonus
plan and with respect to any restricted stock units

(k) “ Executive” means an Executive of the Company or a Particigaffiliate with a position which is assigned @23 or above and
who is entitled to a deferred vested or retirentemtefit in the Pension Plan.

(1) “ Normal Retirement Age” means:
(1) age 65 for a Participant born before January 18;1
(2) age 66 for a Participant born on or after Januat®38 and prior to December 31, 1954;
(3) age 67 for a Participant born on or after Januafy955.

(m) “ Participating Affiliate " means an Affiliate which has been designatedeiisgoeligible to participate in the Plan by the Coittee.
(n) “ Pension Plan” means the A. O. Smith Retirement Plan for SathEenployees.

(o) “ Plan Year” means the calendar year.

(p) “ Separation from Service” means a “separation from service” within the megrof Section 409A of the Code.

(q) “ Special Early Retirement Age” means:
(1) age 62 for a Participant born before January 181
(2) age 63 for a Participant born on or after Januaty©B88 and prior to December 31, 1954;
(3) age 64 for a Participant born on or after Januafy955.

() “ Years of Service’ has the same meaning as years of “Vesting Sérvicger the Pension Plan.
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Section 3. Pension Plan Supplement

(a) Entitlement An Executive shall he entitled to receive a lusop payment (the “Single Sum Pension Plan Supplgjrfeom the
Company under this Plan if he terminates employmaitht the Company and its Affiliates on or aftengaletion of five (5) Years of Service.

(b) Normal Retirement or Special Early Retiremean&fit. If an Executive described in subsection (a) teatés employment from the
Company and its Affiliates on or after his Norma&tlRement Age, or on or after his Special Earlyifeetent Age and completion of ten
(10) Years of Service, then the amount of the Etteels Single Sum Pension Plan Supplement shatldtermined as follows:

(1)  First, calculate a monthly amount payable in alsitife annuity form (assuming benefits commenceigdiately on the da
of the Executiv’s termination of employment) equal

(A) 1.65% of the Executiv's Average Monthly Earnings multiplied by the numbgyears of Credited Service (as defit
in the Pension Plan), but not more than forty (/rs;

(B) minus the total monthly retirement benefit actuglyable to the Executive from the Pension Plaof #se Executiv’'s
date of termination of employment (the result,“Monthly Benefit Amour™);

(C) minus the federal, state and local income angdleyment taxes that would be owed by the Execudivéhe Monthly
Benefit Amount, calculated assuming the Executiagspgaxes at the highest marginal tax rates fariddstate and
local income tax purposes, based on the locatidgheoExecutive’s primary residence at the timeisftermination of
employment (the result, ti* After-Tax Monthly Benefit Amour”);

(2)  Second, multiply the After-Tax Monthly Benefimount by the Annuity Factor for an immediately aoencing annuity (the
result, the*Single Sum Amour”);

(3)  Third, determine an additional amount such thatnet amount retained by the Executive, aftgmeat of any federal, state
or local income tax or employment tax with resgedhe Single Sum Amount, and any federal, statelacal income tax or
employment tax upon the payment provided for by thuse, is equal to the Single Sum Amount (the$&Up Amount”).
For purposes of determining the Gi-Up Amount, the Company shall use -
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(4)
(5)

highest marginal rate of federal income and empkaytntaxation in the calendar year in which the Exige’s termination of
employment occurs and state and local income taixéee highest marginal rate of taxation in théestand locality of the
Executive’s primary residence on the date of Exgelg termination of employment, net of the maximeeduction in
federal income taxes that may be obtained frond#tuction of such state and local taxes in such:

Fourth, add the Single Sum Amount and the G-Up Amount to determine the Single Sum Pension Blgsplement; an

Fifth, the Single Sum Pension Plan Supplemagéaple to the Executive shall be reduced by thk sagender value
(determined as of the date immediately prior tonpagt under Subsection (e)) of any pre-retiremenilateral assignment,
split-dollar life insurance policies issued to teecutive under the A. O. Smith Corporation Exeaitiife Insurance Plan
prior to August 1, 200z

(c) Early Retirement Benefitlf an Executive described in subsection (a) taatés employment on or after his Early Retiremege Aat ¢

time when he is not eligible for the benefit desed in subsection (b), then the amount of the 8ifgim Pension Plan Supplement shall be
determined as follows:

1)

First, calculate a monthly amount payable gingle life annuity form (assuming benefits commeatthe Executive’s
Special Early Retirement Age) equal

(A) 1.65% of the Executiv's Average Monthly Earnings multiplied by the numbgyears of Credited Service (as defit
in the Pension Plan), but not more than forty (/jrs;

(B) minus the total monthly retirement benefit ety payable to the Executive from the Pension Riswof the Executive’
Special Early Retirement Age (the result, “Monthly Benefit Amour”);

(C) minus the federal, stale and local income angleyment taxes that would be owed by the Execudivéhe Monthly
Benefit Amount, calculated assuming the Executiagspgaxes at the highest marginal tax rates fariddstate and
local income tax purposes, based on the locatidheoExecutive’s primary residence at the timeisft@rmination of
employment (the result, ti* After-Tax Monthly Benefit Amour”);
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(@)
3)

(4)

(5)
(6)

Second, multiply the After-Tax Monthly Benefitnount by the Annuity Factor for an annuity thatrooences benefit
payments at the Execut’s Special Early Retirement Age (the result,” Single Sum Amour”);

Third, determine the present value of the &irfjllm Amount (assuming the Single Sum Amount ispleyat the
Executive’s Special Early Retirement Age) using Aipplicable Interest Rate, as of the Executivet®dd termination of
employment

Fourth, determine an additional amount suchtti@net amount retained by tBgecutive, after payment of any federal, s
or local income tax or employment tax with resgedhe Single Sum Amount, and any federal, statel@cal income tax or
employment tax upon the payment provided for by thuse, is equal to the Single Sum Amount (the$&Up Amount”).
For purposes of determining the Gross-Up Amou,Gbmpany shall use the highest marginal ratedsréd income and
employment taxation in the calendar year in whiwh Executive’s termination of employment occurs stade and local
income taxes at the highest marginal rate of tardti the state and locality of the Executive’syary residence on the date
of Executive’s termination of employment, net o thnaximum reduction in federal income taxes that beobtained from
the deduction of such state and local taxes in geah;

Fifth, add the Single Sum Amount and the G-Up Amount to determine the Single Sum Pension Blgpplement; an

Sixth, the Single Sum Pension Plan Supplemaydiple to the Executive shall be reduced by thk sasender value
(determined as of the date immediately prior tonpagt under Subsection (e)) of any pre-retiremesilateral assignment,
split-dollar life insurance policies issued to teecutive under the A. O. Smith Corporation Exeaitiife Insurance Plan
prior to August 1, 200z

(d) Other Termination Benefitlf an Executive described in subsection (a) taatés employment from the Company and its Affisate

prior to his Early Retirement Age, then the amaafrthe Single Sum Pension Plan Supplement shalebermined as follows:

1)

First, calculate a monthly amount payable gingle life annuity form (assuming benefits commeatthe Executive’s
Normal Retirement Age) equal t

(A) 1.65% of the Executiv's Average Monthly Earnings multiplied by the numbgyears of Credited Service (as defit
in the Pension Plan), but not more than forty (/3rs;
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(2)
3)

(4)

(B) minus the total monthly retirement benefit adly payable to the Executive from the Pension Rlswof the Executive’
Normal Retirement Age (the result, t‘Monthly Benefit Amour™);

(C) minus the federal, state and local income angdleyment taxes that would be owed by the Execudivéhe Monthly
Benefit Amount, calculated assuming the Executiagspgaxes at the highest marginal tax rates farfddstate and
local income tax purposes, based on the locatidheoExecutive’s primary residence at the timeisftrmination of
employment (the result, ti* After-Tax Monthly Benefit Amour”);

Second, multiply the After-Tax Monthly Benefimount by the Annuity Factor for an annuity thatrooences benefit
payments at the Execut’'s Normal Retirement Age (the result, “Single Sum Amour”);

Third, determine the present value of the Single unount (assuming the Single Sum Amount is payabtee
Executive’s Normal Retirement Age) using the Apalite Interest Rate, as of the date of the Execstteemination of
employment

Fourth, determine an additional amount such theahtt amount retained by the Executive, after paymkany federal, sta
or local income tax or employment tax with resgedhe Single Sum Amount, and any federal, statelacal income tax or
employment tax upon the payment provided for by thuse, is equal to the Single Sum Amount (the$&Up Amount”).
For purposes of determining the Gross-Up Amourt,Gbmpany shall use the highest marginal rated#réd income and
employment taxation in the calendar year in whigh Executive’s termination of employment occurs stade and local
income taxes at the highest marginal rate of tardti the state and locality of the Executive’syaiy residence on the date
of Executive’s termination of employment, net of tnaximum reduction in federal income taxes that beobtained from
the deduction of such state and local taxes in ygaah;
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(5)  Fifth, add the Single Sum Amount and the G-Up Amount to determine the Single Sum Pension Blapplement; an

(6)  Sixth, the Single Sum Pension Plan Supplemayalple to the Executive shall be reduced by thke sagender value
(determined as of the date immediately prior tonpagt under Subsection (e)) of any pre-retiremeasilateral assignment,
split-dollar life insurance policies issued to feecutive under the A. O. Smith Corporation Exaautiife Insurance Plan
prior to August 1, 200z

(e) Timing and Form of Paymenfhe Single Sum Pension Plan Supplement shalalibtp the Executive on the first day of the sekent
month following the month in which the Executiv&sparation from Service occurs. Payment shall lienra (i) cash; (i) by the transfer of
any endorsement split-dollar life insurance poficaa the Executive’s life (which shall be deemetidwe a value equal to the cash surrender
value that Executive is entitled to receive undmhspolicy on the date of transfer); (iii) the i@de of the Company’s premium interest in any
collateral assignment, split-dollar life insurameicies issued to the Executive under the A. Oitls@orporation Executive Life Insurance
Plan prior to August 1, 2002; or (iv) any combioatif (i), (ii) or (iii) as the Company determiniasits sole discretion.

(f) Death Benefit In no event shall a benefit be paid under this\Pl an Executive dies while in the employmenthaf Company. If the
Executive dies after Separation from Service amat po the date the Single Sum Pension Paymerdids the Company shall pay to the
Executive’s Beneficiary, as soon as practicablenoutater than ninety (90) days following the Extaeeis death, a single sum amount equal to
the Single Sum Pension Supplement reduced by tih denefits, if any, payable to Executive’s Betiafly under a split-dollar life insurance
policy on Executive’s life. In the event of the tleaf the Beneficiary prior to receipt of the dehtmefit described hereinabove, such death
benefit shall be paid to the Beneficiary’s estate.

Section 4. Unfunded Plan

The rights of the Executive or Beneficiary under Bian shall be solely those of an unsecured oredfithe Company. The Company
shall not be required to set aside any assetsresihect to the Plan and any assets actually hefdeb@€ompany with reference to the Plan shall
be the sole property of the Company. Neither theckive nor an Executive’s beneficiaries, heirgalegepresentatives, or assigns shall have
ownership rights of any nature with respect to asgets set aside for the Plan, unless and unliltdue as such assets are paid over and
transferred to the Executive or the Beneficiaryemtie terms of the Plan.

Section 5. NorAlienation of Benefits

Neither an Executive nor his Beneficiary shall htwe power to transfer, assign, anticipate or etiser encumber in advance the
payments provided in this Plan; nor shall any ad gayments, nor any assets or funds of the Compaayy Affiliate be subject to seizure for
the payment of any of the Executive’s or his Besiafy's judgments, alimony or separate maintenance oedhed or transferred by operal
of law in the event of the bankruptcy or insolvefyhe Executive or any Beneficiary.
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Section 6. Administration

The Committee shall have all such powers that neagdressary to carry out the provisions of the,Rtentuding without limitation, the
discretionary power and authority to delegate adstristive matters to other persons, to construeirtedpret the Plan, to adopt and revise
rules, regulations and forms relating to and cdesiswith the Plan’s terms, to select the actudaietors to be used, to make all other benefit
determinations, and to make any other determinatioich it deems necessary or advisable for theempintation and administration of the
Plan. Subject to the foregoing, all decisions aetiminations by the Committee shall be final, bigcand conclusive as to all parties,
including without limitation any Executive, any Bsfitiary and all other employees and persons, srddsitrary and capricious.

Section 7. Appeals Procedures

(a) If an Executive or Beneficiary believes hernsitted to a benefit hereunder that was not prodjdiee Executive or Beneficiary
(hereinafter referred to as the “claimant”) shidl & written claim for such benefit with the Contt@é no later than one year after the claimed
benefit would have initially been due and payalfléor any reason a claim for benefits under thisnHs denied by the Committee, the
Committee shall deliver to the claimant a writtesplanation setting forth the specific reasons far denial, pertinent references to the section
of the Plan on which the denial is based, a detsonipf such other data as may be pertinent t@khien review, and information on the
procedures to be followed by the claimant in obtajra review of his claim and his right to file i@itsuit pursuant to ERISA section 502, all
written in a manner calculated to be understoothbyclaimant. For this purpose, the claimant’sralahall be deemed filed when presented in
writing to the Committee, and the Committee’s erpléon shall be in writing delivered to the claimarithin ninety (90) days of the date the
claim is filed.

(b) The claimant shall have sixty (60) days followihis receipt of the denial of the claim to fildmthe Committee a written request for
review of the denial. For such review, the claimanhis representative may review pertinent docusmand submit written issues and
comments. The Committee shall decide the issuewaw and furnish the claimant with a copy of iesidion within sixty (60) days of receipt
of the claimant’s request for review of his claifine decision on review shall be final and bindind & writing and shall include specific
reasons for the decision, written in a manner dated to be understood by the claimant, as wedpbagific references to the pertinent
provisions of the Plan on which the decision isdoas statement that the claimant is entitled ¢eive copies of, or access to, pertinent
documents, and a statement that the claimantiigegintio bring an action under ERISA section 502 topy of the decision is not so furnished
to the claimant within such sixty (60) days, thaiml shall be deemed denied on review.

Section 8. Limitation of Rights Against the Company

Participation in this Plan, or any modificationgitof, or the payments of any benefits hereuntiat] sot be construed as giving to any
Executive any right to be retained in the servitthe Company or any Affiliate, limiting in any wale right of the
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Company or any Affiliate to terminate such Execeivemployment at any time, evidencing any agre¢meuanderstanding, express or
implied, that the Company or any Affiliate will etog such Executive in any particular position oaay particular rate of compensation ani
guaranteeing such Executive any right to receiweahner form or amount of remuneration from the @amy or any Affiliate.

Section 9. Construction

The Plan shall be construed, administered and geden all respects under and by the laws of thé&eSif Wisconsin, without reference
to conflict of law principles thereof. Wherever amgrds are used herein in the masculine, they sleationstrued as though they were used in
the feminine for all cases where they would so ymohd wherever any words are used herein in tigugr or the plural, they shall be
construed as though they were used in the plurddeosingular, as the case may be, in all casesavthey would so apply. The words “hereof”,
“herein” and “hereunder” and other similar composiiod the word “here” shall mean and refer to thisre document and not to any particular
paragraph.

Section 10. Amendment or Termination of the Plan

The Committee shall have the right to amend, modéyminate or discontinue the Plan at any time|; surch action shall be final, binding
and conclusive as to all parties, including anydttiee, any Beneficiary thereof and all other exe@s and persons. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, any such Committee action to terminatdiscontinue the Plan or to change the paymenuatsmr the time and manner of payn
thereof as then provided in the Plan shall notffextve and operative with respect to benefitsraed as of such date, unless and until written
consent thereto is obtained from each Executivectd#tl by such action or, if any such Executiveoistnen living, from the Beneficiary there
provided that no consent is needed of any Execuoti\geneficiary for any amendment to the Plan (idoilg amendments that affect the time
and manner of payment) that the Committee deenessacty or desirable for the Plan to comply withti8act09A of the Internal Revenue
Code.

(a) Upon termination of the Plan, the Committee mathorize the distribution of the Single Sum Pemd$tlan Supplement in a lump sum
(calculated in the same manner as described inoBe®tas if the Participant’s termination of empimnt occurred on the date of the Plan’s
termination), only in the circumstances permittgddmde Section 409A and the regulations promulgtiteceunder.

Section 11. Withholding

The Company shall have the right to deduct from genyment made hereunder, or from any other amaumtid Executive, the amount
necessary to satisfy the Company’s or Affiliatedseign, federal, state or local income tax withliragdobligations with respect to the accrual or
vesting of any amount, or the payment of any b¢neéreunder. In addition, if prior to the datepafyment of any amount hereunder, the
Federal Insurance Contributions Act (FICA) tax impd under Code Sections 3101, 3121(a) and 312),(wk2re applicable, becomes due,
the Participant’s Single Sum Pension Plan Suppléstead| be reduced by the amount needed to paRdntcipant’s portion of such tax, plus
an amount equal to the withholding taxes due ufetigral, state or local law
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resulting from the payment of such FICA tax, andadditional amount to pay the additional incomedagource on wages attributable to the
pyramiding of the Code Section 3401 wages and fdxeso greater than the aggregate of the FICAatagunt and the income tax withhold
related to such FICA tax amount.

Section 12. Relationship to Employment Agreements

Except as otherwise expressly provided hereinPtha does not affect the rights of the Executiveeirany employment or other
compensation agreement with the Company or anidtifilcovering an Executive.

Section 13. Successors and Assigns

The terms and conditions of the Plan, as amendedhagffect from time to time, shall be binding mpihe successors and assigns of the
Company, including without limitation any entitt@anwhich the Company may be merged or with whigh@ompany may be consolidated.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , this Plan has been executed by the Company s &fiday of December, 2008.
A. O. Smith Corporation

By: /s/ Mark A. Petrarc.
Mark A. Petrarcs
Senior Vice President of Human Resources and
Public Affairs
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ADDENDUM
SPECIAL RULES FOR CERTAIN PARTICIPANTS

From January 1, 2005 the Plan was operated in fgottdcompliance with Code Section 409A. Notwittmstang the provisions of the Pl
during such time period the following individuaceived a combination of a lump sum and an anffioity of payment

Robert J. O'Toole
Albert E. Medice
Charles J. Bishop
W. David Romoser
Ronald E. Massa

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Plan in effen January 1,2009. Michael J. Cole will receiiglienefit in the following manne

A. The portion of his accrued benefit based on &#%is annual incentive compensation in the cateuteof Earnings shall be paid in
the form of a life annuity commencing as of hisreshent date except that the portion of the mondmguity payment accrued on or
after January 1, 2005 shall be subtracted fronfitsiesix monthly payments and paid to him in a pusum (without interest) with
his seventh month payment. Thereafter, the full tmgrannuity payment shall be made to him for Hetime.

B. The balance of Mr. Cole’s accrued benefit urttlerPlan shall be paid in a Single Sum Pension I8opmt calculated pursuant to
Section 3(b) of the Plan and paid to him as pravideSection 3(e)
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Exhibit 10(i)

Xe Smith

Innovation has a name.
February 25, 20(

Mr. Ajita G. Rajendra

President

A. O. Smith Water Products Company,
a division of A. O. Smith Corporation
500 Tennessee Waltz Pkwy

Ashland City, TN 37015-1299

Re: Amendment to Offer Lette

Dear Ajita:

This letter confirms our agreement to amend yoferdétter dated September 20, 2004 (“Offer Leftevith respect to your pension
supplement. To resolve an open issue dating bag&uodate of hire related to pension forfeitegair former company, the following repla
item 4, Pension Supplement, in your Offer Letter:

4.  Pension Supplement. With completion of 10 yearsepfice with A. C. Smith, you will be eligible for an $85,000/year pigment
paid as a straight life annuity commencing with iyatirement from A. O. Smitt

If you have any questions about this, please feel fo contact me.
Best Regards

/s/ Mark A. Petrarci

Mark A. Petrarc

Senior Vice Presidel

Human Resources and Public Affe




Exhibit 10(0)

(Xe Smith

A. O. SMITH CORPORATION
INCENTIVE COMPENSATION AWARD AGREEMENT
FOR 2008

THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into thi§"8ay of November, 2008 by and between A. O. Smittp@ation (hereinafter calle
the “Company”) andPaul W. Jones(hereinafter called “Executive”);

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Company has adogted® O. Smith Corporation Combined Incentive Congagion Plan, &
amended January 1, 2007, (hereinafter called tta"Pwhich is administered by the Personnel anch@ensation Committee of the Board of
Directors (hereinafter called the “Committee”);

WHEREAS, the Executive, upon the terms and conditions heseiriorth, will be a participant for the fiscalayeof the Company
commencing January 1, 2008, (hereinafter calledRten Year”)under the Plan, the terms and conditions of whialn Bre incorporated hert
by reference;

WHEREAS, this Agreement constitutes a separate contractasichprovided for in the Plan;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the payments herein provided, @ the covenants and agreements herein set thethparties
hereby mutually covenant and agree as follows:

l. Employment Executive agrees to remain in the employ of tbenany for the entire Plan Year, but it is underdtthat the Executive’s
employment may be terminated at any time by the gzom.



II.  Award. The Company, subject to the limitations of thaerRPkhall provide the Executive the following aubditl Stock Option Award for
2008 subject to the conditions set forth in thenF

A. Stock Optior

(i)

(i)
(iii)

(iv)
v)
(vi)

(vii)
(viii)

The Company grants the Executive a Non-Qualifitock Option to purchase from the Company aneagde amount of
41,100 Shares of the common stock of the Compartipazed and unissued or, at the discretion ofGbmpany, treasury
stock if available

The price to be paid for the Shares upon egerof this option shall be $32.01 per Share widdaual to the average of the
high and low sales price of the Shares on the Nevk Btock Exchange on the grant date of Novemb2068.

This option is exercisable as follow

a) 13,700 Shares become exercisable on November 8,

b) 13,700 Shares become exercisable on November B,

c) 13,700 Shares become exercisable on November %,

The right to exercise the option expires on Novenih018.

Except as provided below, this option may only kereised by the Executive while in the employ a&f @ompany

This option may be exercised only by written noseeved by the Executive upon the Secretary o€Ciimpany at its offic
at Milwaukee, Wisconsin, specifying the number b&fs in respect to which this option is being eised, accompanied |
payment for such Shares in such form as the Compeyydeem acceptable. Such Shares upon paymerg pfitchase
price shall be fully paid and n-assessablt

This option shall not be transferable by the Exigeudtherwise than by will or the laws of descemd distribution, and ma
be exercised, during the life of the Executive ydny the Executive

This option shall be subject to the following exseeahd shall be disposed of, or acted upon, in tener set forth belov

a) If the Executive ceases to be an employee of thragaay for any reason other than disability, reteamdeath, o
involuntary termination due to the sale of an opiegaunit, then this option shall termina

2



b) If the Executive ceases to be an employee o€thrapany by reason of disability or retirementnthigs option shall
terminate at the earlier of five (5) years from tlae of termination of employment or November®l.&

c) If the Executive ceases to be an employee o€trapany by reason of death or involuntary ternimadlue to the sale
of an operating unit, then this option shall teratéat the earlier of one (1) year from the datdeafth or involuntary
separation or November 5, 20:

(ix) Executive agrees on behalf of Executive, dralheirs, legatees, and legal representatives efive, with respect to all
Shares (or any Shares of the Company’s Common $euakd pursuant to a stock dividend or stock #diteon or any
securities issued in lieu thereof or in substitutis exchange therefor), that Executive, and thies hiegatees, and legal
representatives of Executive, will comply with sueltrictions as may be necessary to satisfy tip@inements of the
Securities Act of 193t

(x) Executive shall not be deemed for any purpésds a stockholder of the Company with respeeintpof the Shares except
to the extent that this option shall have beencised with respect thereto and a stock certificsteed therefol

(xiy  The existence of this option shall not affect iy aray the right or power of the Company or its &temders to make ¢
authorize any or all adjustments, recapitalizatioesrganizations or other changes in the Compargp#al structure or its
business, or any merger or consolidation of the @amg, or any issue of bonds, debentures, preferrgdor preference
stock of, or affecting the common stock of, the @amy or the rights thereof, or dissolution or Idption of the Company,
or any sale or transfer of all or part of its assetbusiness, or any other Corporate act or podegewhether of a similar
character or otherwis

Beneficiary. In accordance with the Plan, the Executive, bygleting and signing a “Designation of Beneficiagfiall have the right to
designate a beneficiary to receive any paymenhpffavard (deferred or otherwise) remaining unpdié:eecutive’s death, all in the
manner and to the extent set forth in this AgredniEme designation may be changed at any time lityewmotice delivered to the
Committee or its representative. If no DesignatbBeneficiary is made, any Award remaining unp&idyhole or in part, at the time of
death of the Executive, shall be paid to his legptesentative



VI.

VII.

Withholding . As to any payment of Shares or cash creditecinl pursuant to this agreement, the Committee raqyire that the
Executive or his personal representative, as the oy be, agree to any procedure necessary tteghatCompany to make adequate
income tax withholdings

Nonassignability. Neither Executive nor any of his beneficiariealshave any right or power to alienate, anticipatenmute, pledge
encumber or assign any right to receive any ametith hereafter may become or at any time be dueuneer, and no attempt to effect
any such alienation, anticipation, commutationdgks encumbrance or assignment will be recogntzedred or accepted by the
Company.

Forfeiture. So long as any portion of any Award (includingcamts deferred), remain unpaid or undistributed,Ekecutiv’s right to
receive such amount shall be forfeited if the Ex@euat any time during or after his employmenthwtite Company shall do any act, or
engage directly or indirectly (whether as ownerfper, officer, employee or otherwise) in the opieraor management of any business
which, in the judgment of the Company, is detrinaét or in competition with the Company or anyitefsubsidiaries or affiliate:

Defined Terms. The terms used in this Agreement shall have dahgesmeaning as the terms defined in the |

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this instrument to be es@tytits duly authorized officer, and the Execaitias

hereunto affixed his hand and seal, the day andfireabove written.

A. O. SMITH CORPORATION

By: /s/ Mark A. Petrarca
Senior Vice Presider
Human Resources and Public Affs

By /s/ Paul W. Jones
Executive




Exhibit 21
SUBSIDIARIES
The following lists all subsidiaries and affiliateSA. O. Smith Corporation.

Jurisdiction in Which

Name of Subsidial Incorporatec
AOS Holding Compan' Delaware

A. O. Smith International Corporatic Delaware
Flame Guard Water Heaters, |i Delaware
American Water Heater Compa Nevads

State Industries, In Tennesse

A. O. Smith Holdings (Barbados) SF Barbados
Winston Park Insurance Company L Barbados

A. O. Smith Enterprises Lt Canade

A. O. Smith (China) Investment Co., L! China

A. O. Smith (China) Water Heater Co., L China

A. O. Smith Electrical Products (Changzhou) Cod. China

A. O. Smith Electrical Products (Shenzhen) Co., China

A. O. Smith Electrical Products (Suzhou) Co., China

A. O. Smith Electrical Products (Yueyang) Co L China

Nanjing Fagor A. O. Smith Gas Appliance Co., | China

A. O. Smith I’eau chaude S.a.r France

A. O. Smith Warmwass-Systemtechnik Gmbl Germany

A. O. Smith Electrical Products Limited Liabilityothpany Hungary

A. O. Smith India Water Heating Private Limit India

A. O. Smith Electric Motors (Ireland) Lt Ireland

A. O. Smith Holdings (Ireland) Ltc Ireland

IG-Mex, S. de R.L.de C.\ Mexico
Motores Electricos de Juarez, S. de R.L. de | Mexico
Motores Electricos de Monterrey, S. de R.L. de ( Mexico
Productos de Agua, S.de R.L. de C Mexico
Productos Electricos Aplicados, S. de R.L. de ( Mexico

A.O. Smith Electrical Products B. The Netherland
A.O. Smith Holdings B.V The Netherland
A.O. Smith Holdings Il B.V The Netherland
A.O. Smith International Holdings B.\ The Netherland
A.O. Smith Products v.o. The Netherland
A.O. Smith Water Products Company B The Netherland
A. O. Smith Electrical Products (S.E.A.) Pte L Singapore

A. O. Smith FZE United Arab Emirate

A. O. Smith Electrical Products Limite United Kingdom



Exhibit 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRegistration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 33-3783&6827, 333-05799, 333-92329, 333-
92428 and 333-144950) pertaining to the A. O. S@ihporation 1990 Longerm Executive Incentive Compensation Plan,

A. O. Smith Corporation Lond@erm Executive Incentive Compensation Plan, theDASmith Combined Executive Incentive Compensi
Plan and the A. O. Smith Combined Incentive Comagois Plan and in the related prospectuses of guorts dated January 30, 2009, 1
respect to the consolidated financial statememdssahedule of A. O. Smith Corporation, and theaifeness of internal control over finani
reporting of A. O. Smith Corporation, included st Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year endead@&maber 31, 2008.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
February 23, 2009



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, Paul W. Jones, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of A. O. Smith Corporatior

Based on my knowledge, this report does not coraainuntrue statement of a material fact or omitaie a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts. under which such statements were made, ntgadisg with respect to the per
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsathdr financial information included in this repofairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operst and cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtf@ periods presented in this rep

The registrars other certifying officer and | are responsible &stablishing and maintaining disclosure contantsl procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange Act Rt
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedurds tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr; or caused such internal control over finahiggorting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurangardang the reliability of financial reporting antle preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and presémtidsis report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls amteuiures, as of the end of the period covered lsyrdport based on st
evaluation; ant

d) Disclosed in this report any changes in the regir’s internal control over financial reporting thatored during the registré s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registranburth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbrg that has materially affected, o
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’ s internal control over financial reporting; e

The registrang other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxh on our most recent evaluation of internal @dniver financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacoimmittee of the registrast’board of directors (or persons performing theiveden:
function):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal controéwofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refmahcial information; ant

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invavmanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrarst’
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 25, 2009

/s/ Paul W. Jones

Paul W. Jones
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, Terry M. Murphy, certify that;

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of A. O. Smith Corporatior

Based on my knowledge, this report does not coraainuntrue statement of a material fact or omitaie a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts. under which such statements were made, ntgadisg with respect to the per
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsathdr financial information included in this repofairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operst and cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtf@ periods presented in this rep

The registrars other certifying officer and | are responsible &stablishing and maintaining disclosure contantsl procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange Act Rt
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and procedurds tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepa

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr; or caused such internal control over finahiggorting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurangardang the reliability of financial reporting antle preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and presémtidsis report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls amteuiures, as of the end of the period covered lsyrdport based on st
evaluation; ant

d) Disclosed in this report any changes in the regir’s internal control over financial reporting thatored during the registré s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registranburth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbrg that has materially affected, o
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’ s internal control over financial reporting; e

The registrang other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxh on our most recent evaluation of internal @dniver financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacoimmittee of the registrast’board of directors (or persons performing theiveden:
function):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal controéwofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refmahcial information; ant

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invavmanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrarst’
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 25, 2009

/sl Terry M. Murphy

Terry M. Murphy
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office



Exhibit 32

Written Statement of the Chief Executive Officeddhe
Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sattl 350

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarba®atey Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, eachhef undersigned certifies that to the best o
knowledge:

(1) the Annual Report on Form -K of A. O. Smith Corporation for the year ended Baber 31, 2008 (th*Repor”) fully complies with th:
requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(dhef$ecurities Exchange Act of 1934; :

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly grets, in all material respects, the financial cbodiand results of operations of A.
Smith Corporation

Date: February 25, 2009

/s/ Paul W. Jones
Paul W. Jones
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Terry M. Murphy
Terry M. Murphy
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi




